STARS

University of Central Florida
STARS

Electronic Theses and Dissertations, 2004-2019

2015

Temperament and Child Maltreatment: A Closer Look at the Interactions Among Mother and Child Temperament, Stress and Coping, Emotional and Behavioral Regulation, and Child Maltreatment Potential

Amanda Lowell University of Central Florida

Part of the Clinical Psychology Commons Find similar works at: https://stars.library.ucf.edu/etd University of Central Florida Libraries http://library.ucf.edu

This Masters Thesis (Open Access) is brought to you for free and open access by STARS. It has been accepted for inclusion in Electronic Theses and Dissertations, 2004-2019 by an authorized administrator of STARS. For more information, please contact STARS@ucf.edu.

STARS Citation

Lowell, Amanda, "Temperament and Child Maltreatment: A Closer Look at the Interactions Among Mother and Child Temperament, Stress and Coping, Emotional and Behavioral Regulation, and Child Maltreatment Potential" (2015). *Electronic Theses and Dissertations, 2004-2019.* 1279. https://stars.library.ucf.edu/etd/1279



TEMPERAMENT AND CHILD MALTREATMENT: A CLOSER LOOK AT THE INTERACTIONS AMONG MOTHER AND CHILD TEMPERAMENT, STRESS AND COPING, EMOTIONAL AND BEHAVIORAL REGULATION, AND CHILD MALTREATMENT POTENTIAL

by

AMANDA LOWELL

B.S. University of Central Florida, 2011

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science in the Department of Psychology in the College of Sciences at the University of Central Florida Orlando, Florida

Spring Term 2015

ABSTRACT

Several theoretical risk models were proposed previously regarding the prediction of child maltreatment. Although child maltreatment was predicted individually in these models by such variables as parent temperament, emotional and behavioral regulation, stress, coping, and child temperament, these variables were not yet examined collectively. As such, a new transactional theory was proposed for the current study. As part of this study, a national community sample of 158 culturally diverse mothers of young children who were between the ages of $1\frac{1}{2}$ - to 5-years rated their own temperament, emotional and behavioral regulation abilities, parenting stress, daily hassles, and coping behaviors as well as their young children's temperament. Correlational analyses demonstrated many significant relationships among the variables of interest. In addition, hierarchical regression analyses suggested that several parent (i.e., mother mood quality, mother flexibility/rigidity, emotion dysregulation, parenting stress, cumulated severity of stress, and emotion-focused coping) and child characteristics (i.e., young child mood quality) added unique incremental variance to the prediction of child maltreatment potential. Finally, mediation analyses indicated that mothers' emotion dysregulation mediated the relationship between mothers' flexibility/rigidity and child maltreatment potential. Overall, this study contributed information regarding the importance of emotion dysregulation as a mechanism through which difficult mother temperament may be related to increased child maltreatment potential. Accordingly, these findings suggested that emotion regulation skills may serve as a potential point of intervention for mothers who are at increased risk for child maltreatment due to difficult temperament characteristics.

ii

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF FIGURES
LIST OF TABLES
CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION 1
Major Theories About Child Maltreatment
Characteristics of Child Maltreatment
Maltreatment Statistics
Maltreatment by Different Perpetrators
Child-Perpetrator Relationship Characteristics
Child Characteristics
Child Temperament
Parent Characteristics
Temperament and Personality17
Emotion and Behavior Regulation
Stress
Coping
The Present Study
CHAPTER TWO: METHODOLOGY
Participants
Procedure
Measures
CHAPTER THREE: RESULTS
Descriptive Information

Preliminary Analyses
Correlations
Hierarchical Regression Analyses
Mediation Analyses
CHAPTER FOUR: DISCUSSION
APPENDIX A: EXPLANATION OF RESEARCH FORM 80
APPENDIX B: POST PARTICIPATION INFORMATION
APPENDIX C: DEMOGRAPHICS QUESTIONNAIRE
APPENDIX D: DIMENSIONS OF TEMPERAMENT SCALE-REVISED FOR ADULTS
(DOTS-R ADULT)
APPENDIX E: EMOTION REGULATION QUESTIONNAIRE (ERQ)
APPENDIX F: DIFFICULTIES IN EMOTION REGULATION SCALE (DERS)
APPENDIX G: PARENTING STRESS INDEX- FOURTH EDITION- SHORT FORM (PSI-4-
SF)102
APPENDIX H: HASSLES SCALE (HS)
APPENDIX I: WAYS OF COPING QUESTIONNAIRE (WOC)
APPENDIX J: DIMENSIONS OF TEMPERAMENT- REVISED FOR CHILDREN (DOTS-R
CHILD)
APPENDIX K: CHILD ABUSE POTENTIAL INVENTORY (CAP) 125
APPENDIX L: IRB APPROVAL LETTER
REFERENCES

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Proposed Overall Model	37
Figure 2. Mothers' Emotion and Behavior Regulation Mediating the Relationship Between	
Mothers' Temperament and Child Maltreatment Potential	. 39

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Participant Demographic Information	71
Table 2. Descriptive Statistics for Variables of Interest	73
Table 3. Correlations Among Mother and Young Child Temperament, Emotion and Behavior	
Regulation, Stress and Coping, and Child Maltreatment Potential	74
Table 4. Hierarchical Regression Analyses Predicting Child Maltreatment Potential	77
Table 5. Mediational Regression Analyses for Child Maltreatment Potential	79

CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION

Over the past several decades, many theoretical risk models emerged in an attempt to predict child maltreatment potential. Not surprisingly, research suggested that child maltreatment could not be predicted by any single factor or variable (MacKenzie, Kotch, & Lee, 2011). Instead, child maltreatment was better predicted by a multitude of risk factors and from a number of pathways. Nonetheless, two major types of theories (i.e., cumulative risk theories and transactional theories) gained prominence in this research literature. With regard to both of these types of theories, many factors were studied. For example, previous research indicated that children with emotional and behavioral difficulties (Sullivan & Knutson, 2000; Turner, Vanderminden, Finkelhor, Hamby, & Shattuck, 2011) were more likely to experience maltreatment than their typically developing peers. Similarly, children with difficult temperaments were exposed to more maltreatment, although far less research examined this risk factor (Casanueva, Goldman-Fraser, Ringeisen, Lederman, Katz, & Osofsky, 2010). Characteristics related to parents' difficult temperaments (Latzman, Elkovitch, & Clark, 2009; Stith, Liu, Davies, Boykin, Alder, Harris, Som, McPherson, & Dees, 2009) and emotion regulation abilities (Frodi & Lamb, 1980) also predicted child maltreatment potential. Finally, high levels of parenting stress, environmental stress (e.g., Black, Heyman, & Slep, 2001), and poor coping (Rodriguez, 2010) all demonstrated relationships with child maltreatment potential.

Despite documentation of these relationships in the context of the aforementioned theories, variables such as these were not examined collectively, suggesting the need for the further development and examination of a comprehensive model that could foster prediction of

child maltreatment potential. As a result, the current study aimed to identify those parent and child variables that collectively could provide optimal prediction of child maltreatment potential.

Major Theories About Child Maltreatment

As already noted, there were two major types of theories that were accepted widely as good predictors of child maltreatment potential. Essentially, the cumulative risk theory of child maltreatment held that the potential for child maltreatment grew as individuals experienced increasing numbers of risk factors. In other words, this type of model was concerned with the total number of risk factors that were present in a family, rather than the interactions among the specific factors or the severity of the risk factors. Begle, Dumas, and Hanson (2010) suggested that the cumulative risk theory held greater predictive value than transactional theories (e.g., Belsky's developmental ecological theory of child maltreatment; to be described later) for child maltreatment potential. Nonetheless, transactional theories still were accepted widely and consequently were important to consider.

Stemming from Bronfenbrenner's (1977, 1979) ecological theory of human development, several researchers described transactional or developmental ecological theories of child maltreatment. For example, Sameroff and Fiese (2000) suggested that child maltreatment resulted from interactions among parent characteristics, child characteristics, family functioning, and environmental stressors. Cicchetti and Rizley (1981) described how environmental variables, caregiver variables, and child variables acted upon each other reciprocally, and they emphasized how transactions among these risk factors may best predict child maltreatment. In addition, Belsky (1980, 1993) proposed that the etiology of child maltreatment was transactional and resulted from different levels of risk. In particular, Belsky (1993) described this transactional nature in the developmental ecological theory of child maltreatment, which suggested that child

maltreatment was predicted by the developmental context (i.e., parent characteristics and child characteristics), the immediate interactional context (i.e., parenting behavior, the parent-child relationship), and the broader context (i.e., environmental characteristics of the community and culture). The developmental ecological theory of child maltreatment also encompassed "a pathological syndrome of family interaction" (Green, Gaines, & Sandgrund, 1974, p. 882), which resulted in child maltreatment (Gaines, Sandgrund, Green, & Power, 1978).

Despite the wealth of research concerning the prediction of child maltreatment, there still was unexplained variance in the prediction of child maltreatment potential, suggesting that the existing predictive models were incomplete. The existing transactional theories needed to be enhanced so that child maltreatment potential could be predicted more accurately. For example, few mediators were examined in the relationships among parent characteristics, child characteristics, environmental characteristics, and child maltreatment. As such, this study sought to examine the interactions and transactions among child temperament, parent temperament, parent emotional and behavioral regulation, parenting and environment stress, and coping strategies in an effort to better predict child maltreatment potential in parents of young children.

Characteristics of Child Maltreatment

Maltreatment Statistics

In 2010, approximately 5.9 million children in the United States were referred to Child Protective Services (CPS) as victims of alleged maltreatment (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 2011). Of these referrals, CPS identified an estimated 695,000 children who were unique victims of some form of maltreatment (e.g., neglect, physical abuse, sexual abuse, psychological abuse). Although only a small percentage of children referred to CPS as victims of maltreatment allegations actually were indicated as victims of maltreatment, there were still large

numbers of children who were subjected to harsh parenting practices and who lived in families with high child maltreatment potential. For example, estimates of anonymous reports suggested that the actual prevalence of physical abuse could be more than five to eleven times higher than estimates provided by the government (Straus, Hamby, Finkelhor, Moore, & Runyan, 1998).

Nonetheless, based on available 2010 estimates, maltreatment was spread fairly evenly across the sexes, with boys accounting for 48.5% and girls accounting for 51.2% of victims. After neglect (which accounted for 78.3% of victims), physical abuse was the most common type of child maltreatment in 2010, accounting for 17.6% of victims. In fact, this trend was evident over the past several years (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 1997, 1998, 1999, 2000, 2001, 2002, 2003, 2004, 2005, 2006, 2007, 2008, 2009). Further, sexual abuse accounted for 9.2% of victims, and psychological maltreatment accounted for 8.1% of victims in 2010 (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 2011). Given these statistics, it was clear that rates of child maltreatment were higher than any health service provider would like to see.

Maltreatment by Different Perpetrators

Unfortunately, many children were maltreated by parent figures. In fact, 81.2% of child victims were maltreated by a parent figure in 2010 (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 2011). This trend was evident across several years, ranging from a low of 78.5% (in 2004) to a high of 87.3% (in 1999; U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 1999, 2000, 2001, 2002, 2003, 2004, 2005, 2006, 2007, 2008, 2009). More specifically, in 2010, 84.2% of these perpetrators were biological parents, 11.2% were an unknown parental type, 4.0% were stepparents, and 0.7% were adoptive parents. Further, of the 81.2% of children who were maltreated by a parent figure in 2010, 37.2% were maltreated by their mothers, 19.1% were maltreated by their fathers, 18.5% were maltreated by both parents, 5.6% were maltreated by

their mothers and another individual, and 0.9% were maltreated by their fathers and another individual (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 2011). In contrast, only 13% of maltreated children were victimized by someone other than a parent. Further, 6.1% of maltreated children were victimized by non-parent relatives, and 4.4% were victimized by the unmarried partners of their parents. Given these statistics, it was imperative to study the outcomes of children who were maltreated by their parents as well as the characteristics of parents who maltreated their children.

Recent statistics provided by the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services unfortunately did not include information regarding type of maltreatment by perpetrator. Thus, it was difficult to determine the rates of each type of maltreatment committed specifically by parents in the most recent years. Nonetheless, statistics from 2008 suggested that, when specifically examining parents, the most common form of maltreatment was neglect (65.8%), followed by physical abuse (9.4%), psychological abuse (3.9%), other forms of abuse (3.8%), sexual abuse (2.3%), and medical neglect (1.0%). In addition, multiple forms of abuse accounted for 13.7% of maltreatment committed by parents in 2008 (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 2008). Similarly, a large epidemiological study also suggested that most maltreated children actually experienced multiple forms of maltreatment (Sullivan & Knutson, 2000). Overall, parents committed similar rates of these specific types of maltreatment over the past several years (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 2003, 2004, 2007).

Previously, in 2000, professionals at the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services also examined the rates of each type of maltreatment by the parent who perpetrated the abuse. These statistics suggested that the most common form of maltreatment by mothers acting alone

was neglect (46.9%), followed by physical abuse (32.1%) and sexual abuse (3.9%). Conversely, the most common form of maltreatment by fathers acting alone was physical abuse (28.6%), followed by sexual abuse (21.5%) and neglect (12.1%). When considering both parents acting together, the most common form of maltreatment was neglect (21.9%), followed by physical abuse (13.5%) and sexual abuse (8.1%; U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 2000).

Additional research conducted at Vanderbilt University Medical Center and the Children's Hospital at Denver supported these statistics. This research suggested that "inflicted skeletal trauma" (i.e., physical abuse) was committed most commonly by biological fathers, with fathers being responsible for over 45% of the fractures in children who presented as suspected victims of maltreatment (Starling, Sirotnak, Heisler, & Barnes-Eley, 2007). This research also suggested that the second most common perpetrators of inflicted skeletal trauma were biological mothers, who were responsible for 17% of the fractures in these children. Further, these researchers indicated that males, particularly fathers, were more likely to abuse younger children, thus supporting statistics (described in detail later in this literature review) that young children (i.e., between birth and 3-years of age) were the most commonly abused group of children. Overall, statistics spanning several years suggested that parents were the most common perpetrators of child maltreatment, with neglect and physical abuse being the most common maltreatment.

Child-Perpetrator Relationship Characteristics

When examining child maltreatment, the relationship between the victim and the perpetrator generally was important. Prior research demonstrated that children were most likely to be maltreated by immediate family members (Sullivan & Knutson, 2000). In addition, previous studies indicated that children who were abused by their familial relatives were more

likely than children who were abused by non-relatives to experience difficulties (although much of this research focused on the outcomes of adults who were abused sexually during their childhood by relatives versus non-relatives). For example, Ullman (2007) demonstrated that childhood sexual abuse committed by family members was more severe, began at a younger age, and lasted longer than childhood sexual abuse committed by a non-family member. Consistently, individuals who were abused sexually by family members exhibited greater posttraumatic stress symptomatology in adulthood (Ullman, 2007). Another study examining posttraumatic stress symptomatology in individuals who were abused by family members versus non-family members showed that avoidance coping (e.g., evasion, self-destructive strategies) predicted significantly more posttraumatic stress symptomatology (relative to approach coping, which did not predict such symptomatology). In addition, for individuals who were abused sexually by a family member, the relationship between coping strategies and posttraumatic stress symptomatology was stronger than for individuals who were abused sexually by a non-family member (Cantón-Cortés & Cantón, 2010). Unfortunately, little research was conducted on the outcomes of children who experienced other forms of maltreatment (e.g., physical abuse, physical neglect, emotional abuse, emotional neglect) by relatives versus non-relatives.

Nonetheless, Bornstein, Kaplan, and Perry (2007) conducted a unique study examining lay perceptions of child maltreatment (including both sexual and physical abuse). They indicated that, when provided with vignettes describing different abuse scenarios, adults perceived sexual abuse of a child by a parent to be more traumatic and severe than sexual abuse of a child by a babysitter. Conversely, perceptions of trauma and severity of physical abuse did not appear to differ between parents and babysitters (Bornstein et al., 2007). Consistently, research demonstrated that children who were maltreated by their parents exhibited a variety of emotional

and behavioral difficulties in both the short-term (e.g., Jonson-Reid, Kohl, & Drake, 2012; Kim & Cicchetti, 2010; Maikovich, Jaffee, Odgers, & Gallop, 2008) and the long-term (e.g., Mullen, Martin, Anderson, Romans, & Herbison, 1996; Springer, Sheridan, Kuo, & Carnes, 2007).

Child Characteristics

With regard to child characteristics, the most commonly maltreated age group in the United States typically consisted of very young children. In 2010, approximately 34.0% of child victims were between the ages of birth and 3-years (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 2011). More specifically, infants from birth to 1-year of age experienced a victimization rate of 20.6 per 1,000 children. Further, victimization rates for young children ranged between 20.6 (in 2009) and 24.4 (in 2006) per 1,000 children in the national population across several years (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 2006, 2007, 2008, 2009, 2011). In comparison, the victimization rate for the entire child population (i.e., children of all ages) in 2010 was 9.2 unique victims per 1,000 children in the population. In previous years, the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services divided age groups differently. Between 1995 and 2005, their statistics showed that children from birth to 3-years of age comprised the most commonly maltreated age group, with victimization rates ranging from 13.9 (in 1999) to 16.5 (in 2005) per 1,000 children in this age group in the national population (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 1999, 2000, 2001, 2002, 2003, 2004, 2005).

Providing support for the argument that young children were the most commonly maltreated age group, Starling and colleagues (2007) reported a noticeable increase in "inflicted skeletal trauma" (i.e., physical abuse) in children who were approximately 2-years of age. These researchers suggested that this increase in physical abuse in young children could be attributed to their newfound mobility and possible "toddler negativism" (i.e., persistent refusal to comply with

requests or commands), both of which could incite abusive parenting behaviors (Starling et al., 2007, p. 998). Other possible explanations for this age group's increased rates of maltreatment included the extensive amount of time that these children spent with their parents, their physical and psychological dependence on parents to meet their basic needs (Belsky, 1993; Palacio-Quitin, 2005), and their difficulties in regulating their emotions (Belsky, 1993). Clearly, very young children were particularly vulnerable to maltreatment experiences for a variety of reasons, and additional research involving this age group was warranted.

Children with disabilities, particularly emotional and behavioral problems, also were at heightened risk for experiencing maltreatment relative to their typically developing peers (Kendall-Tackett, Lyon, Taliaferro, & Little, 2005; Stith et al., 2009; Sullivan & Knutson, 2000; Turner et al., 2011). In fact, children with disabilities represented 15.8% of the total estimate of maltreated children in 2010 (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 2011). Of these maltreated children with disabilities, children with behavior problems represented 3.9%, children with emotional disturbances represented 3.2%, children with learning disabilities represented 1.5%, and children with mental retardation represented 0.6% of maltreatment cases. In comparison, children with medical conditions represented 5.2%, children with physical disabilities represented 0.8%, and children with visual or hearing impairments represented 0.6% (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 2011).

Interestingly, a large epidemiological study suggested that, compared to non-disabled children, significantly more children with disabilities experienced multiple forms and multiple episodes (rather than a single episode) of maltreatment (Sullivan & Knutson, 2000). Also worth noting (and of particular interest to the current study), these authors indicated that children with disabilities (including behavior problems) were more likely to experience maltreatment at

younger ages than typically developing children. Specifically, preschool-aged children with disabilities experienced significantly more maltreatment than older children (Sullivan & Knutson, 2000).

Given these findings, it was imperative to examine how children's emotional and behavioral problems could be related to an increased risk for experiencing maltreatment. Clearly, many studies demonstrated that children's emotional and behavioral problems were related to their risk for maltreatment (Black et al., 2001; Stith et al., 2009; Sullivan & Knutson, 2000; Turner et al., 2011). For example, compared to typically developing children, children with behavior problems were seven times more likely to experience many different forms of maltreatment (e.g., neglect, physical abuse, emotional abuse) and were over five times more likely to experience sexual abuse (Sullivan & Knutson, 2000). Of all the disabilities considered (e.g., deafness, speech/language impairments, mental retardation, learning disabilities, healthrelated disabilities, autism), behavior problems placed children at the highest likelihood of experiencing maltreatment.

Consistently, in a recent empirical study examining disability status and maltreatment in a national sample of children, children with internalizing problems had almost two times the odds of experiencing maltreatment within their family compared to typically developing children (Turner et al., 2011). Interestingly, this study did not reveal significantly higher odds of experiencing maltreatment for children with Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder symptomatology (i.e., one type of externalizing problem). Nonetheless, a recent meta-analysis suggested that there was a significant moderate effect size between children's externalizing problems and risk of child physical abuse but a significant small effect size between children's internalizing problems and risk for child physical abuse (Stith et al., 2009). Similarly, there was

a significant moderate effect size between children's externalizing problems and risk of child neglect but a significant small effect size between children's internalizing problems and risk of child neglect. Such discrepancies across studies could be remedied by considering the presentation of children's internalizing problems, particularly those of young children (i.e., irritability) as well as the difficulties that parents experienced in relating to and communicating with their children who were experiencing internalizing problems (Turner et al., 2011). Ultimately, though, it would be necessary to distinguish the specific types of childhood disabilities in maltreatment research because different types of disabilities were associated with different levels of risk (Kendall-Tackett et al., 2005; Turner et al., 2011).

As part of this line of research, it should be noted that, relative to non-maltreating parents, parents who maltreated their children were more likely to *perceive* their children as having more emotional and behavioral problems. For example, Mash, Johnston, and Kovitz (1983) suggested that mothers who were physically abusive reported significantly higher levels of both internalizing and externalizing problems for their children. Whipple and Webster-Stratton (1991) also demonstrated that abusive mothers (but not fathers) reported significantly higher levels of total problems on multiple measures for their children. Further, Wolfe and Mosk (1983) indicated that, compared to non-maltreating mothers, maltreating mothers reported significantly higher levels of anxious/obsessive, depressed/withdrawn, hyperactive, delinquent, and aggressive problems for their children. Overall, given the incidence of emotional and behavioral problems exhibited by maltreated children (Mash et al., 1983; Stith et al., 2009; Wolfe & Mosk, 1983) and given the prevalence of children with emotional and behavioral problems who were victimized (Kendall-Tackett et al., 2005; Turner et al., 2011; U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 2011), it was imperative to examine the individual

characteristics of these children, particularly characteristics that could be related to (or predispose them to) their specific emotional and behavioral problems.

Unfortunately, it was difficult to determine from these data the temporal sequence of children's emotional and behavioral problems and their experience of maltreatment (Belsky, 1993; Kendall-Tackett et al., 2005). As a result, it was beneficial to examine precursors for emotional and behavioral problems (e.g., temperament) in models that attempted to improve the prediction of child maltreatment. In fact, children's temperament, particularly the difficult constellation of temperament, predicted the experience of behavior problems (Thomas, Chess, & Birch, 1968). In addition, parents' perceptions of their children's temperament were related to parents' parenting behaviors, including maltreatment (Coplan, Reichel, & Rowan, 2009; Thomas & Chess, 1977), with this relationship being bidirectional in nature (Lee, Zhou, Eisenberg, & Wang, 2013). Thus, a discussion of temperament was needed in the context of the current study.

Child Temperament

Temperament was conceptualized broadly as an individual's innate pattern of selfregulation and reactivity. It was thought to be biological and present at birth, with an individual's temperament becoming evident at approximately 3- to 4-months of age (Chess & Thomas, 1996). Temperament may be synonymous with the term "behavioral style" (Chess & Thomas, 1996, p. 33; Thomas & Chess, 1977, p. 9), with behavioral style determining the *how* of an individual's behavior or the *way* in which an individual performs each behavior. Thus, an individual's temperament or behavioral style determined the *way* in which an individual behaved instead of *why* an individual performed a behavior or *how well* he or she did it. Essentially, two individuals could complete identical tasks and report similar reasons or motivations for performing them; however, these individuals could exhibit several differences in the *way* in

which they completed the task. These individual stylistic differences formed the basis for temperament.

In their New York Longitudinal Study (NYLS), Thomas, Chess, Birch, and Hertzig (1960) examined the role of children's individual differences in their development. In contrast to theories suggesting that infants' development was influenced solely by either nature or nurture, Thomas and Chess demonstrated systematically that infants were born with individual differences that interacted with the environment. It was this interaction that influenced either their healthy or unhealthy emotional and behavioral development (Chess & Thomas, 1996; Thomas et al., 1960). In fact, the NYLS identified nine basic individual differences or dimensions of temperament (Thomas & Chess, 1977).

These nine dimensions of temperament included the following. *Activity level* referred to the motor element of an individual's functioning and the proportion of an individual's day that was spent as active or inactive. *Rhythmicity* or *regularity* referred to the predictability (or lack thereof) in timing of an individual's functions (e.g., sleep-wake cycle, hunger/feeding pattern, or elimination pattern). *Approach or withdrawal* referred to the quality of an individual's responses to new stimuli (e.g., an unfamiliar person, food, or toy). Within this dimension, *approach* was characterized as positive, in that individuals who exhibited approach responses demonstrated positive mood expressions (e.g., smiling, laughing, verbalizations) and behaviors (e.g., engaging in play with a new person, swallowing an unfamiliar food). In contrast, *withdrawal* was characterized as negative, in that individuals who exhibited withdrawal responses demonstrated negative mood expressions (e.g., fussing, crying, grimacing) and behaviors (e.g., retreating from or pushing away an unfamiliar person, spitting out an unfamiliar food).

Adaptability referred to the ease with which an individual's initial response to new or altered situations was modified in a preferred direction. *Threshold of responsiveness* referred to the level of intensity of stimulation (whether it was sensory, environmental, or social) that was necessary to induce a response from an individual, regardless of the type of response or the sense that was stimulated. *Intensity of reaction* referred to the energy level of an individual's response to a given stimuli, regardless of the quality or direction of the response. *Quality of mood* referred to the degree to which an individual exhibited happy, pleasant, or friendly behavior as opposed to irritable, crying, unpleasant, or unfriendly behavior. *Distractibility* referred to the degree to which an individual's ongoing behavior was interfered with by extraneous environmental stimuli. *Attention span* referred to the length of time that an individual pursued a given activity, and *persistence* referred to the degree to which an individual of the direction of that activity (Chess & Thomas, 1996; Thomas & Chess, 1977).

Further, Thomas and Chess (1977) noted (via factor analysis and qualitative analysis of the NYLS data) that these nine dimensions of temperament aligned into three temperament constellations: *Easy*, *Difficult*, and *Slow-to-Warm-Up*. Overall, individuals classified as *Easy* were characterized as exhibiting regular patterns in biological functions (e.g., sleep, hunger, elimination), positive approach responses to novel stimuli, ease of adaptability to environmental change, and predominantly positive mood that was mild to moderate in intensity (Thomas & Chess, 1977). In general, easy children were considered to be pleasant by others around them, as they tended to smile at strangers, experienced little trouble accepting and obeying rules, fussed very little at frustration, adapted well to change, and accepted new foods easily. Thomas and

Chess (1977) reported that approximately 40 percent of their NYLS sample was comprised of easy children.

Individuals classified as *Slow-to-Warm-Up* were characterized as exhibiting mild but negative responses to novel stimuli and slow adaptability even after repeated exposure to such stimuli (Thomas & Chess, 1977). Nonetheless, these children typically began to show more positive quality of mood (still of mild intensity) and approached responses after many repeated exposures that occurred in an environment free of pressure to adapt (Thomas & Chess, 1977). Thomas and Chess (1977) reported that approximately 15 percent of their NYLS sample was comprised of slow-to-warm-up children.

Lastly, individuals classified as having *Difficult* temperaments exhibited irregular sleep, hunger, and elimination patterns, negative withdrawal responses to novel stimuli, slow (or lack of) adaptability to environmental change, and predominantly negative mood of high intensity (Thomas & Chess, 1977). In stark contrast to easy children, difficult children typically required much longer to adjust to unfamiliar situations, individuals, or routines. During this adjustment period of repeated exposure, difficult children often fussed, cried, or tantrumed loudly, highlighting their hallmark features of slow adaptability and intense, negative quality of mood. Thomas and Chess (1977) reported that approximately 10 percent of their NYLS sample was comprised of difficult children.

Not surprisingly, children who displayed more difficult patterns of temperament showed less favorable outcomes than children with easier temperaments (Rutter, Birch, Thomas, & Chess, 1964; Thomas & Chess, 1977; Thomas et al., 1968). In fact, certain facets of difficult temperament were highly predictive of psychopathology in both children and adults (Thomas et al., 1968). For example, Kagan, Snidman, Zentner, and Peterson (1999) indicated that children

who had been classified as "high reactive" (i.e., having difficult temperament) in infancy were more likely to exhibit symptoms of anxiety at 7-years of age. In addition, low adaptability and more withdrawal responses were related to depression and anxiety in children and adults, whereas low attention and high activity were related to externalizing problems and substance use (Merikangas, Swendsen, Preisig, & Chazan, 1998).

With regard to the prediction of child maltreatment, child temperament as implicated previously as playing a role (Belsky, 1980; Parke & Collmer, 1975). Unfortunately, very few studies examined the temperament characteristics of children who were maltreated, much less the role of young children's temperament in the prediction of maltreatment (Casanueva et al., 2010). Casanueva and colleagues (2010) reported, however, that mothers of young children (who ranged in age from birth to 23-months) who had been investigated for child maltreatment reported a substantially higher prevalence of difficult temperament (i.e., 36% higher) in their young children relative to those who had not been investigated for child maltreatment. Additionally, compared to children with easy temperament characteristics, very young children who were perceived by their mothers as having more difficult temperaments were more likely to experience emotional neglect (Harrington, Black, Starr, & Dubowitz, 1998). Research also suggested that parents were more likely to abuse their children with difficult temperaments if the parents exhibited low perceived control (Bugental, Blue, & Cruzcosa, 1989). Given that temperament may predispose children to both the experience of maltreatment and to the development of internalizing and externalizing problems, particularly in the context of poor parenting practices, it was thought that relationships among these variables likely would be of importance in the refined prediction of child maltreatment potential.

Parent Characteristics

In addition to child characteristics, parent characteristics (including parent temperament and parenting behaviors) were important variables to consider in the study of child maltreatment potential because of the bidirectional relationships that were noted between parents' and children's patterns of behavior. Thomas and Chess' (1996) concept of goodness of fit emphasized the importance of studying not only parents' influence on their children but also children's influence on their parents. More specifically, goodness of fit referred to the degree to which an individual's abilities, motivations, and behavioral style were in accord with his or her environmental demands (Chess & Thomas, 1996). Optimal positive development occurred when an individual's pattern of behavior existed in harmony with environmental expectations, demands, and opportunities. Nonetheless, difficulties (e.g., emotional and behavioral problems) could arise when an individual's behavioral style was discordant with his or her environment. Thomas and Chess (1996) suggested that, if there was "dissonance between the capacities and characteristics of the organism, on the one hand, and the environmental opportunities and demands, on the other hand, there is poorness of fit, which leads to maladaptive functioning and distorted development" (pp. 52-53).

Temperament and Personality

Given these findings, it was important to consider the parent-child relationship in the context of any model examining child maltreatment potential, especially when both parents and their children had difficult temperament characteristics. Essentially, if both the parent and child exhibited qualities of a difficult temperament (and, as a result, experience difficulties with negative reactivity and slow adaptability), parent-child interactions likely would be highly discordant, resulting in deleterious experiences for both the parent and the child. Such

deleterious experiences could result ultimately in child maltreatment. In fact, recent research suggested that, when both parent and child exhibited difficult temperament characteristics, mothers' difficult temperament was related to a lower likelihood of using positive parenting practices and to higher levels of parenting stress (Middleton & Renk, 2012). It appeared as though very little (if any) research examined the role that goodness of fit between parent and child temperament in the prediction of child maltreatment or maltreatment potential. Such a gap in the literature needed to be addressed.

Clearly, when examining goodness of fit, it also was necessary to study the parenting behaviors that contributed to parent-child interactions. Of particular interest in this study, Thomas and Chess (1977) suggested that parent temperament likely had a strong influence on parenting behaviors. Although temperament often was viewed as a childhood construct, with little research examining this construct in adults, temperament could be examined in later childhood, adolescence, and adulthood (Rothbart & Posner, 2006; Rothbart & Sheese, 2007). Based on previous research, temperament remained relatively stable over time (i.e., into adulthood), but its expression could differ depending on the organism-environment interaction (Thomas & Chess, 1977). Further, stability of temperament into adolescence (and likely into adulthood) was attributed primarily to genetic factors (Ganiban, Saudino, Ulbricht, Neiderhiser, & Reiss, 2008). Given that temperament had a genetic component (discussed below) and that parent temperament was thought to impact parenting behavior, this field of research needed to be expanded to include child maltreatment as a possible outcome of the interaction between parent temperament, child temperament, and other variables.

As already noted, there was much evidence suggesting that temperament had a genetic component (Braungart, Plomin, DeFries, & Fulker, 1992; Cyphers, Phillips, Fulker, & Mrazek,

1990; Goldsmith, Buss, & Lemery, 1997; Goldsmith, Lemery, Buss, & Campos, 1999; Oniszcenko et al., 2003; Saudino, McGuire, Reiss, Hetherington, & Plomin, 1995; Strelau, 2008; Zawadzki, Strelau, Oniszcenko, Riemann, & Angleitner, 2001). One large study of over 1500 individuals suggested that genetics accounted for approximately 50% of reported variance in temperament (Oniszcenko et al., 2003). Another study of over 1000 individuals indicated that genetic factors accounted for approximately 66% of self-reported and peer-reported variance in temperament (Zawadzki et al., 2001). In addition, twin studies demonstrated genetic effects for eight of the nine dimensions of temperament (i.e., approach/withdrawal, adaptability, threshold of responsiveness, intensity of reaction, quality of mood, persistence, distractibility and activity level; Cyphers et al., 1990). Specifically, the heritability estimates for these eight dimensions of temperament ranged from 0.44 to 0.65 according to Cyphers and colleagues (1990). These authors also suggested that the dimension of rhythmicity likely was not heritable because the items measuring this characteristic relied largely on the parents' report of activities (e.g., naps, bedtime, feeding) that were controlled by parents' own schedules and preferences, rather than children's actual biological timetable. Adoption studies yielded similar heritability estimates ranging from 0.35 to 0.57 (Braungart et al., 1992).

Given the findings regarding the heritability of temperament, it was expected that parent temperament and child temperament would be related. Nonetheless, further research was needed to examine how parent temperament might predict child temperament and how parent and child temperament might interact (i.e., in terms of goodness of fit) in the context of child maltreatment potential. Some previous research suggested that parent temperament was predictive of child maltreatment potential. Although parent temperament was not researched extensively, several specific dimensions of parents' temperament were studied as risk factors for child maltreatment.

For example, one meta-analysis identified a significant large effect size between parental anger/hyper-reactivity (which might be representative of the dimensions of *intensity of reaction* and *threshold of responsiveness* in temperament) and child physical abuse (Stith et al., 2009). In addition, mothers who reported higher levels of negative temperament/personality characteristics (i.e., mistrust, eccentric perceptions, aggression, manipulativeness, and self-harm) exhibited higher levels of corporal punishment and inconsistent discipline (Latzman et al., 2009). Higher levels of inconsistent discipline also were related to mothers' higher levels of self-reported disinhibition and impulsivity.

Unfortunately, much research concerning temperament in adulthood, in reality, measured personality constructs. Further, the terms "temperament" and "personality" often were used interchangeably in current research. Nonetheless, Rothbart (1989) suggested that temperament and personality were similar but that personality should be considered "a more inclusive term than temperament, in that personality includes cognitive structures such as self-concept, in addition to specific expectations and attitudes toward the self and others" (p. 220). Further, temperament and other factors (e.g., social cognition, cognitive self-regulative strategies, culture, SES, relationships with parents, relationships with siblings, relationships with peers) influenced and interacted with one another in order to shape individuals' personality (Marmor, 1983; Rothbart, 1989; Thomas & Chess, 1989). In fact, a genetic link was noted between temperament and the Big Five personality traits (i.e., extraversion, agreeableness, conscientiousness, neuroticism, and openness to experience; Costa & McCrae, 1992; Kandler et al., 2012; Rothbart, 2007). Specifically, temperament predicted the Big Five traits of extraversion, neuroticism, and conscientiousness (Rothbart, 2007). Given these considerations, temperament was deemed by many to be a measure of "pre-personality."

Given that temperament and personality were different but related constructs and given that personality "contribute[d] greatly to the experience and expression of temperament" (Rothbart, 1989, p. 220), personality also should be discussed in the context of child maltreatment potential. Nonetheless, most of the research regarding personality and child maltreatment examined the personality characteristics of individuals who were maltreated in childhood. Fewer studies investigated the personality factors that were exhibited by parents in conjunction with child maltreatment potential. Of these studies, many revealed that parents' personality disorders predicted child maltreatment (e.g., Fontaine & Nolin, 2012; Perepletchikova, Ansell, & Axelrod, 2012). Given that emotion regulation was a core feature of some of these personality disorders (e.g., Borderline Personality Disorder), it might be beneficial to also examine emotion regulation, a core component of many personality disorders and a construct that was related to temperament.

Emotion and Behavior Regulation

The concept of emotion regulation was tied closely to temperament, with many parallels between these two constructs (Rothbart & Sheese, 2007; Saarni, 2006). In fact, temperament could be conceptualized as a regulator of behavior (Strelau, 1983, 2008). As discussed previously, temperament had many implications for individuals' self-regulation, with emotion regulation being of particular interest to this study. Certain dimensions of temperament (i.e., intensity of reaction, threshold of responsiveness, approach/withdrawal, quality of mood, adaptability) clearly underlied the construct of emotion regulation, and some researchers even viewed emotion regulation as one component of temperament (Saarni, 2006). Essentially, however, temperament was a precursor in the development of individuals' emotion regulation capabilities and tendencies, although temperament could not describe or encompass entirely the

intricate construct of emotion regulation (Rothbart & Sheese, 2007; Saarni, 2006; Thompson, 1994). As a result, it might be beneficial to study temperament and emotion regulation collectively, especially in the context of child maltreatment potential.

There were many definitional inconsistencies within the emotion regulation literature, however (Bridges, Denham, & Ganiban, 2004; Gross & Thompson, 2007; Saarni, 2006; Thompson, 1994; Thompson, Lewis, & Calkins, 2008). Overall, there was agreement that emotion regulation involved the inhibition and dampening as well as the maintenance and enhancement of emotional arousal (Briges et al., 2004; Gross & Thompson, 2007; Rothbart & Sheese, 2007; Thompson, 1994). It should be noted that, as part of these processes, both positive and negative emotions were regulated, although individuals tended to report attempting to downregulate their negative emotions (e.g., sadness, anxiety, anger) more frequently than attempting to up-regulate positive emotions (e.g., pride, happiness; Gross, Richards, & John, 2006). Emotion regulation also determined the intensity, onset, duration, persistence, and lability of emotional experiences (Gross & Thompson, 2007; Rothbart & Sheese, 2007; Saarni, 2006; Thompson, 1994). Emotion regulation might be either conscious or unconscious and either automatic or controlled (Gross & Thompson, 2007).

Saarni (2006) stated simply that emotion regulation consisted of two components: how the individual modulated (i.e., via intensity or duration) his or her experience of emotional arousal as well as how the individual managed his or her external expression of the emotion being experienced. Saarni (2006) related emotion regulation to temperament by suggesting that individuals' approach/withdrawal tendencies served as a regulatory mechanism by increasing or decreasing the likelihood of experiencing various emotions in the face of a given emotionally arousing situation. Further, Saarni (2006) noted that, although they were similar constructs,

emotional reactivity was distinct from emotion regulation. For example, like emotion regulation, emotional reactivity was related to temperament. Emotional reactivity also was linked to individuals' "biological bias relative to the threshold for emotion elicitation" (i.e., threshold of responsiveness; Saarni, 2006, p. 246).

In contrast, Thompson (1994) suggested that emotion regulation was the result of the regulation of many distinct but interrelated processes. First, the regulation of neurophysiological and neurobiological phenomena, including excitatory and inhibitory mechanisms (i.e., the autonomic nervous system), was thought to comprise one component of emotion regulation (Thompson, 1994; Thompson et al., 2008). Given the biological nature of this component, however, some investigators related this process to emotional reactivity (Saarni, 2006). In any case, this component of emotion regulation likely tied to individuals' threshold of responsiveness and intensity of reaction (Saarni, 2006). In addition, attentional management played a role in emotion regulation via internal or external redirection of attention toward or away from emotionally arousing stimuli (i.e., "attentional deployment"; Gross & Thompson, 2007, p. 13; Rothbart & Sheese, 2007; Thompson, 1994). In other words, individuals could choose to shift their attention mentally in order to regulate emotion or to remove themselves physically from an emotionally arousing situation (or to approach a pleasant situation).

Clearly, what the individual paid attention to in any given situation had implications for the intensity, onset, duration, persistence, and lability of the emotions experienced. This component of emotion regulation was related theoretically to the approach/withdrawal (similar to Saarni's [2006] conceptualization), attention span/persistence, and distractibility dimensions of temperament. In particular, individuals altered their interpretations or attributions of emotionally arousing experiences in order to help regulate their emotions (i.e., "cognitive change" or

cognitive reappraisal; Gross & Thompson, 2007, pp. 13-14; Thompson, 1994). Individuals also altered their interpretations of their own psychophysiological reactions to emotionally arousing experiences as part of emotion regulation (Thompson, 1994). In addition, the selection and use of coping resources (particularly the use of interpersonal resources and social/emotional support) played a role in emotion regulation (Thompson, 1994).

Further, individuals could regulate their emotions externally by selecting or creating environments and relationships that had appropriate emotional demands with which they were comfortable and that fit their characteristics and capabilities (i.e., "situation selection" and "situation modification"; Gross & Thompson, 2007, pp. 11-13). Finally, emotion regulation also relied on individuals choosing carefully how to express their emotions or on selecting adaptive response alternatives that facilitated the achievement of their goals in the face of emotionally arousing situations (i.e., "response modulation" or expressive suppression; Gross & Thompson, 2007, p. 15; Thompson, 1994). For example, Thompson (1994) suggested that, in a highly negative emotionally arousing situation, it was more adaptive for an adult to become angry and then use problem solving techniques or to provide a persuasive argument than it was to resort to a physical attack or verbal insults. Given the outcomes that could occur with child maltreatment, this last component of emotion regulation might be particularly difficult for parents who maltreated their children. In addition, given young children's lower levels of verbal and physical abilities, it was likely far more difficult for them to utilize this final technique of emotion regulation.

Not surprisingly, young children required the help of their parents to regulate their emotions extrinsically (Bariola, Gullone, & Hugues, 2011; Saarni, 2006; Thompson, 1994). For example, parents might offer guidance by providing interpersonal and emotional coping

resources (i.e., by acting as a secure base and providing emotional support) or by providing material coping resources (i.e., distracting the child from intense negative emotions by shifting his or her attention to a favorite toy or blanket). Young children also learned to turn to their parents (i.e., social referencing) in order to determine how they should react in emotionally ambiguous situations (Saarni, 2006). Thus, parents aided in the development of their children's emotion regulation by acting as models (Bridges et al., 2004; Thompson, 1994) and/or by utilizing scaffolding or coaching techniques (Saarni, 2006). Perhaps most importantly, the development of emotion regulation occurred in the context of the caregiving relationship, and attachment literature suggested that children learned to regulate their emotions based on their caregivers' responses (or lack thereof) to their cues (Cicchetti & Toth, 1995)

As individuals aged, they became more capable of regulating their own emotions intrinsically, especially if their parents taught them how to regulate their emotions effectively (Gross & Thompson, 2007). If parents exhibited emotion dysregulation, however, children might be more likely to exhibit dysfunctional emotional development (Bariola et al., 2011). Additionally, if parents were neglectful, children might not have appropriate models from whom to learn effective emotion regulation strategies. Further, if parents were abusive (either physically or emotionally), children might learn maladaptive emotion regulation strategies that would not serve them well as they matured and became adults or parents themselves (Saarni, 2006). For example, one study indicated that young maltreated children exhibited more difficulties with emotion regulation (e.g., higher anger intensity, lower positive affect intensity) and internalizing problems than non-maltreated children in the context of mother-child interactions (Robinson et al., 2009). Generally, individuals who had difficult temperament had more difficulty regulating their emotions, behaviors, and reactions to emotionally arousing or stressful stimuli. As discussed previously, intensity of reaction and threshold of responsiveness were related to emotion regulation or reactivity. Individuals with difficult temperament typically exhibited a high intensity of reaction and a low threshold of responsiveness, characteristics that were clearly indicative of difficulties with emotion regulation (i.e., dysregulation) in the face of negative situations. Further, children with difficult temperament might elicit difficulties with emotion regulation in their parents. For example, parents with low perceived control responded to their difficult children with heightened physiological reactivity (Bugental & Cortez, 1988).

Ultimately, it was no surprise that parents who experienced difficulties with emotion regulation were more likely to maltreat their children. For example, in an effort to shed light on personality differences between groups of parents (e.g., parents found guilty of abuse, spouses of parents found guilty of abuse, mothers convicted of child neglect, non-abusive college-student mothers, non-abusive middle-income mothers, non-abusive low-income mothers), Spinetta (1978) demonstrated that, compared to non-abusive mothers, abusive mothers reported a significantly higher tendency to become upset or angry. Further, abusive parents were characterized as having difficulty controlling their anger (Ammerman, 1990) and as displaying "strong emotional reactance" (Cantos, Neale, O'Leary, & Gaines, 1997, p. 634). In addition, the finding that maltreated children exhibited more difficulties with emotion regulation may be, in part, because maltreating mothers exhibited poorer emotion regulation along with higher anger intensity and lower positive affect intensity (Robinson et al., 2009). Further, abusive mothers exhibited stronger, more intense, impulsive emotional reactions to situations involving their children (Frodi & Lamb, 1980). Given these characteristics, parents who were emotionally

reactive might have a difficult time managing their parenting and environmental stress, particularly when their families already were at risk for child maltreatment.

Stress

Both parenting stress and environmental stress were cited widely as risk factors for child maltreatment (Black et al., 2001). Parenting stress was of particular interest in the study of child maltreatment because of its emphasis on the transactional relationship between parents and their children. In addition, the stress of raising very young children was noted in families where child maltreatment had occurred (Barton & Baglio, 1993). Not surprisingly, numerous studies indicated that parenting stress increased the risk for child maltreatment. In their meta-analysis, Stith and colleagues (2009) reported small but significant effect sizes between parenting stress and child physical abuse and neglect. Further, Mash and colleagues (1983) demonstrated that physically abusive mothers reported significantly more parenting stress than did non-abusive mothers. Compared to parents who endorsed low child maltreatment potential, parents who reported high abuse potential also reported higher levels of parenting stress (Holden & Banez, 1996; Holden, Willis, & Foltz 1989), and stress predicted significantly child maltreatment potential in both mothers and fathers (Rodriguez, 2010; Rodriguez & Green, 1997). In contrast, Whipple and Webster-Stratton (1991) demonstrated that abusive and non-abusive mothers and fathers did not differ in terms of parenting stress (although the non-abusive parents in this study were from a parenting clinic specializing in the treatment of children's externalizing problems).

Many studies also suggested that perceptions of children's difficult behaviors (Mash et al., 1983) and difficult temperaments (Gelfand, Teti, & Fox, 1992; Harrington et al., 1998; Mäntymaa, Puura, Luoma, Salmelin, & Tamminen, 2006; Östberg & Hagekull, 2000) were related to parents' level of parenting stress. Specifically, Mantymaa and colleagues (2006)

reported that parenting stress predicted significantly parents' perceptions of their children having a difficult temperament. Harrington and colleagues (1998) also suggested that parents who experienced high levels of stress were more likely to perceive their children as having more difficult temperament, placing these children at an increased risk for experiencing emotional neglect. Further, Östberg and Hagekull (2000) demonstrated that mothers' perceptions of their children having a fussy or difficult temperament contributed directly to mothers' experience of parenting stress and that mothers' perceptions of their children as being irregular (i.e., having low levels of rhythmicity) contributed indirectly to mothers' experience of parenting stress. Overall, it appeared as though parenting stress and children's difficult temperament had a bidirectional and robust relationship, suggesting the importance of these variables for understanding parent-child interactions generally and child maltreatment potential more specifically.

Although environmental stress did not necessarily include the transactional relationship between parents and their children, it appeared to be another important risk factor in the broader context for child maltreatment potential. Stressors such as low socioeconomic status (SES), unemployment, large family size, and single-parent households were linked to an elevated risk for child maltreatment in many studies (Berger, 2004; Sullivan & Knutson, 2000; Turner et al., 2011; Whipple & Webster-Stratton, 1991). For example, small but significant effect sizes exemplified the relationships between multiple environmental stressors (e.g., personal stress, unemployment, single- parenthood, family size, SES) and child physical abuse (Stith et al., 2009). Further, a large significant effect size was noted between personal stress and child neglect and a moderate significant effect size was noted between unemployment and child neglect. Finally, small but significant effect sizes were noted between SES and both child physical abuse

and neglect (Stith et al., 2009). Thus, overall, economic distress was associated positively with multiple forms of child maltreatment (Sullivan & Knutson, 2000).

Whipple and Webster-Stratton (1991) also suggested that stressors such as poverty, low social position, maternal depression, and low marital support were present to a greater degree in maltreating families than in non-maltreating families. Further, in a very large national sample, Turner and colleagues (2011) demonstrated that living in single-parent families or blended/step-families placed children at significantly higher odds (over two times the odds) for being maltreated. Situational stress (e.g., stressful life changes, death in the family) also had implications for the incidence of child maltreatment. Overall, abusive mothers reported higher levels of life or situational stress than non-abusive mothers (Rosenberg & Reppucci, 1983). In addition, Whipple and Webster-Stratton (1991) demonstrated that abusive mothers reported significantly more stressful life changes and a significantly higher impact from these negative life changes than non-abusive mothers (although such findings were not noted for fathers).

Another type of stress that was of interest in the study of child maltreatment potential came in the form of daily hassles. In fact, evidence suggested that daily hassles were more predictive of psychological symptoms than were stressful life events and major life events (e.g., divorce, death in the family, job change) or situational stressors (e.g., poverty, unemployment, single-parenthood; Kanner, Coyne, Schaefer, & Lazarus, 1981; Lazarus & Folkman, 1984). Given these findings, families who were at risk for child maltreatment might be at risk for higher levels of daily hassles than non-maltreating families. Nonetheless, little research examined the role of daily hassles in predicting child maltreatment potential. As a result, daily hassles were examined further.
Coping

When studying stress, it also was imperative to study the role of coping. Given that outcomes were related indirectly to stress through coping (Lazarus & Folkman, 1987), the role of coping was just as important as the role of stress in predicting child maltreatment potential. In general, coping was defined as both cognitive and behavioral strategies designed to manage stress. Coping was similar to emotion regulation in that both variables were thought to be part of the broader construct of affect regulation (Gross & Thompson, 2007). In addition, temperament was a determinant of coping style (Heszen, 2012). Coping was thought to be a more effortful, conscious behavior than emotion regulation or the expression of temperament, however. In addition, emotion regulation occurred over moments in response to an emotionally arousing situation, whereas coping occurred over much longer periods of time (Gross & Thompson, 2007). Finally, both positive and negative emotions were altered during emotion regulation, whereas coping focused on reducing negative affect (Gross & Thompson, 2007). Thus, emotion regulation and coping were related but different. As a result, both were included in this study. A discussion of coping also was necessary in the context of this study.

According to Roth and Cohen (1986), coping strategies could be divided into two broad categories, *approach* or *avoidance*. These two categories referred to the orientation of individuals' emotions and cognitions as moving either toward or away from perceived threat. Essentially, avoidant coping strategies tended to decrease stress by keeping a threat out of awareness, thereby preventing the individual's anxiety about the threat from becoming incapacitating or disabling. In contrast, approach coping strategies involved addressing a given threat actively. Such an approach allowed individuals to ventilate affect and take appropriate

actions, thereby helping to control the threatening situation and to reduce stress (Roth & Cohen, 1986).

Typically, avoidance coping strategies could be quite effective in the short-term for reducing stress and anxiety, particularly during the initial time frame when psychological and emotional resources were being taxed heavily. In the long-term, however, avoidance might lead to more negative outcomes because it prevented the individual from being able to detect the opportunity to change a threat. It also allowed for emotional numbing, unwanted and distressing intrusions, and maladaptive avoidance behaviors. On the other hand, approach coping was considered to be a more effective means of coping, particularly in the long-term, and was related to more positive outcomes because it allowed for a deeper and fuller expression and experience of psychological distress (Roth & Cohen, 1986).

Overall, avoidance was thought to be more effective for situations that were uncontrollable. Essentially, in uncontrollable threatening situations, there was no advantage for using approach strategies, as approach strategies increased stress and provoke nonproductive worry, anxiety, depression, or frustration. In contrast, however, approach was more effective for situations that possibly might be controlled because it allowed individuals to notice and take advantage of opportunities for controlling or even changing the threatening situation for the better (Roth & Cohen, 1986). Roth and Cohen (1986) asserted that alternating between the use of approach and avoidance might be the most effective coping strategy of all. Such an approach allowed individuals to conserve resources. In other words, individuals avoided during times where nothing could be done but then worked through threatening situations when it was possible to do so.

In contrast to Roth and Cohen's (1986) theory, Lazarus and Folkman's (1984) theory of coping suggested that coping was a transactional process between stress and emotion. Specifically, stress arose out of a problematic individual-environment interaction, and coping was an attempt to either alleviate emotional distress (i.e., *emotion-focused coping*) or to alter the actual conditions of the troubled individual-environment relationship (i.e., *problem-focused coping*; Lazarus & Folkman, 1987). Additionally, coping and emotions occurred as a result of an individual's *appraisal* of a situation, or the constant and ongoing evaluation of the significance of a given situation to his or her well being (Lazarus & Folkman, 1987). That is, an individual's appraisal of a situation determined the method of coping that was employed (if coping was even deemed necessary) and the subsequent intensity and types of emotions that were experienced.

According to Lazarus and Folkman (1987), there were two types of appraisal. *Primary* appraisals occurred first and allowed the individual to determine the nature of the given stressful situation. Primary appraisals further were subdivided into three types, including *harm* (i.e., stress that already occurred), *threat* (i.e., anticipated stress or harm), and *challenge* (i.e., stress that allowed for potential gain or the opportunity for mastery). After primary appraisal of the nature of a given stressor, *secondary* appraisals occurred, with the individual determining if he or she should take action, what actions to take, and what coping strategies to employ in order to alleviate stress. Thus, similar to Roth and Cohen's (1986) theory of stress, much of the coping process depended on whether individuals perceived situations to be controllable. Lazarus and Folkman (1987) also held that *threat* was not simply a one-dimensional attribute of a situation. Instead, threat occurred when the attributes of a situation or environment interacted with individuals' characteristics (perhaps including temperamental traits), which then allowed or prevented the individual from perceiving the situation or environment as threatening. In addition

to their theory of coping, Lazarus and Folkman (1984) also asserted that daily hassles were just as stressful, if not more stressful, than major life events.

Extensive literature focused on the coping strategies employed by children who experienced maltreatment (e.g., Cantón-Cortés & Cantón, 2010; Flett, Druckman, Hewitt, & Wekerle, 2012; Hager & Runtz, 2012; Lopez, Begle, Dumas, & de Arellano, 2012; Merrill, Thomsen, Sinclair, Gold, & Milner, 2001; O'Leary, 2009; Robboy & Anderson, 2011; Runtz & Schallow, 1997). Surprisingly, however, relatively little research examined the coping strategies of abusive parents, including how stress and coping interacted in relation to the perpetration of maltreatment (Rodriguez, 2010). Further, in the scant amount of research that examined these relationships, coping strategies were not defined consistently, with each study defining and examining coping in a different way.

Nonetheless, some research demonstrated that a small but significant effect size occurred between parent coping and problem-solving skills and child physical abuse, suggesting that more effective coping in parents was related to a lower risk of perpetrating child physical abuse (Stith et al., 2009). Further, abusive parents reported a higher level of coping failure compared to nonabusive parents (Gains, Sandgrund, Green, & Power, 1978). In addition, given the proportion of abusive parents who reported high levels of stress, it was worth investigating the coping strategies that might help or hinder parents' emotion and behavior regulation in stressful situations or environments. Although stress had a positive relationship with child maltreatment, it was conceivable that parents' coping strategies might act as a mechanism to either prevent or promote child maltreatment potential in the presence of children's difficult temperament, parenting stress, and/or daily hassles. Understanding such mechanisms could allow parents with difficult temperament characteristics to cope more effectively and to subsequently be able to

better manage their emotional and behavioral reactions and be less likely to maltreat their children. As a result, coping strategies were certainly worthwhile variables to examine in the study of child maltreatment potential.

Further, the existing literature in this area suggested that, overall, coping was related to maltreatment perpetration and often acted as a mechanism through which child maltreatment either was prevented or promoted. Specifically, avoidant coping strategies consistently were correlated significantly and positively with child maltreatment potential (Rodriguez, 2010). For example, with high levels of stress, abusive mothers endorsed more avoidant coping strategies and fewer problem-focused and emotion-focused coping strategies (which were considered to be more effective) than non-abusive controls (Cantos et al., 1997). At lower levels of stress, however, abusive mothers actually reported higher levels of emotion-focused coping than nonabusive controls. Such findings suggested that abusive mothers' emotional reactance in the face of stress was responsible for their inability to utilize problem-focused coping and for their belief that they could not cope with stress effectively. Such attributions resulted in a shift from using more effective strategies (i.e., emotion-focused coping) to less effective strategies (i.e., avoidant coping) in stressful situations (which might include the presence of children's difficult temperament; Cantos et al., 1997). In addition, the use of avoidant coping strategies predicted higher child maltreatment potential (and overreactive disciplinary practices) in both mothers and fathers (Rodriguez, 2010). Avoidant coping also moderated the relationship between stress and maltreatment potential, suggesting that parents who were experiencing high levels of stress and who were using high levels of avoidant coping strategies reported higher levels of child maltreatment potential. In contrast, parents who were experiencing high levels of stress but who

reported lower levels of avoidant coping tended to report lower levels of child maltreatment potential (Rodriguez, 2010).

The utility of different coping strategies might extend prior to individuals becoming parents. For example, a study of the coping strategies employed by expectant mothers (including women experiencing their first pregnancies and pregnant women with older children) suggested that avoidant coping strategies (i.e., cognitive avoidance and emotional discharge) mediated the relationship between pregnancy desire and child physical abuse potential (Rodriguez, 2009). In other words, for women experiencing an unwanted pregnancy, the use of avoidant coping strategies predicted higher levels of child maltreatment potential. In contrast, approach coping strategies were not related significantly to mothers' desire for their pregnancy or child maltreatment potential. Overall, it appeared as though avoidant coping was highly predictive of child maltreatment potential, whereas the use of approach coping was of less concern in the prediction of child maltreatment potential.

Another study examining coping in adolescent mothers suggested that a predisposition for *aggressive coping* (i.e., the combination of a greater acceptance of corporal punishment, the disinhibition of aggression, and the perception of stress) predicted child physical abuse perpetration (Dukewich, Borkowski, & Whitman, 2001). More specifically, aggressive coping mediated the relationship between established risk factors (i.e., lack of social support, maternal psychological maladjustment, lack of preparation for parenting, and difficult child temperament) and child maltreatment potential. In a breakdown of the risk components included in that study, aggressive coping mediated the relationship between child temperament and child maltreatment potential (Dukewich et al., 2001). This finding suggested that the direct relationship between more difficult child temperament characteristics and higher child maltreatment potential became

insignificant when coping was introduced as a predictor as well. As such, the study of coping in the investigation of child maltreatment potential was warranted. It was expected that coping strategies would be predictive of parents' child maltreatment potential in the face of difficulties or conflict, particularly difficult child temperament and parenting stress.

The Present Study

Given the likelihood of child maltreatment potential to be elevated for parents with children who had difficult temperament (Casanueva et al., 2010), who had difficulty regulating their own emotions (Ammerman, 1990; Cantos et al., 1997; Robinson et al., 2009), and who were experiencing stress (Berger, 2004; Sullivan & Knutson, 2000; Turner et al., 2011; Whipple & Webster-Stratton, 1991) as well as subsequent difficulty with coping (Cantos et al., 1997; Rodriguez, 2010), it was imperative to investigate the interplay of these variables in an effort to better predict child maltreatment potential. Although cumulative risk theories (Begle et al., 2010) and transactional theories (i.e., Belsky, 1980, 1993; Green et al., 1974) attempted to predict child maltreatment potential, such theories remained incomplete thus far. As a result, the current study sought to enhance and clarify transactional theories of child maltreatment potential with a new proposed model. See Figure 1.

The strucuture of this model was based on previous research (described in detail in the sections above) that examined the variables of interest and provided some support for the directionality of the paths shown. In particular, it was expected that mother temperament would predict emotion and behavior regulation unidirectionally. In addition, previous research suggested that emotion and behavior regulation (as well as coping processes) would predict child maltreatment potential unidirectionally. Further, the placement of stress in the model was informed by previous research demonstrating that the pathways involving stress and coping flow

from the occurrence of a stressor, to the appraisal of threat, harm, or challenge and then to coping and an outcome. Finally, the placement of child temperament was informed by previous literature demonstrating that child temperament should be predicted by parent temperament and that difficult child temperament should predict child maltreatment potential. Thus, given previous findings and theoretical underpinnings, certain specific unidirectional pathways were proposed and examined for this new model. Overall, by identifying directional predictive relationships among these variables, the findings of this study enhanced our ability to predict child maltreatment potential so that better intervention and prevention efforts could be targeted and tailored for at-risk parents.



Figure 1. Proposed Overall Model

The first purpose of this study was to investigate the relationships among mothers' temperament, mothers' emotion and behavior regulation, stress and coping, young children's temperament, and child maltreatment potential. In particular, it was postulated that mothers' temperament and child maltreatment potential would be related significantly, with mothers who reported higher levels of difficult temperament characteristics reporting higher child maltreatment potential. Further, it was hypothesized that mothers' temperament, emotion and behavior regulation, and child maltreatment potential would be related significantly, with mothers who reported higher levels of difficult temperament characteristics reporting more difficulties with emotion and behavior regulation and higher child maltreatment potential. In addition, it was postulated that mothers' temperament and coping would be related significantly, with mothers who reported higher levels of difficult temperament characteristics reporting less effective coping. Similarly, it was hypothesized that mothers' emotion and behavior regulation would be related significantly to coping, with mothers who reported more difficulties with emotion and behavior regulation reporting less effective coping. Finally, it was postulated that mothers' temperament and young children's temperament would be related significantly and positively.

Further, this study aimed to examine the predictive relationships among mothers' temperament, mothers' emotion and behavior regulation abilities, stress and coping, and young children's temperament in the prediction of child maltreatment potential. Specifically, it was hypothesized that each of the predictors would add unique incremental variance to the prediction of child maltreatment potential. In order to examine this hypothesis, a hierarchical regression was performed. By examining the unique incremental variance accounted for by each of the predictor variables, better prediction of child maltreatment potential could be promoted.

Finally, this study aimed to examine potential mediators within the overall model depicted above. Specifically, it was postulated that the relationship between mothers' temperament and child abuse potential would be mediated by mothers' emotion and behavior regulation. In other words, it was postulated that mothers' temperament would predict significantly mothers' emotion regulation. In turn, mothers' emotion regulation would predict significantly child maltreatment potential (see Figure 2). In order to examine this hypothesis, a series of regression analyses was used to determine the relative contributions of each of the aforementioned variables on child maltreatment potential. These analyses shed light on the relative contributions of each of these variables in predicting child abuse potential.



Figure 2. Mothers' Emotion and Behavior Regulation Mediating the Relationship Between Mothers' Temperament and Child Maltreatment Potential

CHAPTER TWO: METHODOLOGY

Participants

Data for the proposed study was collected from 158 mothers who had children ranging in age from 1½- to 5-years of age. Mothers were recruited from a national sample via several methods, with 62.0% recruited from Amazon Mechanical Turk, 11.4% recruited from Facebook (via posted announcements), 12.7% recruited from Craigslist (via posted announcements), 4.4% recruited from online parenting communities and forums (via posted announcements), and 9.5% recruited from the University of Central Florida community (e.g., via Good Morning UCF announcements and the Sona system extra credit system). Individuals who participated via Amazon Mechanical Turk were provided with a small monetary compensation (i.e., \$2.00). There were 966 individuals who opened the survey online. Overall, 421 participants did not complete the survey in its entirety, and 327 were disqualified for various reasons, including not being parents, having children outside of the specified age range, not living in the United States, or answering validity questions incorrectly. As a result, 218 completed the survey in its entirety. Given the low response rate from fathers, 60 fathers were removed from the sample, leaving 158 mothers in the sample to be analyzed.

The suggested sample size for a hierarchical regression analysis (p < .05) with nineteen predictor variables (i.e., the most complex analysis proposed for this study) and a statistical power of .80 was 153 participants in order to detect a medium (R = .36) effect size (Cohen, 1992). Following multicollinearity diagnostics (see Results section below), two predictors were eliminated. As such, the suggested sample size for a hierarchical regression analysis (p < .05) with seventeen predictor variables (i.e., the most complex analysis included in this study) and a statistical power of .80 was 146 participants in order to detect a medium (R = .36) effect size

(Cohen, 1992). As a result, the sample collected for this study was large enough to complete the proposed analyses successfully.

With regard to the 158 mothers included in this study, the mean age was 32.28-years (SD=6.19-years). The majority of participants was Caucasian (81.0%). Other participants were African American (8.2%), Hispanic (3.8%), Asian American (3.8%), Multiracial (1.3%) or other races not listed here (1.9%). With regard to yearly household income and socioeconomic status, 29.7% earned over \$70,000 per year. The remaining mothers were distributed amongst other income brackets (i.e., 3.2% made less than \$10,000, 5.7% made \$10,000-\$20,000, 10.8% made \$20,000-\$30,000, 12.7% made \$30,000-\$40,000, 12.7% made \$40,000-\$50,000, 15.9% made \$50,000-\$60,000, and 8.9% made \$60,000-\$70,000). With regard to education, 37.3% of mothers had participated in some college, and 34.2% had earned a bachelor's degree. The remainder of mothers endorsed varying levels of education (e.g., 6.3% earned a high school diploma, 3.2% received vocational training, 15.8% received graduate or professional training, and 3.2% attained a doctoral degree). With regard to marital status, a majority of mothers were married (65.2%), whereas the remainder of mothers were living with their partners (15.2%), single or never married (9.5%), divorced (6.3%), separated (1.9%), remarried (1.3%), or widowed (0.6%). Finally, when examining the young children who were rated by their mothers for this study, the mean age was 2.99-years (SD=1.23-years), with girls representing 50.0%, boys representing 49.4%, and 0.6% of mothers (i.e., one participant) selecting "other" as the gender of their child. See Table 1 for participant demographic information.

Procedure

Following IRB approval from the University of Central Florida, advertisements were posted on Good Morning UCF, Sona Systems, Facebook, Craigslist, and various online parenting

communities for parents to follow an online survey link or to contact the Young Child and Family Research Clinic for participation. In addition, small monetary compensation (e.g., \$2.00) was provided for participants who were recruited through the Amazon Mechanical Turk system.

The research questionnaires were administered via an online survey. For those participants who chose to complete the questionnaires online, a link was provided that allowed access to the study. Upon accessing the survey link, parents first were asked to review a consent form and indicate agreement to participate (see *Appendix A*). Parents then gained access to and provided ratings on each of the respective measures described below. Following the completion of the survey, a debriefing form was displayed on the screen that explained the purpose of the study and provided references to the relevant research literature about the topic area examined in this study (See *Appendix B*). As noted above, all 158 mothers included in the study participated in the online survey.

Based on usage statistics provided by the online survey system, the average time to complete the survey was approximately 64 minutes. One of the investigators was available via telephone or via email to answer any questions that arose while participants completed the survey. Once surveys were completed, this information was stored securely online. To ensure anonymity, no personally identifying information was required as part of the survey. Following completion of data collection, the database was moved to a password-protected computer in the laboratory of the supervising faculty member. Further, a certificate of confidentiality was secured for this study, as the information collected for this study was particularly sensitive. Finally, all data was analyzed in group format, and no individual survey was singled out for examination.

Measures

Demographics. First, mothers completed a brief questionnaire regarding demographic information. The demographics questionnaire asked mothers to provide information regarding themselves and their children on various demographic variables, such as age, ethnicity, occupation, gender, and other related characteristics. See *Appendix C* for a sample of the demographics questionnaire.

Mothers' Temperament. The Dimensions of Temperament Scale-Revised for Adults (DOTS-R Adult; Windle & Lerner, 1986) measured mothers' reports of their own temperament. This 54-item questionnaire measures ten characteristics of temperament (the Cronbach alphas noted are from Windle & Lerner, 1986): Activity Level-General ($\alpha = .84$), Activity Level-Sleep ($\alpha = .89$), Approach-Withdrawal ($\alpha = .85$), Flexibility-Rigidity ($\alpha = .78$), Mood Quality ($\alpha = .89$), Rhythmicity-Sleep ($\alpha = .78$), Rhythmicity-Eating ($\alpha = .80$), Rhythmicity-Daily Habits ($\alpha = .62$), Distractibility ($\alpha = .81$), and Persistence ($\alpha = .74$; Windle & Lerner, 1986). The DOTS-R Adult asks participants to rate items using a four-point Likert scale ranging from Usually False (1) to Usually True (4). Higher scores on each of the scales indicated higher activity level; more adaptability or greater tendency to approach new situations, people, or events; greater flexibility in the external environment; greater level of positive quality of mood; more regular sleep patterns; more regular eating habits; more regular daily activities and habits; lower distractibility; and a higher persistence for tasks, respectively. For the current study, the temperament dimensions of Activity Level-General, Approach-Withdrawal, Flexibility-Rigidity, Mood Quality, and Rhythmicity-Daily Habits were used, given that these dimensions were related closely to the difficult constellation of temperament (e.g., Billman & McDevitt, 1980; Thomas & Chess, 1977). In this study, the Cronbach alphas of Activity Level-General (.81),

Approach-Withdrawal (.84), Flexibility-Rigidity (.84), Mood Quality (.92), Rhythmicity-Daily Habits (.56) were acceptable. See *Appendix D* for a sample of the DOTS-R Adult.

Mothers' Emotion and Behavior Regulation. The *Emotion Regulation Questionnaire* (*ERQ*; Gross & John, 2003) assessed mothers' self-reported emotion and behavior regulation. Consistent with Gross and Thompson's (2007) conceptualization of emotion regulation, this 10item questionnaire measures two processes of individuals' regulatory strategies: Cognitive Reappraisal (i.e., emotion regulation) and Expressive Suppression (i.e., behavior regulation). The subscales of the ERQ exhibited acceptable internal consistencies (the Cronbach alphas noted were from Gross & John, 2003): Cognitive Reappraisal ($\alpha = .75 - .82$) and Expressive Suppression ($\alpha = .68 - .76$). The ERQ asks participants to rate items using a seven-point Likert scale ranging from *Strongly Disagree* (1) to *Strongly Agree* (7). Higher scores on the Cognitive Reappraisal and Expressive Suppression subscales indicated a greater use of each skill and better ability to regulate emotions and behaviors, respectively. Both the Cognitive Reappraisal and Expressive Suppression subscales of the ERQ were used in the current study. In this study, the Cronbach alphas of Cognitive Reappraisal (.89) and Expressive Suppression (.81) were good. See *Appendix E* for a sample of the ERQ.

The *Difficulties in Emotion Regulation Scale (DERS*; Gratz & Roemer, 2004) measured mothers' self-reported difficulties with regulating their emotions during times of distress. This 36-item questionnaire consists of six subscales (Cronbach alphas noted are from Gratz & Roemer, 2004): Nonacceptance of Emotional Responses (i.e., Nonacceptance; $\alpha = .85$), Difficulties Engaging in Goal-Directed Behavior (i.e., Goals; $\alpha = .89$), Impulse Control Difficulties (i.e., Impulse; $\alpha = .86$), Lack of Emotional Awareness (i.e., Awareness; $\alpha = .80$), Limited Access to Emotion Regulation Strategies (i.e., Strategies; $\alpha = .88$), and Lack of

Emotional Clarity (i.e., Clarity; $\alpha = .84$). The DERS also provides a Total score ($\alpha = .93$; Gratz & Roemer, 2004) that assesses individuals' overall difficulty with emotion regulation. The DERS asks participants to rate items on a five-point Likert scale ranging from *Almost Never or 0-10% of the Time* (1) to *Almost Always or 91-100% of the Time* (5). Higher scores on each of the subscales indicated more difficulty with regulating emotions in the face of distress. For the current study, the Total scale of the DERS was used. The Cronbach alpha of the DERS Total subscale in this study was excellent (.94). See *Appendix F* for a sample of the DERS.

Stress. *The Parenting Stress Index-Fourth Edition-Short Form (PSI-4-SF*; Abidin, 2012) assessed mothers' perceived stress. The PSI-4-SF is a 36-item self-report questionnaire that asks participants to rate items on a five-point Likert scale ranging from *Strongly Agree* (1) to *Strongly Disagree* (5). The PSI-4-SF consists of three domains: Parental Distress, Parent-Child Dysfunctional Interaction, and Difficult Child. These three subscales also combine to form the Total Stress scale. Higher scores on these scales indicated higher levels of parenting stress. Cronbach alphas for each PSI-4-SF scale were all above .90 (Abidin, 2012). For the current study, the Total Stress scale of the PSI-4-SF was used. The Cronbach alpha of the Total Stress subscale in this study was excellent (.93). See *Appendix G* for a sample of the PSI-4-SF

The *Hassles Scale* (*HS*; Kanner et al., 1981) assessed mothers' self-reported experience with daily hassles. The HS consists of a list of 117 daily hassles in the domains of family, friends, work, environment, practical considerations, and chance occurrences. Participants were asked to select which hassles occurred for them in the past month and then to rate the severity of these selected daily hassles on a three-point Likert scale (i.e., 1 = Somewhat Severe, 2 = Moderately Severe, 3 = Extremely Severe). Three subscales can be derived from the HS. Specifically, the Frequency scale indicates a count of the number of daily hassles endorsed

(ranging from 0 to 117). The Cumulated Severity scale indicates the sum of the three-point severity ratings (ranging from 0 to 351). The Intensity scale indicates how intensely the average hassle is experienced by the participant and is calculated by dividing the Cumulated Severity scale by the Frequency scale. For the current study, all three subscales (i.e., Frequency, Cumulated Severity, and Intensity) of the HS were proposed for use. Given the results of multicollinearity diagnostics, however, the Frequency and Intensity subscales were eliminated from further analyses, and only the Cumulated Severity subscale of the HS was used (see Results section below). The Cronbach alpha of the Cumulated Severity subscale in this study was excellent (.97). *Appendix H* contains a sample of the HS.

Coping. The *Ways of Coping Questionnaire (WOC*; Folkman & Lazarus, 1985; Folkman, Lazarus, Dunkel-Schetter, DeLongis, & Gruen, 1986) assessed mothers' coping styles. The WOC consists of 66 items: 50 items assessing coping behaviors (i.e., thoughts and actions that individuals employ to manage stressful situations) as well as 16 distractor items. The WOC asks participants to rate items on a four-point Likert scale that ranges from *Does Not Apply and/or Not Used* (0) to *Used a Great Deal* (3). Each of the 50 items assessing coping behaviors loads onto one of two subscales (Cronbach alphas noted are from Folkman & Lazarus, 1985): Problem-Focused Coping ($\alpha = .85$) or Emotion-Focused Coping ($\alpha = .56$ -.84). Eight subscales also can be derived (Cronbach alphas noted are from Folkman et al., 1986): Confrontive Coping ($\alpha = .70$), Distancing ($\alpha = .61$), Self-Controlling ($\alpha = .70$), Seeking Social Support ($\alpha = .76$), Accepting Responsibility ($\alpha = .66$), Escape-Avoidance ($\alpha = .72$), Planful Problem-Solving ($\alpha = .68$), and Positive Reappraisal ($\alpha = .79$). Higher scores on each scale indicated greater use of each coping style respectively. For the current study, the Problem-Focused and Emotion-Focused scales were used. The Cronbach alphas for the Problem-Focused (.79) and Emotion-Focused (.82) were good. See *Appendix I* for a sample of the WOC.

Young Children's Temperament. The Dimensions of Temperament Scale - Revised for Children (DOTS-R Child; Windle & Lerner, 1986) measured mothers' report of their children's temperament. The DOTS-R Child is a 54-item questionnaire measures nine characteristics of temperament (the Cronbach alphas noted are from Windle & Lerner, 1986): Activity Level-General ($\alpha = .84$), Activity Level-Sleep ($\alpha = .87$), Approach-Withdrawal ($\alpha = .84$), Flexibility-Rigidity ($\alpha = .79$), Mood Quality ($\alpha = .91$), Rhythmicity-Sleep ($\alpha = .80$), Rhythmicity-Eating (α = .80), Rhythmicity-Daily Habits (α = .70), and Task Orientation (α = .79; Windle & Lerner, 1986). As a result, direct comparisons can be made between the DOTS-R Child and the DOTS-R Adult. The DOTS-R Child asks participants to rate items using a four-point Likert scale ranging from Usually False (1) to Usually True (4). Higher scores on the temperament scales indicated higher activity level; more adaptability or greater tendency to approach new situations, people, or events; greater flexibility in the external environment; greater level of positive quality of mood; more regular sleep patterns; more regular eating habits; more regular daily activities and habits; lower distractibility; and a higher persistence for tasks, respectively. For the current study, the temperament dimensions of Activity Level-General, Approach-Withdrawal, Flexibility-Rigidity, Mood Quality, and Rhythmicity-Daily Habits were used, given that these dimensions have been related closely to the difficult constellation of temperament (e.g., Billman & McDevitt, 1980; Thomas & Chess, 1977). In this study, the Cronbach alphas of Activity Level-General (.87), Approach-Withdrawal (.79), Flexibility-Rigidity (.86), Mood Quality (.88), and Rhythmicity-Daily Habits (.50) were acceptable. See Appendix J for a sample of the DOTS-R Child.

Child Maltreatment Potential. The *Child Abuse Potential Inventory (CAP*; Milner, 1986, 1994), a screening scale designed to detect the potential for child physical abuse, was used to measure mothers' child maltreatment potential. The CAP is a 160-item self-report questionnaire that asks parents to answer items in a forced-choice, *Agree or Disagree*, format. The CAP consists of a 77-item Physical Child Abuse Scale ($\alpha = .92 - .96$; Milner, 1986), which contains six descriptive factor scales: Distress, Rigidity, Unhappiness, Problems with Child and Self, Problems with Family, and Problems from Others. In addition, the CAP has three validity scales (i.e., a lie scale, a random response scale, and an inconsistency scale) that can derive three response distortion indexes (i.e., the faking-good index, the faking-bad index, and the random response index). Finally, the CAP contains two special scales (i.e., the ego-strength scale and the loneliness scale; Milner, 1988, 1990, 1994). Higher scores on the Physical Child Abuse Scale indicated a higher potential for child maltreatment. For the current study, the Physical Child Abuse Scale (abuse Scale was used. The Cronbach alpha of the Physical Child Abuse Scale (.90) was excellent for this study. See *Appendix K* for a sample of the CAP.

CHAPTER THREE: RESULTS

Descriptive Information

In order to put the results of this study into context, descriptive statistics (i.e., means and standard deviations) were examined for each variable of interest. First, with regard to mothers' self-reported temperament (as measured by the DOTS), mothers reported moderate levels of activity level-general (M=9.66, SD=4.64; as scores were able to range from 0 to 21), moderate levels of rhythmicity-daily habits (M=7.46, SD=2.94; as scores were able to range from 0 to 15), moderate levels of approach/withdrawal (M=11.48, SD=4.17; as scores were able to range from 0 to 15), and moderate levels of flexibility/rigidity (M=8.72, SD=3.52; as scores were able to range from 0 to 15). In contrast, mothers reported relatively high mood quality (M=16.59, SD=4.34; as scores were able to range from 0 to 21).

In terms of mothers' self-reported emotion and behavior regulation (as measured by the ERQ), mothers reported relatively high levels of cognitive reappraisal (M=31.54, SD=6.71; as score were able to range from 6 to 42). In contrast, mothers reported moderate levels of expressive suppression (M=13.43, SD=5.14; as scores were able to range from 4 to 28). Finally, mothers reported moderate levels of emotional dysregulation (as measured by the DERS; M=73.80, SD=21.05; as scores were able to range from 36 to 180).

For mothers' self-reported parenting stress (as measured by the PSI-4-SF), mothers reported moderate levels of overall parenting stress (M=79.10, SD=22.97; as the scores were able to range from 36 to 180). In terms of more general stress (as measured by the HS), mothers reported low levels of cumulated severity of stress (M=68.60, SD=45.72; as the scores were able to range from 0 to 351). In contrast, mothers reported a moderate frequency of stressors (M=44.99, SD=23.51; as the scores were able to range from 0 to 117) and a moderate intensity of stress (i.e., cumulated severity divided by frequency; M=1.42, SD=0.33). With regard to mothers' coping (as measured by the WOC), mothers reported moderate levels of problem-focused coping (M=17.04, SD=5.47; as the scores were able to range from 0 to 33) and moderate levels of emotion-focused coping (M=27.48, SD=10.04; as the scores were able to range from 0 to 72).

In terms of young children's temperament (as measured by the DOTS), mothers reported moderate levels of activity level-general (M=13.32, SD=4.76; as scores were able to range from 0 to 21), moderate levels of rhythmicity-daily habits (M=9.58, SD=2.59; as scores were able to range from 0 to 15), moderate levels of approach/withdrawal (M=12.34, SD=4.19; as scores were able to range from 0 to 21), and moderate flexibility/rigidity (M=9.14, SD=3.56; as scores were able to range from 0 to 15) for their children. In contrast, mothers reported relatively high mood quality (M=18.99, SD=3.27; as scores were able to range from 0 to 21) for their children.

Finally, with regard to child maltreatment potential (as measured by the CAP), mothers reported relatively low levels of physical abuse potential (M = 127.54, SD = 88.99; as the scores were able to range from 0 to 486). It also should be noted that scores above the critical cut-off score of 166 are classified as "High Maltreatment Potential," whereas scores below 166 are classified as "Low Maltreatment Potential" (Milner, 1986). See Table 2 for the ranges, means, and standard deviations of the independent and dependent variables included in this study.

Preliminary Analyses

Prior to completing the proposed analyses, preliminary analyses were conducted on the variables of interest. In particular, the data was screened for multicollinearity, nonlinear relationships, and differences between groups.

Multicollinearity. Evaluation of multicollinearity revealed that certain variables measuring stress exhibited multicollinearity. In particular, the Variance Inflation Factor (VIF) for the Cumulated Severity, Frequency, and Intensity subscales of the HS were 43.09, 29.04, and 6.10, respectively. These multicollinear relationships were evident due to the fact that each subscale of the HS was composed of the exact same items on the measure but were calculated in different ways. As such, the Frequency and Intensity subscales of the HS were eliminated from further analyses, and the Cumulated Severity of the HS was used in order to best capture the severity of stress experienced by mothers in the sample. All other predictor variables included in the analyses did not exhibit multicollinearity, as the VIF for each was less than 10 (i.e., scores ranged from 1.12 to 2.50), and variance proportions were relatively low (i.e., .50 or less; Field, 2009; Myers, 1990). These analyses left 17 predictor variables to be included in the most complex analysis for this study.

Nonlinear Relationships. Next, curvilinear relationships were assessed between child maltreatment potential and each independent variable. Curve estimations indicated that child maltreatment potential was related in a linear fashion to mothers' temperament, emotion and behavior regulation, stress, coping, and ratings of their young children's temperament.

Multivariate Analysis of Variance (MANOVA). Given the different methods of recruitment utilized for this study (i.e., Amazon Mechanical Turk, Facebook, Craigslist, parenting forums, UCF Community), analyses were conducted in order to determine if there were meaningful differences between groups on the variables of interest. The results of the Multivariate Analysis of Variance (MANOVA) indicated that there were some significant differences between groups. Specifically, Wilk's statistic suggested that there was an overall significant difference among the independent variables (i.e., mothers' temperament, emotion and

behavior regulation, stress and coping, and young children's temperament) and the dependent variable (i.e., child maltreatment potential) based on the recruitment source, $\Lambda = .47$, *F* (72, 634.84) = 1.55, *p* < .004. In an effort to assess specifically which variables exhibited differences between groups, Scheffe post hoc analyses were conducted. The results of these analyses were presented below.

Although the overall MANOVA revealed significant differences among groups, Scheffe post hoc analyses revealed that only one variable (i.e., expressive suppression) exhibited significant differences between groups. Specifically, mothers who were recruited from Facebook versus Amazon Mechanical Turk differed significantly on their ratings of expressive suppression (p < .02). Further, mothers who were recruited from Craigslist versus Amazon Mechanical Turk also differed significantly on their ratings of expressive suppression (p < .02). Post hoc analyses did not reveal any other significant differences in the independent or dependent variables based on recruitment source.

Overall, the differences between groups with regard to expressive suppression were considered in terms of contextual factors; however, these differences were not considered in further analyses. Specifically, it was likely that the differences present in expressive suppression were inherent to the individuals sampled (e.g., Facebook users versus Amazon Mechanical Turk users), thus increasing diversity within the sample. In addition, given that a single variable was the main driving force behind the significant MANOVA, we elected not to separate groups for the overall analyses. Finally, given that there were not significant differences between groups on ratings of the dependent variable (child maltreatment potential) and given previous literature suggesting that such variables should not be covaried (e.g., Harris, Bisbee, & Evans, 1971), covariates were not utilized in further analyses.

Correlations

To examine the relationships among mothers' temperament, emotion and behavior regulation, stress, coping, ratings of young children's temperament, and child maltreatment potential, correlations among the variables were examined. Given that the variables did not demonstrate curvilinear relationships, Pearson correlations were examined and provide evidence for the hypotheses regarding the relationships among the aforementioned variables. Several of these relationships were highlighted below. In addition, a Bonferroni correction was completed due to the amount of strong and significant correlations. Given that 153 comparisons were made, the adjusted p-value was .0003268. A complete correlation matrix of these findings was provided in Table 3.

Mothers' temperament and emotion regulation were correlated highly. Specifically, mothers' approach/withdrawal was correlated positively and significantly to cognitive reappraisal (r = .31, p < .001). Further, mothers' approach/withdrawal was correlated negatively and significantly to expressive suppression (r = ..19, p < .02) and to emotion dysregulation (r = ..28, p < .001). Next, mothers' flexibility/rigidity was correlated negatively and significantly to their expressive suppression (r = ..17, p < .03) and to their emotion dysregulation (r = ..41, p < .001). Mothers' mood quality was correlated positively and significantly to their cognitive reappraisal (r = .37, p < .001). In addition, mothers' mood quality was correlated negatively and significantly to their expressive suppression (r = ..29, p < .001) and to their emotion dysregulation (r = ..42, p < .001). Finally, mothers' rhythmicity was related positively and significantly to their cognitive reappraisal (r = .19, p < .019).

Collectively, these results suggested that easy temperament characteristics (i.e., high approach, high flexibility, positive mood quality, and high rhythmicity) were related generally to

high levels of cognitive reappraisal and low levels of expressive suppression and emotion dysregulation. Conversely, difficult temperament characteristics (i.e., high withdrawal, high rigidity, negative mood quality, low rhythmicity) were related generally to high levels of emotion dysregulation and expressive suppression and to low levels of cognitive reappraisal.

Next, with regard to the relationship between mothers' temperament and coping, there were several significant relationships. Specifically, mothers' approach/withdrawal was correlated positively and significantly with their use of problem-focused coping (r = .26, p < .001). In addition, mothers' flexibility/rigidity was correlated positively and significantly with their use of problem-focused coping (r = .17, p < .04). Mothers' mood quality also was correlated positively and significantly with their use of problem-focused coping (r = .17, p < .04). Mothers' mood quality also was correlated positively and significantly with their use of problem-focused coping (r = .18, p < .03). Overall, easy temperament characteristics were related generally to more effective problem-focused coping, whereas more difficult temperament characteristics were related generally to less use of problem-focused coping.

Next, relationships were examined between mothers' temperament and their young children's temperament. Specifically, mothers' approach/withdrawal was correlated positively and significantly with their young children's approach/withdrawal (r = .41, p < .001), flexibility/rigidity (r = .23, p < .004), and rhythmicity (r = .25, p < .002). Further, mothers' flexibility/rigidity was correlated positively and significantly with their young children's approach withdrawal (r = .21, p < .008) and flexibility/rigidity (r = .35, p < .001). Mothers' mood quality was correlated positively and significantly with their young children's approach/withdrawal (r = .24, p < .003), flexibility/rigidity (r = .19, p < .02), mood quality (r = .31, p < .001), and rhythmicity (r = .26, p < .001). Lastly, mothers' rhythmicity was correlated

positively and significantly with their young children's rhythmicity (r = .32, p < .001). As a result, mothers' easy temperament characteristics were related to young children's easy temperament characteristics, whereas mothers' difficult temperament characteristics were related to young children's difficult temperament characteristics.

Mothers' temperament also was related highly to child maltreatment potential. Specifically, mothers' approach/withdrawal was correlated negatively and significantly to child maltreatment potential (r = -.34, p < .001). In addition, mothers' flexibility/rigidity was correlated negatively and significantly to child maltreatment potential (r = -.33, p < .001). Finally, mothers' mood quality was correlated negatively and significantly to child maltreatment potential (r = -.53, p < .001). Overall, these results suggested that mothers' more difficult temperament characteristics (i.e., high withdrawal, high rigidity, and negative mood quality) were related to higher child maltreatment potential.

Similarly, several relationships were found between young children's temperament and mothers' child maltreatment potential. For example, young children's activity level was correlated positively and significantly to mothers' child maltreatment potential (r = .27, p < .001). In addition, young children's approach/withdrawal was correlated negatively and significantly to mothers' child maltreatment potential (r = .24, p < .002). Young children's flexibility/rigidity also was correlated negatively and significantly to mothers' child maltreatment potential (r = ..24, p < .002). Young children's flexibility/rigidity also was correlated negatively and significantly to mothers' child maltreatment potential (r = ..30, p < .001). In addition, young children's mood quality was correlated negatively and significantly to mothers' child maltreatment potential (r = ..18, p < .02). Finally, young children's rhythmicity was correlated negatively and significantly to mothers' child maltreatment potential (r = ..18, p < .02). Finally, young children's rhythmicity was correlated negatively and significantly to mothers' child maltreatment potential (r = ..18, p < .02). These results suggested that young children's more difficult temperament characteristics (i.e., high activity level, high withdrawal,

high rigidity, negative mood quality, and low rhythmicity) were related to higher child maltreatment potential.

Next, the relationship between mothers' emotion regulation and coping was examined. In particular, mothers' cognitive reappraisal was correlated positively and significantly with their use of problem-focused coping (r = .29, p < .001). In contrast, mothers' expressive suppression was correlated negatively and significantly with their use of problem-focused coping (r = .17, p < .03). Mothers' use of expressive suppression was correlated positively and significantly to emotion-focused coping (r = .34, p < .001). Finally, mothers' emotional dysregulation was correlated positively and significantly to emotion-focused coping (r = .40, p < .001).

Next, the relationship between mothers' emotion and behavior regulation and child maltreatment potential was examined. In particular, mothers' cognitive reappraisal was correlated negatively and significantly to child maltreatment potential (r = -.30, p < .001). In addition, mothers' expressive suppression was correlated positively and significantly to child maltreatment potential (r = .21, p < .007). Finally, mothers' emotional dysregulation was correlated positively and significantly to child maltreatment potential (r = .58, p < .001).

Finally, in terms of the mothers' self-reported stress, these variables demonstrated significant relationships with child maltreatment potential. Specifically, mothers' parenting stress was correlated positively and significantly to child maltreatment potential (r = .64, p < .001). Similarly, mothers' cumulated severity of stress (r = .60, p < .001) was correlated positively and significantly to child maltreatment potential. Such results demonstrated that both higher levels of parenting stress and reported daily hassles were related to higher child maltreatment potential.

Hierarchical Regression Analyses

First, hierarchical regression analyses were conducted to determine which variables were significant predictors of child maltreatment potential within the overall model. In these analyses, mothers' temperament, emotion and behavior regulation, stress, coping, and ratings of young children's temperament served as predictor variables, and child maltreatment potential served as the criterion variable (as noted earlier). Specifically, mothers' temperament variables were entered into Block 1, emotion and behavior regulation variables were entered into Block 2, stress variables were entered into Block 3, coping variables were entered into Block 4, and young children's temperament variables were entered into Block 5 so that incremental variance could be examined. See Table 4 for a summary of these results.

In Block 1, mothers' temperament predicted significantly their child maltreatment potential, F(5, 151) = 13.91, p < .001, $R^2 = .32$. Specifically, mothers' flexibility/rigidity (p <.04) and mood quality (p < .001) served as significant individual predictors of child maltreatment potential. When mothers' emotion and behavior regulation was entered into Block 2, the regression equation remained significant, F(8, 148) = 14.75, p < .001, $R^2 = .44$. Within this block, mothers' mood quality (p < .001) again served as a significant individual predictor, and mothers' emotional dysregulation (p < .001) emerged as a significant predictor. Mothers' flexibility/rigidity no longer served as a significant predictor of child maltreatment potential when emotion and behavior regulation was added to the regression equation.

When stress variables were entered into Block 3, the regression equation remained significant, F(10, 146) = 24.07, p < .001, $R^2 = .62$. In particular, mothers' mood quality (p < .001) remained a significant individual predictor, and parenting stress (p < .001) and cumulated severity of stress (p < .001) served as significant individual predictors. Next, when coping

variables were entered into Block 4, the regression equation remained significant, F(12, 144)=21.58, p < .001, $R^2 = .64$. Specifically, mothers' mood quality (p < .001), parenting stress (p < .001), and cumulated severity of stress (p < .001) all continued to serve as significant individual predictors of child maltreatment potential. Emotion-focused coping also emerged as a significant individual predictor (p < .007). Finally, when young children's temperament variables were entered into Block 5, the regression equation remained significant, F(17, 139) = 16.63, p < .001, $R^2 = .67$. Specifically, mothers' mood quality (p < .001), parenting stress (p < .001), cumulated severity of stress (p < .001), and emotion-focused coping (p < .02) all continued to serve as significant individual predictors of child maltreatment potential. In addition, young children's mood quality (p < .01) emerged as a significant individual predictor of child maltreatment potential.

Mediation Analyses

Given the results of the hierarchical regression analyses, certain variables emerged as significant individual predictors that required additional examination. As a result, mediation analyses were conducted in order to test the hypothesis that emotion and behavior regulation would serve as a mediator in the relationship between mothers' temperament and child maltreatment potential. Specifically, flexibility/rigidity was used as mothers' temperament variable given that it was no longer a significant predictor of child maltreatment potential after the emotion and behavior regulation variables were added to the regression equation. Given that mood quality remained a significant predictor even after the emotion and behavior regulation variables were added, this temperament variable was not considered in mediational analyses. With regard to selecting an emotion and behavior regulation variable for these analyses, emotion dysregulation was used, given that it emerged as a significant individual predictor in the

hierarchical regression equation (whereas cognitive reappraisal and expressive suppression did not).

According to Baron and Kenny's procedure (1986), a series of regression equations was performed. First, mothers' temperament (i.e., flexibility/rigidity) had to predict their emotion and behavior regulation abilities (i.e., emotion dysregulation; path a) as well as their child maltreatment potential (path b). In an additional regression equation, mothers' emotion and behavior regulation must predict child maltreatment potential (path c). With the inclusion of mothers' emotion and behavior regulation in the final regression equation, the relationship between mothers' temperament and child maltreatment potential must decrease to nonsignificance, indicating the mediational role of mothers' emotion and behavior regulation.

Mothers' Temperament Predicting Emotion and Behavior Regulation. When examining the mediational role that emotion and behavior regulation abilities play in the relationship between mothers' temperament and child maltreatment potential, the first regression equation revealed that mothers' flexibility/rigidity predicted their emotion dysregulation significantly, F(1,156) = 31.82, p < .001, $R^2 = .17$.

Mothers' Temperament Predicting Child Maltreatment Potential. The second regression equation revealed that mothers' flexibility/rigidity predicted their child maltreatment potential significantly, F(1, 155) = 18.46, p < .001, $R^2 = .11$.

Mother's Emotion and Behavior Regulation Predicting Child Maltreatment Potential. The third regression equation revealed that mothers' emotion dysregulation predicted

their child maltreatment potential significantly, F(1, 155) = 78.01, p < .001, $R^2 = .34$.

Mothers' Temperament and Emotion and Behavior Regulation Abilities Predicting Child Maltreatment Potential. Finally, mothers' flexibility/rigidity and emotion dysregulation predicted significantly their child maltreatment potential, F(2, 154)=40.38, p < .001, $R^2 = .34$. In particular, when entered individually, mothers' flexibility/rigidity predicted significantly their child maltreatment potential (p < .001). When mothers' emotion dysregulation was added to this equation, however, flexibility/rigidity decreased in significance (p < .14), and only mothers' emotion dysregulation was a significant predictor of child maltreatment potential (p < .001). Thus, mothers' ratings of their emotion dysregulation mediated the relationship between their ratings of flexibility/rigidity and child maltreatment potential. The mediational value of emotion dysregulation was confirmed with a significant Sobel Test (z = -4.75, p < .001). These results were presented in Table 5.

CHAPTER FOUR: DISCUSSION

The overall objective of the current study was to provide a deeper understanding of the importance of several variables implicated in the prediction of child maltreatment potential. In conjunction with this purpose, the current study also aimed to enhance and clarify existing transactional theories of child maltreatment. Overall, previous literature demonstrated that parents with more difficult temperament characteristics were more likely to perpetrate child maltreatment (Casanueva et al., 2010; Latzman et al., 2009; Stith et al., 2009), parents with difficult temperament characteristics had more difficulty regulating their emotions (Rothbart & Sheese, 2007; Saarni, 2006), and maltreating parents had more difficulty regulating their emotions (Ammerman, 1990; Cantos et al., 1997; Robinson et al., 2009). Because previous research demonstrated relationships between each of the variables independently, it was important to examine parent temperament and emotion and behavior regulation along with stress, coping, and young children's temperament collectively in an attempt to better predict child maltreatment potential. In particular, we sought to demonstrate the importance of emotion and behavior regulation as one potential process involved in the chain that leads from difficult temperament in mothers to a higher likelihood of child maltreatment potential. Additionally, given the emerging prominence of emotion regulation in the research and treatment literature today, this study addresses a gap in the current literature and in existing predictive models of child maltreatment.

Overall, the correlational findings supported the hypotheses that mothers' temperament, emotion and behavior regulation, stress, coping, and ratings of their young children's temperament were interrelated and thus important to examine collectively as predictors of child maltreatment potential. Specifically, mothers' difficult temperament was associated positively

and significantly with more difficulties in emotion and behavior regulation as well as with higher child maltreatment potential. Additionally, in partial support of the hypotheses, mothers' difficult temperament was related negatively and significantly to the effective use of problem-focused coping; however, mothers' temperament did not demonstrate a significant relationship with emotion-focused coping. In support of the hypotheses regarding the relationship between mothers' and young children's temperament, mothers' temperament was related significantly and positively to their reports of their young children's temperament. In conjunction with this finding, young children's difficult temperament characteristics were related positively and significantly to mothers' child maltreatment potential.

Emotion and behavior regulation also demonstrated strong relationships with many of the variables of interest. As noted previously, mothers' difficult temperament (i.e., higher withdrawal, more negative quality of mood, and higher rigidity) was related to emotion dysregulation. Although temperament and emotion regulation were theorized as being related (Saarni, 206; Strelau, 1983, 2008), the current study provided empirical evidence of the relationship between these two constructs. Similar to previous research (Ammerman, 1990; Cantos et al., 1997; Spinetta, 1978) and also of particular importance to the current study was the finding that having more difficulties with emotion and behavior regulation was related positively and significantly to higher child maltreatment potential. Not surprisingly (and in support of the hypotheses for this study), mothers' emotion dysregulation was related to higher child maltreatment potential. This finding suggested that individuals who have trouble organizing their own feelings or down-regulating their negative reactions to aversive stimuli (e.g., difficult characteristics in young children, daily hassles) were at higher risk for child maltreatment potential.

With regard to specific emotion regulation techniques used by mothers, higher cognitive reappraisal was related to lower child maltreatment potential, whereas higher expressive suppression was related to higher child maltreatment potential. These findings made sense, however, given what is known about the positive psychological effects of cognitive reappraisal versus the negative outcomes of expressive suppression as an emotion regulation strategy, particularly in interpersonal situations (Butler, Egloff, Wlhelm, Smith, Erickson, & Gross, 2003; Butler & Gross, 2004; Haga, Kraft, & Corby, 2009; Soto, Perez, Kim, Lee, & Minnick, 2011). In addition, because expressive suppression occurred late in the chain that led from stimulus to observable behavior (Geisler, & Schröder-Abé, In Press), it could be equated to what was called "behavior regulation" in this study (whereas cognitive reappraisal was tied more closely to what would be deemed true "emotion regulation"). It was likely that, once individuals had experienced negative emotional reactions that were not down-regulated effectively through the use of cognitive reappraisal, expressive suppression would not always be adequate to prevent maladaptive behavior (i.e., child maltreatment) from occurring. In general, it appeared that, when predicting child maltreatment potential, it was not the amount or degree of emotion or behavior regulation that was employed, but rather the type of strategy that was employed or whether the individual was experiencing overall high levels of emotion dysregulation.

Several interesting findings were noted with regard to the relationships between emotion and behavior regulation and mothers' self-reported coping strategies, possibly due to the similarities between these two concepts and definitional inconsistencies noted previously (Gross, 1998; Gross & Thompson, 2007). Specifically, in support of the hypotheses presented, mothers' use of cognitive reappraisal as an emotion regulation strategy was related positively and significantly to their use of problem-focused coping, whereas their use of expressive suppression

as well as their emotion dysregulation was related negatively and significantly to their use of problem-focused coping. In contrast to the hypothesis regarding emotion regulation and coping, mothers' emotion dysregulation was related positively and significantly to their use of emotionfocused coping. Upon closer examination, however, it was evident that many of the items included in the emotion-focused coping subscale of the WOC involved distancing/avoidant behaviors that were used to cope with stress. Given what was known about the long-term ineffectiveness and unfavorable outcomes of avoidant coping (e.g., Aldao & Nolen-Hoeksema, 2010, 2012; Amstadter & Vernon, 2008; Cantos et al., 1997; Roth & Cohen, 1986), it was understandable that the emotion-focused subscale was in fact correlated positively with overall emotion dysregulation. Similarly, it was no surprise that expressive suppression was correlated positively with emotion-focused coping, given that the expressive suppression subscale of the ERQ, in essence, described the moment-to-moment behavioral manifestation of distancing/avoidant coping strategies. This finding was similar to previous literature suggesting that suppression was one aspect of avoidant coping (Leen-Feldner, Zvolensky, Feldner, & Lejuez, 2004).

When considering the cumulative and individual predictive validity of each independent variable, the hierarchical regression analyses shed light on the importance of mothers' temperament, emotion and behavior regulation, stress and coping, and ratings of young children's temperament in the prediction of child maltreatment potential. The results suggested that several specific variables of interest (i.e., mothers' mood quality, flexibility/rigidity, emotion dysregulation, parenting stress, cumulated severity of stress, emotion-focused coping, and ratings of young children's mood quality) emerged as significant predictors of child maltreatment potential. Given that these variables added unique incremental variance to the prediction of child

maltreatment potential, this study added to the existing literature regarding transactional theories of child maltreatment prediction by informing the selection of potential mediators to examine within these relationships after deciphering these results. These findings were particularly noteworthy, given the amount of variance in child maltreatment potential explained by the predictors of interest. Specifically, the R^2 for the overall model was .67. This large value demonstrated the strong predictive value of the independent variables when they were examined collectively in a transactional model to predict child maltreatment potential.

These findings were in stark comparison to those of previous literature suggesting that a cumulative risk model (calculated by summing the occurrence of risk factors present) predicted child maltreatment potential better than a developmental-ecological (i.e., transactional) model of child maltreatment (Begle et al., 2010). In order to clarify the distinction and predictive validity of cumulative risk models versus transactional models, Begle and colleagues (2010) examined their data for both models. Specifically, for the cumulative risk model, cutoff scores were utilized in order to determine whether each risk factor was present or not. In contrast, structural equation modeling was used to examine the transactional model. Results suggested that the cumulative risk model fit the prediction of child maltreatment better than the transactional model; however, the cumulative risk model predicted only up to 28% of the variance in child maltreatment potential. In other words, that value was much lower than that of the current study, which accounted for up to 67% of the variance in child maltreatment potential by utilizing a transactional model of prediction.

Similar to our own framework, Mackenzie and colleagues (2011) found that a cumulative risk model predicted child maltreatment significantly better than any one single risk factor could alone. Nonetheless, the complexity of the interactions among parents, children, and their
environmental context clearly must not be ignored or reduced to a simple sum of the risk factors present. Thus, we hold that transactional theories of child maltreatment (e.g., Belsky, 1980, 1981, 1993; Cicchetti & Rizley, 1981) made not only theoretical sense but remained superior and demonstrated stronger empirical support in the prediction of child maltreatment.

Interestingly, the mood quality dimension of temperament predicted child maltreatment potential significantly, but not necessarily in the context of emotion and behavior regulation. In the hierarchical regression analyses, mood quality remained significant, even after emotion and behavior regulation strategies and coping were added to the equation. In other words, the deleterious effects of negative mood quality on child maltreatment potential were not attenuated by emotion and behavior regulation abilities. Thus, it appeared as though there was something unique about mood quality, particularly given that the mood quality subscale of the DOTS measures an innate trait or general characteristic of parents and thus remains untouched by more state-dependent or moment-to-moment emotion or behavior regulation skills such as cognitive reappraisal or expressive suppression. Again, research regarding parent temperament in the context of child maltreatment potential was scant. This finding was consistent, however, with previous research suggesting that depressive symptoms predicted child maltreatment (Kelley, Lawrence, Milletich, Hollis, & Henson, in press). As such, more research is needed to identify paths leading from negative mood quality to higher child maltreatment potential so that interventions can be tailored for mothers who rate highly on this risk factor.

Another noteworthy finding of the current study was the fact that parenting stress and daily hassles remained significant predictors of child maltreatment potential even after coping was added to the predictive equation. These results were in contrast to the hypotheses that stress would interact with other variables of interest (i.e., mother temperament, emotion regulation,

coping) to clarify existing transactional theories of child maltreatment prediction. Instead, the findings were consistent with previous research suggesting that stress was predictive of child maltreatment potential (Begle, 2010; Rodriguez & Green, 1997) regardless of resilience factors such as use of social support (Östberg, & Hagekull, 2000). Surprisingly, however, few researchers have examined many other protective factors in the relationship between stress experienced by mothers (whether that be parenting stress or daily hassles) and their subsequent child maltreatment potential. As such, our findings highlighted the strong influence that stress had on the prediction of child maltreatment potential and expanded the existing literature by demonstrating that coping did not necessarily decrease this influence. Future research will need to determine whether any other potential protective factors may divert stress from resulting in higher child maltreatment potential.

Finally, more detailed relationships among some of the variables in the hierarchical regression were examined. In particular, given that flexibility/rigidity no longer remained a significant predictor of child maltreatment when emotion dysregulation was added to the hierarchical regression analysis, these variables were selected for further examination. Mediation analyses indicated that emotion dysregulation mediated the relationship between mothers' flexibility/rigidity temperament characteristics and their child maltreatment potential. Such findings demonstrated how dysregulated, highly rigid individuals may become when their routines, environments, or interactions were not as expected or preferred and how this resulting dysregulation may increase the risk for child maltreatment potential.

Although previous researchers noted that the construct of temperament applies throughout the lifespan (Rothbart & Posner, 2006; Rothbart & Sheese, 2007, Rothbart, Sheese, & Posner, 2014), not much research focused previously on adult temperament. As a result, not

much was known about how flexibility/rigidity was related particularly to emotion dysregulation. This mediation demonstrated, however, that difficult mother temperament might not be inherently problematic. Similar to previous research, the current study suggested that temperament laid the groundwork for the development of emotion regulation skills (Rothbart & Sheese, 2007; Saarni, 2006; Thompson, 1994). It was these emotion regulation skills that then served to help or hinder parents who demonstrated characteristics of a difficult temperament. Overall, these results emphasized the importance of conceptualizing child maltreatment potential as a transactional process. This point was exceptionally important, given that it may allow scientist practitioners to define a point of intervention in an effort to prevent and address child maltreatment.

The findings of this study should be interpreted within the context of its limitations. For example, although both mothers and fathers participated in the study, the number of participating mothers was disproportionate to the number of participating fathers. Thus, not enough males provided information for meaningful data analyses of male versus female differences in this data set, and only mothers were utilized in the analyses as a result. A larger sample of fathers may provide insight as to whether emotion and behavior regulation abilities also serve as a mediator between temperament and child maltreatment potential for fathers or whether a different set of factors would be more important in the prediction of fathers' child maltreatment potential. With regard to the mothers who participated in the current study, the sample was somewhat homogenous despite being collected from a national community population. In particular, the majority of mothers was Caucasian, had completed at least some college, and had a yearly household income of over \$70,000 per year. In addition, the study used a community sample,

and the rates of child maltreatment potential in this sample were likely not as high as they would be in more typically "high-risk" populations (Whipple & Webster-Stratton, 1991).

As a result, future research should examine temperament, emotion regulation, stress, and coping as predictors of child maltreatment potential for other samples, including those who have been identified previously as perpetrating child maltreatment, those who have been victims of child maltreatment in their own histories, parents in low socioeconomic status groups, parents who have mental illness, and/or parents who use or have abused substances or alcohol. More generally, self-report ratings such as those utilized for the current study should not be assumed to be completely accurate, given that participants possibly may have responded in a socially desirable manner. Accordingly, observational research or multi-informant ratings may provide more accurate measures of the variables of interest, particularly for parent and child temperament. Nonetheless, this type of research presents its own difficulties and drawbacks. In addition, data for this study were collected online without observation from researchers. These factors may decrease external validity, decreasing the generalizability of this study's results. Nonetheless, measures were taken to reduce the likelihood of including participants who responded randomly or without effort (e.g., including validity questions and eliminating those who answered them incorrectly).

Despite these limitations, the results of this study expanded the body of literature regarding the prediction of child maltreatment. For example, researchers examined previously the emotion and behavior regulation abilities of maltreating mothers (e.g., Ammerman, 1990; Cantos et al., 1997; Frodi & Lamb, 1980; Robinson et al., 2009). The current study takes a different angle, instead examining temperament and emotion dysregulation as predictors of child maltreatment potential (via the CAP, a widely used and validated risk instrument) in a national

community sample rather than as characteristics of parents who already perpetrated maltreatment. These findings will allow providers to identify mothers who may be at-risk based on such characteristics and then target prevention efforts. Specifically, given the genetic underpinnings of temperament (e.g., Cyphers et al., 1990; Oniszcenko et al., 2003; Zawadzki et al., 2001), it is unlikely that interventions will succeed in altering mothers' levels of innate behavioral style, including characteristics such as level of flexibility/rigidity and mood quality. Given that emotion dysregulation mediated the relationship between mothers' flexibility/rigidity and child maltreatment potential, however, targeting emotion regulation skills in prevention and intervention programs for at-risk mothers likely will be extremely beneficial. Clearly future research will benefit from examining the positive effects of including emotion regulation skills training as a component of child maltreatment prevention and intervention. With these findings, better intervention and prevention efforts can be targeted and tailored for parents who have difficult temperaments or difficulties regulating their emotions, thereby decreasing their child maltreatment potential.

Variables	(N=158)				
Mother Age (in years)					
Mean (Standard Deviation)	32.28 (6.19)				
Child Age (in years)					
Mean (Standard Deviation)	2.99 (1.23)				
Child Gender (percent)					
Male	50.0%				
Female	49.4%				
Other	0.6%				
Recruitment Source (percent)					
Amazon Mechanical Turk	62.0%				
Craigslist	12.7%				
Facebook	11.4%				
UCF Community	9.5%				
Online Parenting Communities	4.4%				
Ethnicity (percent)					
Caucasian	81.0%				
African American	8.2%				
Hispanic	3.8%				
Asian American	3.8%				
Other races not listed	1.9%				
Multiracial	1.3%				
Socioeconomic Status (percent)					
<\$10,000	3.2%				
\$10,000-\$20,000	5.7%				
\$20,000-\$30,000	10.8%				
\$30,000-\$40,000	12.7%				
\$40,000-\$50,000	12.7%				
\$50,000-\$60,000	15.9%				
\$60,000-\$70,000	8.9%				
>\$70,000	29.7%				
Education Level (percent)					
High School Diploma	6.3%				
Vocational Training	3.2%				
Some College	37.3%				
Bachelor's Degree	34.2%				
Graduate/Professional Training	15.8%				
Doctoral Degree	3.2%				

Table 1. Participant Demographic Information

Variables	(N=158)					
Marital Status (percent)						
Single	9.5%					
Living with Partner	15.2%					
Married	65.2%					
Separated	1.9%					
Divorced	6.3%					
Remarried	1.3%					
Widowed	0.6%					

Table 2. Descrip	tive Statistics	for Variable	s of Interest
------------------	-----------------	--------------	---------------

Variables (Available Range)	M	SD	Actual Range
Mothers' Temperament			
Activity Level-General (0-21)	9.66	4.64	(0-21)
Approach/Withdrawal (0-21)	11.48	4.17	(0-21)
Flexibility/Rigidity (0-15)	8.72	3.52	(0-15)
Mood Quality (0-21)	16.59	4.34	(0-21)
Rhythmicity-Daily Habits (0-15)	7.46	2.94	(1-13)
Parent Emotion and Behavior Regulation			
Cognitive Reappraisal (6-42)	31.54	6.71	(6-42)
Expressive Suppression (4-28)	13.43	5.14	(4-27)
Difficulties with Emotion Regulation (36-180)	73.80	21.05	(36-143)
Stress			
Parenting Stress (36-180)	79.10	22.97	(37-150)
Cumulated Severity (0-351)	68.50	45.72	(0-237)
Frequency (0-117)	44.99	23.51	(0-113)
Intensity (0-3)	1.42	0.33	(0-2.42)
Coping			
Problem-Focused Coping (0-33)	17.04	5.47	(2-30)
Emotion-Focused Coping (0-72)	27.48	10.04	(4-53)
Young Children's Temperament			
Activity Level-General (0-21)	13.32	4.76	(1-21)
Approach/Withdrawal (0-21)	12.34	4.19	(1-21)
Flexibility/Rigidity (0-15)	9.14	3.56	(0-15)
Mood Quality (0-21)	18.99	3.27	(6-21)
Rhythmicity-Daily Habits (0-15)	9.58	2.59	(1-15)
Child Maltreatment Potential			
Physical Abuse Potential (0-486)	127.54	88.99	(5-414)

Table 3. Correlations Among Mother and Young Child Temperament, Emotion and Behavior Regulation, Stress and Coping, and Child Maltreatment Potential

Va	riables	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
1.	Mother Activity Level-General	-								
2.	Mother Approach/Withdrawal	.09	-							
3.	Mother Flexibility/Rigidity	11	.58***	-						
4.	Mother Mood Quality	.19*	.45***	.29***	-					
5.	Mother Rhythmicity-Daily Habits	06	.15	05	.29***	-				
6.	Cognitive Reappraisal	.14	.31***	.11	.37***	.19*	-			
7.	Expressive Suppression	.06	19*	17*	29***	08	.01	-		
8.	Emotion Dysregulation	.01	28***	41***	42***	13	29***	.20*	-	
9.	Parenting Stress	05	27***	20*	40***	11	25***	.17*	.51***	-
		1								

Variables	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
10. Cumulated Severity of Stress	.12	09	15	23**	04	08	.20**	.47***	.53***
11. Problem-Focused Coping	.14	.26***	.17*	.33***	.18*	.29***	17*	14	08
12. Emotion-Focused Coping	.13	.06	05	07	.10	.07	.34***	.40***	.30***
13. Child Activity Level-General	.15	12	01	01	13	.04	04	.14	.31***
14. Child Approach/Withdrawal	.06	.41***	.21**	.24**	.14	.22**	15	18*	32***
15. Child Flexibility/Rigidity	03	.23**	.35***	.19*	.07	.17*	09	30***	37***
16. Child Mood Quality	.15	.14	.08	.31***	.09	.30***	10	22**	41***
17. Child Rhythmicity-Daily Habits	.06	.25**	01	.26***	.32***	.26***	05	06	26***
18. Child Maltreatment Potential	07	34***	33***	53***	15	30***	.21**	.58***	.64***

Variables	10	11	12	13	14	15	16	17	18
10. Cumulated Severity of Stress	-								
11. Problem-Focused Coping	.19*	-							
12. Emotion-Focused Coping	.54***	.30***	-						
13. Child Activity Level-General	.19*	.11	.14	-					
14. Child Approach/Withdrawal	21**	.16	06	.08	-				
15. Child Flexibility/Rigidity	21**	.06	11	10	.49***	-			
16. Child Mood Quality	24**	.18*	01	.09	.28***	.24**	-		
17. Child Rhythmicity-Daily Habits	20*	.12	.06	.08	.27***	.08	.31***	-	
18. Child Maltreatment Potential	.60***	06	.42***	.27***	24**	30***	18*	18*	-

Note. * $p \le .05$ ** $p \le .01$ *** $p \le .001$; Items in bold are significant after Bonferonni Correction.

Variables	В	SE B	β
Block 1. $F(5, 151) = 13.91, p < .001, R^2 = .32$			
Mother Activity Level-General	.01	1.37	.00
Mother Approach/Withdrawal	62	1.92	03
Mother Flexibility/Rigidity	-4.46	2.19	18*
Mother Mood Quality	-9.44	1.63	46***
Mother Rhythmicity-Daily Habits	54	2.19	02
Block 2. $F(8, 148) = 14.75, p \le .001, R^2 = .44$			
Mother Activity Level-General	22	1.26	01
Mother Approach/Withdrawal	-1.20	1.80	06
Mother Flexibility/Rigidity	71	2.13	03
Mother Mood Quality	-6.21	1.64	30***
Mother Rhythmicity-Daily Habits	.47	2.01	.02
Cognitive Reappraisal	62	.93	05
Expressive Suppression	.51	1.13	.03
Emotion Dysregulation	1.72	.31	.41***
Block 3. $F(10, 146) = 24.07, p < .001, R^2 = .62$			
Mother Activity Level-General	-1.10	1.06	06
Mother Approach/Withdrawal	66	1.50	03
Mother Flexibility/Rigidity	-2.24	1.78	09
Mother Mood Quality	-4.53	1.38	22***
Mother Rhythmicity-Daily Habits	54	1.67	02
Cognitive Reappraisal	71	.77	05
Expressive Suppression	15	.95	01
Emotion Dysregulation	.57	.30	.14
Parenting Stress	.98	.26	.25***
Cumulated Severity of Stress	.66	.13	.34***

 Table 4. Hierarchical Regression Analyses Predicting Child Maltreatment Potential

Variables	В	SE B	β
Block 4. $F(12, 144) = 21.58, p < .001, R^2 = .64$			
Mother Activity Level-General	-1.28	1.04	07
Mother Approach/Withdrawal	94	1.48	04
Mother Flexibility/Rigidity	28	1.75	11
Mother Mood Quality	-4.77	1.37	23***
Mother Rhythmicity-Daily Habits	-1.35	1.66	05
Cognitive Reappraisal	93	.77	07
Expressive Suppression	-1.01	1.00	06
Emotion Dysregulation	.32	.31	.08
Parenting Stress	.99	.26	.25***
Cumulated Severity of Stress	.52	.14	.27***
Problem-Focused Coping	10	.99	01
Emotion-Focused Coping	1.70	.62	.19**
Block 5. $F(17, 139) = 16.63, p < .001, R^2 = .67$			
Mother Activity Level-General	-1.80	1.03	09
Mother Approach/Withdrawal	28	1.61	01
Mother Flexibility/Rigidity	-3.05	1.83	12
Mother Mood Quality	-5.25	1.35	26***
Mother Rhythmicity-Daily Habits	98	1.70	03
Cognitive Reappraisal	-1.44	.77	11
Expressive Suppression	65	.99	04
Emotion Dysregulation	.25	.30	.06
Parenting Stress	1.04	.28	.27***
Cumulated Severity of Stress	.56	.14	.29***
Problem-Focused Coping	38	.97	02
Emotion-Focused Coping	1.50	.61	.17*
Young Child Activity Level-General	1.68	1.09	.09
Young Child Approach/Withdrawal	.29	1.38	.01
Young Child Flexibility/Rigidity	67	1.55	03
Young Child Mood Quality	4.12	1.60	.15*
Young Child Rhythmicity-Daily Habits	13	2.02	00

Note. * *p* < .05, ** *p* < .01, *** *p* < .001

Regression/Variables	β	t	р
Mediators: Emotion Dysregulation			
Flexibility/Rigidity and Emotion Dysregulati	on: F (1,156) =31.82,	$p < .001, R^2 = .17$	7
Flexibility/Rigidity	41	-5.64	.001***
Emotion Dysregulation and Child Maltreatme	ent Potential: F (1,155	(5) = 78.01, p < .00	$1, R^2 = .34$
Emotion Dysregulation	.58	8.83	.001***
Flexibility/Rigidity and Child Maltreatment I	Potential: $F(1, 155) =$	18.46, p < .001, K	$R^2 = .11$
Flexibility/Rigidity	33	-4.30	.001***
Flexibility/Rigidity, Emotion Dysregulation,	and Child Maltreatme	ent Potential: F (2	$(154) = 40.38, p < .001, R^2 = .34$
Flexibility/Rigidity	11	-1.47	.144
Emotion Dysregulation	.54	7.47	.001***

Table 5. Mediational Regression Analyses for Child Maltreatment Potential

APPENDIX A: EXPLANATION OF RESEARCH FORM

Appendix A: Explanation of Research Form



A Closer Look at the Interactions Among Parent and Child Temperament, Stress and Coping, Emotional and Behavioral Regulation, and Parenting Behaviors

Informed Consent

Principal Investigator: Amanda Lowell, B.S.

Faculty Supervisor: Kimberly Renk, Ph.D.

Investigational Site: University of Central Florida, Department of Psychology

Introduction: Researchers at the University of Central Florida (UCF) study many topics. To do this, we need the help of people who agree to take part in a research study. You are being invited to take part in a research study, which will include up to 257 parents from the United States. You must be 18-years of age or older, and have a child between the ages of 1.5- to 5-years of age to be included in the research study.

The persons doing this research include Amanda Lowell, B.S., a Graduate Student in the Clinical Psychology Ph.D. Program at the University of Central Florida, and Kimberly Renk, Ph.D., an Associate Professor of Psychology at UCF.

What you should know about a research study:

- Someone will explain this research study to you.
- A research study is something you volunteer for.
- Whether or not you take part is up to you.
- You should take part in this study only because you want to.
- You can choose not to take part in the research study.
- You can agree to take part now and later change your mind.
- Whatever you decide it will not be held against you.
- Feel free to ask all the questions you want before you decide.

Purpose of the research study: The purpose of this research study is to examine the relationships among temperament, emotional and behavioral functioning, and emotional and behavioral regulation abilities in parents; stress and coping; previous exposure to adverse childhood experiences; and temperament, emotional and behavioral functioning in young children, with particular emphasis on understanding which of these characteristics predict the ways in which individuals parent their children. In fact, previous research indicated that children with difficult temperaments are exposed to harsher parenting practices than children with easier

temperaments. Further, parents with difficult temperaments and difficulty regulating their emotions have been shown to exhibit harsher parenting. High levels of stress and difficulties coping are also related to poorer parenting practices. Finally, previous adverse childhood experiences may affect parenting behaviors, as well. However, little is known about the combination of child temperament, parent temperament, emotional and behavioral regulation, stress and coping, and previous exposure to adverse experiences as intervening factors in predicting different levels of functioning, particularly with regard to later parenting behaviors. As a result, there is a need to further examine the interrelationships among these variables.

What you will be asked to do in the study: As part of this study, you will be asked to complete ten brief questionnaires that will take approximately one hour of your time. Sona Systems provides a link to the surveys. Alternatively, you will be able to complete a hard copy if you are unable to access the study online. Your responses as part of this study will be used to examine the relationships among child temperament, parent temperament, emotional and behavioral regulation, stress and coping, and childhood experiences in the context of parent-child interactions, and later parenting behaviors.

Location: Research for this project will be conducted in one of two methods in a location of your choice. You may choose to fill out the questionnaires either on a secure online survey site or by hard copy to be returned via postal mail. If you complete the hard copy of questionnaires, you will be returning these questionnaires to the principal investigators upon completion via a postage paid envelope included in the packet.

Time Required: We expect that you will participate in this research study for approximately one hour.

Risks: Although there are no anticipated risks that accompany your participation in this research study, it should be noted that some of the questionnaires that you will complete may bring up negative or unpleasant experiences from your childhood. Should you have a negative emotional reaction to any of the material presented, please notify the investigators or the faculty investigator listed on this form. In addition, you should consider obtaining counseling assistance or psychological treatment if such help is needed as a result of participation in the study. For help obtaining such services near you, you may wish to consult your insurance provider or contact your general practitioner for a referral. In addition, you may visit the American Psychological Association website at http://locator.apa.org/ to find a psychologist near you. If you are located in the Central Florida area, you may wish to contact the UCF Psychology Clinic at 407-823-4348.

Benefits: One benefit of participating in this project is that you will learn first-hand what it is like to participate in a research project and you may learn more about yourself. For example, by completing the questionnaire packet, you will increase your awareness of your child's temperament, as well as your own temperament, emotional and behavioral regulation abilities, emotional and behavioral functioning, stress, coping, and childhood experiences.

Compensation or Payment: Participants can expect to spend approximately one hour completing ten questionnaires and will not receive payment. Nonetheless, if you are a UCF

student, you may receive extra credit toward a Psychology course of their choice through Sona Systems.

Confidentiality: We will limit your personal data collected in this study to people who have a need to review this information. This only includes basic demographic information. No names and identifying information will be collected. We cannot promise complete secrecy. Organizations that may inspect and copy your information include the IRB and other representatives of UCF. You can be assured that we will not be able to link your identity to your responses, however, as we will not be asking you for your name as part of this consent process. Upon completion of the online surveys, your responses will be linked with an identification number only. The principal investigators will then transfer your survey responses from the secure online server to an SPSS database that only the investigators will be able to access via a password protected computer. Your online survey responses then will be deleted from the secure online server. Thus, your responses will be entirely anonymous. If you elect to complete a paper packet, your completed packet will be stored in a locked filing cabinet in a locked psychology laboratory in the Psychology Building at the University of Central Florida. Only research team members will handle your surveys. The completed packets will be entered into a database using a research identification number only.

Study contact for questions about the study or to report a problem: If you have questions, concerns, or complaints or think the research has hurt you, talk to Kimberly Renk, Ph.D., Faculty Supervisor, Department of Psychology, at 407-823-2218 or by email at Kimberly.Renk@.ucf.edu.

IRB contact about your rights in the study or to report a complaint: Research at the University of Central Florida involving human participants is carried out under the oversight of the Institutional Review Board (UCF IRB). This research has been reviewed and approved by the IRB. For information about the rights of people who take part in research, please contact: Institutional Review Board, University of Central Florida, Office of Research & Commercialization, 12201 Research Parkway, Suite 501, Orlando, FL 32826-3246 or by telephone at (407) 823-2901. You may also talk to them for any of the following:

- Your questions, concerns, or complaints are not being answered by the research team.
- You cannot reach the research team.
- You want to talk to someone besides the research team.
- You want to get information or provide input about this research.

Withdrawing from the study: There are no adverse consequences for choosing to withdraw from your participation in the study. The person in charge of the research study or the sponsor can remove you from the research study without your approval if you are not 18-years of age or older.

If you agree to participate in this research study, please click continue below.

APPENDIX B: POST PARTICIPATION INFORMATION

Appendix B: Post Participation Information

PROJECT: A Closer Look at the Interactions Among Parent and Child Temperament, Stress and Coping, Emotional and Behavioral Regulation, and Parenting Behaviors INVESTIGATORS: Kimberly Renk, Ph.D., & Amanda Lowell, B.S.

Thank you for participating in this research project. This project is being conducted so that we may find out more about the relationships among temperament, emotional and behavioral functioning, and emotional and behavioral regulation abilities in parents; stress and coping; previous exposure to adverse childhood experiences; and temperament, emotional and behavioral functioning in young children, with particular emphasis on understanding which of these characteristics predict the ways in which individuals parent their children. As part of your participation, you completed several questionnaires inquiring about your temperament, your ability to regulate your emotions and your behaviors, your perceived parenting stress and daily hassles, your coping styles, your child's temperament, your current emotional and behavioral functioning, your parenting behaviors, and your childhood experiences (particularly those inquiring about discipline-related interactions as well as other difficult interactions). The responses to these questionnaires will be used to explore the relationships among these variables. In particular, we are expecting that parents who report difficult temperament characteristics, difficulties regulating their emotions and behaviors, high levels of stress, poor coping, and previous adverse experiences will be more likely to exhibit harsher parenting practices. In addition, we are expecting that easier temperament characteristics and the ability to regulate emotions and behaviors may provide a buffer against the longterm effects of difficult childhood experiences on later parenting behaviors and emotional and behavioral functioning. If so, these relationships may serve as a point of intervention for at-risk parents.

If you would like more information about temperament, emotional and behavioral regulation, stress, coping, parenting, and emotional and behavioral functioning, please refer to the following sources:

- Casanueva, C., Goldman-Fraser, J., Ringeisen, H., Lederman, C., Katz, L., & Osofsky, J. D. (2010). Maternal perceptions of temperament among infants and toddlers investigated for maltreatment: Implications for services need and referral. *Journal of Family Violence*, 25(6), 557-574. doi:10.1007/s10896-010-9316-6
- Gross, J. J., & John, O. P. (2003). Individual differences in two emotion regulation processes: Implications for affect, relationships, and well-being. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 85(2), 348-362. doi:10.1037/0022-3514.85.2.348
- Mäntymaa, M., Puura, K., Luoma, I., Salmelin, R. K., & Tamminen, T. (2006). Mother's early perception of her infant's difficult temperament, parenting stress and early mother-infant interaction. *Nordic Journal of Psychiatry*, 60(5), 379-386. doi:10.1080/08039480600937280

If you have any further questions about this research study, please contact Kimberly Renk, Ph.D., by phone (407-823-2218) or e-mail (<u>Kimberly.Renk@ucf.edu</u>). If you feel that you would benefit from talking with a counselor about your own childhood experiences, please contact the UCF Psychology Clinic at 407-823-4348.

APPENDIX C: DEMOGRAPHICS QUESTIONNAIRE

Appendix C: Demographics Questionnaire

1.	Your Gender: M	F					
2.	Your Age:						
3.	Your Ethnicity: Caucasia	n		Hispanic		African	American
	Asian-A	meri	ican	Native-American	1	Other	
4.	What, if any, is your relig	ious	affiliation? _				
	On a scale of 1-10 (1 = no say you have?	ot stro	ong at all; 10 =	= very strong) how	v strong	of a religi	ous affiliation would you
5. Y	Your Marital Status: Mar	ried	Divorce	d Separated	Widowe	ed Sing	gle
	Living with Partr	ner	Remarried (I	f so, how many p	revious 1	narriages <u>.</u>)
6. I	Does your child's other pa	rent	live with you	1?	Yes	No	
7.]	Please list the age and gen	der	of your child	(ren) and whethe	er or not	they live	with you.
	Age	Gen	der	Live wit	h you?		Born at how many weeks gestation?
		Μ	F	Y	Ν		
		М	F	Y	Ν		
		М	F	Y	Ν		
		Μ	F	Y	Ν		
8. I	Do you live with any exten	ded	family memb	ers or friends?	Y	Ν	
9.]	If yes, who?				_		
10.	Your level of education	:					
	Post Doctorate			Vocatio	nal Trair	ning	
	Graduate Professional Training		High Sc	High School Diploma			
	College Degree (bachelors)		Some H	Some High School			
	Some College			Less that	n High S	School	
11.	Your occupation:						

12. Child's other parent's level of education:

Post Doctorate	Vocational Training
Graduate Professional Training	High School Diploma
College Degree (bachelors)	Some High School
Some College	Less than High School

13. Your child's other parent's occupation:

14. Estimated Yearly household income (please circle one):

Less than \$10,000	\$40,000 - \$50,000
\$10,000 - \$20,000	\$50,000 - \$60,000
\$20,000 - \$30,000	\$60,000 - \$70,000
\$30,000 - \$40,000	More than \$70,000

15. Estimated debt (please circle one):

Less than \$10,000	\$40,000 - \$50,000
\$10,000 - \$20,000	\$50,000 - \$60,000
\$20,000 - \$30,000	\$60,000 - \$70,000
\$30,000 - \$40,000	More than \$70,000

APPENDIX D: DIMENSIONS OF TEMPERAMENT SCALE-REVISED FOR ADULTS

(DOTS-R ADULT)

Appendix D: Dimensions Of Temperament Scale-Revised For Adults (DOTS-R Adult)

HOW TO ANSWER: On the following pages are some statements about how people like you may behave. Some of the statements may be true of your own behavior and others may not apply to you. For each statement we would like you to indicate if the statement is usually true of you, is more true than false of you, is more false than true of you, or is usually false of you. There are no "right" or "wrong" answers because all people behave in different ways. All you have to do is answer what is true for you.

On the line to the left of each statement select $\underline{0}$ if the statement is <u>usually false</u> for you, write a $\underline{1}$ if the statement is <u>more false than true</u> for you, write a $\underline{2}$ if the statement is <u>more true than false</u> for you, or write a $\underline{3}$ if the statement is <u>usually true</u> for you.

It takes me a long time to get used to a new thing in the home.
 usually FALSE
 more FALSE than true
 more TRUE than false
 usually TRUE
 I can't stay still for long.
 usually FALSE
 more FALSE than true
 more TRUE than false
 = more TRUE than false
 = usually TRUE
 I can't stay still for long.
 I laugh and smile at a lot of things.

3. _____ I laugh and smile at a lot of things.
0 = usually FALSE
1 = more FALSE than true
2 = more TRUE than false
3 = usually TRUE

4. ____ I wake up at different times.
0 = usually FALSE
1 = more FALSE than true
2 = more TRUE than false
3 = usually TRUE

5. ____ Once I am involved in a task, nothing can distract me from it.
0 = usually FALSE
1 = more FALSE than true
2 = more TRUE than false
3 = usually TRUE

6. ____ I persist at a task until it's finished.
0 = usually FALSE
1 = more FALSE than true
2 = more TRUE than false
3 = usually TRUE

7. I move around a lot.
0 = usually FALSE
1 = more FALSE than true
2 = more TRUE than false
3 = usually TRUE

8. ____ I can make myself at home anywhere.

0 = usually FALSE 1 = more FALSE than true 2 = more TRUE than false 3 = usually TRUE

9. I can always be distracted by something else, no matter what I may be doing.
0 = usually FALSE
1 = more FALSE than true
2 = more TRUE than false
3 = usually TRUE

10. I stay with an activity for a long time.
0 = usually FALSE
1 = more FALSE than true
2 = more TRUE than false
3 = usually TRUE

11. ____ If I have to stay in one place for a long time, I get very restless.
0 = usually FALSE
1 = more FALSE than true
2 = more TRUE than false
3 = usually TRUE

12. I usually move towards new objects shown to me.
0 = usually FALSE
1 = more FALSE than true
2 = more TRUE than false
3 = usually TRUE

13. ____ It takes me a long time to adjust to new schedules.
0 = usually FALSE
1 = more FALSE than true
2 = more TRUE than false
3 = usually TRUE

14. ____ I do not laugh or smile at many things.

0 = usually FALSE

1 =more FALSE than true

2 = more TRUE than false

3 = usually TRUE

15. ____ If I am doing one thing, something else occurring won't get me to stop.

0 = usually FALSE

1 = more FALSE than true

2 = more TRUE than false

3 = usually TRUE

16. ____ I eat about the same amount for dinner whether I am home, visiting someone, or traveling.

0 = usually FALSE

1 = more FALSE than true

2 = more TRUE than false

3 = usually TRUE

17. ____ My first reaction is to reject something new or unfamiliar to me.

0 = usually FALSE
1 = more FALSE than true
2 = more TRUE than false
3 = usually TRUE
18. ____ Changes in plans make me restless.
0 = usually FALSE
1 = more FALSE than true
2 = more TRUE than false

3 = usually TRUE

19. I often stay still for long periods of time.
0 = usually FALSE
1 = more FALSE than true
2 = more TRUE than false
3 = usually TRUE

20. ____ Things going on around me can <u>not</u> take me away from what I am doing.
0 = usually FALSE
1 = more FALSE than true
2 = more TRUE than false
3 = usually TRUE

21. I take a nap, rest, or break at the same time every day.
0 = usually FALSE
1 = more FALSE than true
2 = more TRUE than false
3 = usually TRUE

22. Once I take something up, I stay with it.
0 = usually FALSE
1 = more FALSE than true
2 = more TRUE than false

3 = usually TRUE

23. ____ Even when I am supposed to be still, I get very fidgety after a few minutes.

0 = usually FALSE

1 = more FALSE than true

- 2 = more TRUE than false
- 3 = usually TRUE

24. ____ I am hard to distract.

0 = usually FALSE

1 = more FALSE than true

- 2 = more TRUE than false
- 3 = usually TRUE

25. ____ I usually get the same amount of sleep each night.

0 = usually FALSE

1 = more FALSE than true

2 = more TRUE than false

3 = usually TRUE

26. ____ On meeting a new person I tend to move towards him or her.

0 = usually FALSE 1 = more FALSE than true 2 = more TRUE than false 3 = usually TRUE

27. ____ I get hungry about the same time each day.
0 = usually FALSE
1 = more FALSE than true
2 = more TRUE than false
3 = usually TRUE

28. I smile often.
0 = usually FALSE
1 = more FALSE than true
2 = more TRUE than false
3 = usually TRUE

29. I never seem to stop moving.
0 = usually FALSE
1 = more FALSE than true
2 = more TRUE than false
3 = usually TRUE

30. ____ It takes me no time at all to get used to new people.
0 = usually FALSE
1 = more FALSE than true
2 = more TRUE than false
3 = usually TRUE

31. I usually eat the same amount each day.
0 = usually FALSE
1 = more FALSE than true
2 = more TRUE than false
3 = usually TRUE

32. I move a great deal in my sleep.
0 = usually FALSE
1 = more FALSE than true
2 = more TRUE than false
3 = usually TRUE

33. ____ I seem to get sleepy just about the same time every night.
0 = usually FALSE
1 = more FALSE than true
2 = more TRUE than false
3 = usually TRUE

34. I do not find that I laugh often.0 = usually FALSE1 = more FALSE than true

2 = more TRUE than false

3 = usually TRUE

35. ____ I move towards new situations.

0 = usually FALSE 1 = more FALSE than true2 = more TRUE than false 3 = usually TRUE36. ____ When I am away from home, I still wake up at the same time each morning. 0 = usually FALSE 1 = more FALSE than true2 = more TRUE than false 3 = usually TRUE37. ____ I eat about the same amount at breakfast from day to day. 0 = usually FALSE1 = more FALSE than true 2 = more TRUE than false 3 = usually TRUE38. ____ I move a lot in bed. 0 = usually FALSE 1 = more FALSE than true 2 = more TRUE than false 3 = usually TRUE39. ____ I feel full of pep and energy at the same time each day. 0 = usually FALSE1 = more FALSE than true 2 = more TRUE than false 3 = usually TRUE 40. <u>I have bowel movements at about the same time each day.</u> 0 = usually FALSE1 = more FALSE than true2 = more TRUE than false 3 = usually TRUE41. No matter when I go to sleep, I wake up at the same time the next morning. 0 = usually FALSE1 = more FALSE than true2 = more TRUE than false 3 = usually TRUE 42. In the morning, I am still in the same place as I was when I fell asleep. 0 = usually FALSE1 = more FALSE than true2 = more TRUE than false 3 = usually TRUE 43. ____ I eat about the same amount at supper from day to day. 0 = usually FALSE1 = more FALSE than true

- 2 = more TRUE than false
- 3 = usually TRUE

5 – usually TROE

44. ____ When things are out of place, it takes me a long time to get used to it.

0 = usually FALSE 1 = more FALSE than true 2 = more TRUE than false 3 = usually TRUE

45. ____ I wake up at the same time on weekends and holidays as on other days of the week.
0 = usually FALSE
1 = more FALSE than true
2 = more TRUE than false
3 = usually TRUE

46. I don't move around much at all in my sleep.
0 = usually FALSE
1 = more FALSE than true
2 = more TRUE than false
3 = usually TRUE

47. ____ My appetite seems to stay the same day after day.
0 = usually FALSE
1 = more FALSE than true
2 = more TRUE than false
3 = usually TRUE

48. ____ My mood is generally cheerful.
0 = usually FALSE
1 = more FALSE than true
2 = more TRUE than false
3 = usually TRUE

49. I resist changes in routine.
0 = usually FALSE
1 = more FALSE than true
2 = more TRUE than false
3 = usually TRUE

50. I laugh several times a day.
0 = usually FALSE
1 = more FALSE than true
2 = more TRUE than false
3 = usually TRUE

51. ____ My first response to anything new is to move my head toward it.
0 = usually FALSE
1 = more FALSE than true
2 = more TRUE than false

3 = usually TRUE

52. <u>Generally</u>, I am happy.

0 = usually FALSE

1 = more FALSE than true

2 = more TRUE than false

3 = usually TRUE

53. ____ The number of times I have a bowel movement on any day varies from day to day.

0 = usually FALSE1 =more FALSE than true 2 = more TRUE than false 3 = usually TRUE

54. ____ I never seem to be in the same place for long. 0 =usually FALSE

1 = more FALSE than true 2 = more TRUE than false

3 = usually TRUE

APPENDIX E: EMOTION REGULATION QUESTIONNAIRE (ERQ)

Appendix E: Emotion Regulation Questionnaire (ERQ)

Emotion Regulation Questionnaire (ERQ) Gross & John 9/03

The <u>Emotion Regulation Questionnaire</u> is designed to assess individual differences in the habitual use of two emotion regulation strategies: cognitive reappraisal and expressive suppression.

Citation

Gross, J.J., & John, O.P. (2003). Individual differences in two emotion regulation processes: Implications for affect, relationships, and well-being. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 85, 348-362.

Instructions and Items

We would like to ask you some questions about your emotional life, in particular, how you control (that is, regulate and manage) your emotions. The questions below involve two distinct aspects of your emotional life. One is your emotional experience, or what you feel like inside. The other is your emotional expression, or how you show your emotions in the way you talk, gesture, or behave. Although some of the following questions may seem similar to one another, they differ in important ways. For each item, please answer using the following scale:

1	23	4	l:	5	6	_7
strongly		ne	utral			strongly
disagree						agree

- 1. When I want to feel more *positive* emotion (such as joy or amusement), I change what I'm thinking about.
- 2. I keep my emotions to myself.
- 3. When I want to feel less negative emotion (such as sadness or anger), I change what I'm thinking about.
- 4. When I am feeling *positive* emotions, I am careful not to express them.
- 5. When I'm faced with a stressful situation, I make myself *think about it* in a way that helps me stay calm.
- 6. I control my emotions by not expressing them.
- 7. When I want to feel more *positive* emotion, I change the way I'm thinking about the situation.
- 8. ____ I control my emotions by changing the way I think about the situation I'm in.
- 9. ____ When I am feeling *negative* emotions, I make sure not to express them.
- 10. When I want to feel less negative emotion, I change the way I'm thinking about the situation.

APPENDIX F: DIFFICULTIES IN EMOTION REGULATION SCALE (DERS)

Appendix F: Difficulties In Emotion Regulation Scale (DERS)

1	2	3	4	5	
Almost never	Sometimes	About half the time	Most of the time	Almost always	
(0-10%)	(11-35%)	(36-65%)	(66-90%)	(91-100%)	

Difficulties in Emotion Regulation Scale (DERS)

1.1				-		2
la	е	m	CI 1	[]	21	δ.

Date

Please indicate how often the following 36 statements apply to you by writing the appropriate number from the scale above (1-5) in the box alongside each item.

1	I am clear about my feelings (R)	
2	I pay attention to how I feel (R)	
3	I experience my emotions as overwhelming and out of control	
4	I have no idea how I am feeling	
5	I have difficulty making sense out of my feelings	
6	I am attentive to my feelings (R)	
7	I know exactly how I am feeling (R)	
8	I care about what I am feeling (R)	
9	I am confused about how I feel	
10	When I'm upset, I acknowledge my emotions (R)	
11	When I'm upset, I become angry with myself for feeling that way	
12	When I'm upset, I become embarrassed for feeling that way	

	1 Almost never (0-10%)	2 Sometimes (1 1- 3 5%)	3 About half the time (36-65%)	4 Most of the time (66-90%)	5 Almost always (91-100%)
28	When I'm upse	et, I believe that t	here is nothing I can	do to make myself	feel better
29	When I'm upse	et, I become irrita	ited with myself for f	eeling that way	
30	When I'm upse	et, I start to feel v	ery bad about mysel	f	
31	31 When I'm upset, I believe that wallowing in it is all I can do				
32	When I'm upse	et, i lose control c	wer my behaviours		
33	When I'm upse	et, I have difficult	y thinking about any	thing else	
34	When I'm upse	et, I take time to t	igure out what I'm n	eally feeling (R)	
35	When I'm upse	et, it takes me a lo	ong time to feel bette	er	
36	When I'm upse	et, my emotions f	eel overwhelming		
APPENDIX G: PARENTING STRESS INDEX- FOURTH EDITION- SHORT FORM

(PSI-4-SF)

Appendix G: Parenting Stress Index- Fourth Edition- Short Form (PSI-4-SF)



Instructions

This questionnaire contains 36 statements. Read each statement carefully. For each statement, please focus i on the child you are most concerned about, and circle the response that best represents your opinion.

Circle the SA if you strongly agree with the statement.

Circle the A if you agree with the statement.

Circle the NS if you are not sure;

Circle the D if you disagree with the statement.

Circle the SD if you strongly disagree with the statement.

For example, if you sometimes enjoy going to the movies, you would circle A in response to the following statement:

I enjoy going to the movies.

SA \land NS D SD

While you may not find a response that exactly states your feelings, please circle the response that comes closest to describing how you feel. YOUR FIRST REACTION TO EACH QUESTION SHOULD BE YOUR ANSWER.

Circle only one response for each statement, and respond to all statements. **DO NOT ERASE!** If you need to change an answer, make an "X" through the incorrect answer and circle the correct response. For example:

I enjoy going to the movies.

SA A NS (X) (SD)

Before responding to the statements, write your name, gender, date of birth, ethnic group, marital status, child's name, child's gender, child's date of birth, and today's date in the spaces at the top of the questionnaire.

mas name			Child's gender	Child's date of bir	th	To	day's dat	e <u>.</u>	
SA = Strongly #	Agrec	A = Agree	NS = Not Sure	D = Disagree	SÐ	= Stron	ıgly Disa	gree	٦
. I often have the f	feeling that is	cannot handle	things very well.		 	ŚÁ.	A NS	D	S
2. I find myself givi	ng un more o	ť my life to me	eet my children's needs ti	han I ever expected.		SA	A NS	· D	́ S
 I feel trapped by 	my responsib	oilitiés as a par	renf.			SA ·	A NS	Đ	S
I. Since having this	child, I have	been unable t	o do new and different th	hings.		SA	A NS	Ď	S
Since having a cl	hild. I feel tha	t lam almost i	never able to do things th	hat Llike to do		SA	A NS	Ð	. 8
. Tam unhanny wi	th the last on	rebase of cloth	ning I made for myself.			SA	A: NS		j.
There are quite a	few things th	hat bother me	about my life			SA	A NS	Ξ.	
4. Having a child ha (or male/female)	is caused no friend)	re problems th	an I expected in my rela	tionship with my spo	use	SA	A NS	Ъ	
. I feel alone and s	nithout friend	ła				SA	A NS	ň	
) When Íoto to o ne	arty Locusity	expect not to	eniov moself			SA	A NO.	័ត	· .
I am not se inter	actorin nacro	la de Ependito	ha			SA.	V MG	n	
f don't and the	estett in peop.	ie aan useu to	ue.	an a	•	юл. с.к. ^с	A NO	ч. ч.	
. Toon cerloy tam	igs as i used i	u ·				эл ·	a po	. 17	
My child rarely d	loes things for	r me that mala	e me feel good.	1. S.		SA	A NS	D	
. Sometimes I feel	my child doe	sn't like me ar	nd doesn't want to be clo	se to me.		SA	Á NS	D.	
My child sniles a	at me much le	ess than I expe	cted.	•		SA	A NS	D	
When I do things	for my child.	I get the feeling	ng that my efforts are no	t appreciated very m	uch:	ŚĂ	A NS	D	
When playing m	v child doesn	't often vigele.	or langh			QA	A NG	 D"	
				-		3105	2A 1911		
My child doesn't	seem to lear	n as quickly as	most children	· · ·		SA	A NS	Ð	1
My child doesn't. My child doesn't	seem to learn	n as quickly as e as much as n	most children. nost children.	· · · ·		SA SA	A NS A NS	D D	1
 My child doesn't My child doesn't My child is not al 	seem to lear seem to snale ble to do as n	n as quickly as e as much as n uch as Lexped	nost children, nost children, tost children. tred			SA SA SA	A NS A NS A NS	D D D D	1
 My child doesn't My child doesn't My child is not al It takes a long tir 	seem to lear seem to snile ble to do as n ne and it is ve	n as quickly as e as much as n nuch as I expect erv hard for un	nost children, tost children, tost children, cted. v child to get used to nev	v things.		SA SA SA SA	A NS A NS A NS A NS	D D D D	1
 My child doesn't My child doesn't My child is not al It takes a long tir 	seem to lear seem to snild ble to do as n ne and it is ve	n as quickly as e as much as n nuch as I expect ery hard for un	most children, nost children, teted. y child to get used to nev	w things.		SA SA SA SA SA	A NS A NS A NS A NS A NS	D U D D	1 2 2
 My child doesn't My child doesn't My child is not al It takes a long tir 	seem to learn seem to snail ble to do as n ne and it is ve	n as quickly as e as much as n nuch as I expec ery hard for my	most children, nost children, nost children, cted. y child to get used to nev	r things.		SA SA SA SA SA	A NS A NS A NS A NS A NS	D D D D	
My child doesn't My child doesn't My child is not al It takes a long tir	seem to learr seem to snaid ble to do as n ne and it is ve	n as quickly as e as much as n nuch as I expec ery hard for my	most children, nost children, nost children, cted. y child to get used to nev	v things.		SA SA SA SA	A NS A NS A NS A NS A NS	D D D D	re re re
 My child doesn't My child doesn't My child is not al It takes a long tir 	seem to learn seem to snill ble to do as n ue and it is ve	n as quickly as e as much as n nuch as I expec ery hard for my	most children, nost children, cted. y child to get used to nev	v things.		SA SA SA SA SA	A NS A NS A NS A NS	D D D D	:
My child doesn't My child doesn't My child is not al It takes a long tir	seem to learn seem to snaile ble to do as ri ue and it is ve	n as quickly as e as much as π nuch as I expec ery hard for un	nost children, tost children, tost children, cted. y child to get used to nev	w things.		SA SA SA SA SA	A NS A NS A NS A NS	D D D D	:
My child doesn't My child doesn't My child is not al It takes a long tir	seem to learr seem to snale ble to do as n ne and it is ve	n as quickly as e as much as π nuch as I expec ery hard for un	most children, aost children, aost children, cted. y child to get used to nev	v things.		SA SA SA SA SA	A NS A NS A NS A NS		
My child doesn't My child doesn't My child is not al It takes a long tir	seem to learr seem to smile ble to do as ri ne and it is ve	n as quickly as e as much as n nuch as I expedery hard for un	most children, nost children, tost children, eted. y child to get used to nev	v things.		SA SA SA SA	A NS A NS A NS A NS		
My child doesn't My child doesn't My child is not al It takes a long tir	seem to learr seem to smile ble to do as n ne and it is ve	n as quickly as e as much as n nuch as I expected ery hard for un	most children, nost children, eted. y child to get used to nev	w things.		SA SA SA SA	A NS A NS A NS A NS		
My child doesn't My child doesn't My child is not al It takes a long tir	seem to learr seem to smile ble to do as ri ne and it is ve	n as quickly as e as much as n nuch as I expec ery hard for un	nost children, nost children, ost children, cted. y child to get used to nev	w things.		SA SA SA SA	A NS A NS A NS A NS		
My child doesn't My child doesn't My child is not al It takes a long tir	seem to lear seem to smile ble to do as n ne and it is ve	h as quickly as e as much as n nuch as I expec ery hard for my	nost children, nost children, ctcd. y child to get used to nev	w things.		SA SA SA SA	A NS A NS A NS A NS		
My child doesn't My child doesn't My child is not al It takes a long tir	seem to lear seem to snile ble to do as n ne and it is ve	h as quickly as e as much as n nuch as I expec ery hard for my	nost children, nost children, eted. y child to get used to nev	w things.		SA SA SA SA SA	A NS A NS A NS A NS		
My child doesn't My child doesn't My child is not a It takes a long tir	seem to lear seem to snail ble to do as n ne and it is ve	n as quickly as e as much as n nuch as I expec ery hard for my	nost children, nost children, cted. y child to get used to nev	r things.		SA SA SA SA SA	A NS A NS A NS A NS		
My child doesn't My child doesn't My child is not al It takes a long tir	seem to lear seem to snaid ble to do as n ne and it is ve	n as quickly as e as much as n nuch as I expec ery hard for my	nost children, nost children, cted. y child to get used to nev	r things.		SA SA SA SA SA	A NS A NS A NS A NS		
My child doesn't My child doesn't My child is not al It takes a long tir	seem to lear seem to snill ble to do as n ne and it is ve	n as quickly as e as much as n nuch as I expec ery hard for my	nost children, nost children, cted. y child to get used to nev	v things.		SA SA SA SA SA	A NS A NS A NS A NS		
My child doesn't My child doesn't My child is not al It takes a long tir	seem to lear seem to snaib ble to do as n ue and it is ve	as quickly as e as much as π nuch as I expee ery hard for un	most children, nost children, cted. y child to get used to nev	v things.		SA SA SA SA SA	A NS A NS A NS A NS		
My child doesn't My child doesn't My child is not al It takes a long tir	seem to lear seem to snaib ble to do as n ue and it is ve	as quickly as e as much as π nuch as I expee ery hard for un	nost children, nost children, cted. y child to get used to nev	v things.		SA SA SA SA	A NS A NS A NS A NS		
My child doesn't My child doesn't My child is not al It takes a long tir	seem to lear seem to snaib ble to do as r ue and it is ve	as quickly as e as much as π nuch as I exper ery hard for un	nost children, nost children, cted. y child to get used to nev	v things.		SA SA SA SA	A NS A NS A NS A NS		
My child doesn't My child doesn't My child is not al It takes a long tir	seem to lear seem to snaib ble to do as r ue and it is ve	as quickly as e as much as π nuch as I expec ery hard for un	nost children, nost children, cted. y child to get used to nev	v things.		SA SA SA SA SA	A NS A NS A NS A NS		
My child doesn't My child doesn't My child is not al It takes a long tr	seem to lear seem to snaib ble to do as r ue and it is ve	as quickly as e as much as π nuch as I expec ery hard for un	nost children, nost children, ost children, cted. y child to get used to nev	w things.		SA SA SA SA	A NS A NS A NS A NS		
My child doesn't My child doesn't My child is not al It takes a long tir	seem to lear seem to snaib ble to do as ri ne and it is ve	as quickly as e as much as π nuch as I expec ery hard for un	nost children, nost children, eted. y child to get used to nev	w things.		SA SA SA SA SA	A NS A NS A NS A NS		

	For 6	the next statement, choose your response from the choices "1" to "5" below, $1 - 1 = 1$ and $1 = 1$ and $1 = 1$ and $1 = 1$ and $1 = 1$.	: f	:,	3	4	5.	
•	44.	2 a person who has some frouble being a parent	•	<u>.</u>		•	· Č.	
		3. an average parent				•	• •	
		4. a better than average parent		•		•		
	•	a very good parent						
	23.	I expected to have closer and warmer feelings for my child than I do and this bothers me.	SA	Α	NS	D	SD	
	24.	Sometimes my child does things that bother me just to be mean.	\$A	A	NS	D	SD	
	25.	My child seems to any or fuss more often than most children.	SA	A	NS	D	.SD	
	26.	My child generally wakes up in a bad mood	SA	A	NS	D	SD	
	27.	I feel that my child is very moody and easily upset.	SA	A	NS	D	SD.	
	28.	My child does a few things which bother me a great deal.	SA	А	NS	D.	SD	
	29.	My child reacts very strongly when something happens that my child doesn't like.	SA	Α	NS	Ð	SD	
	30.	My child gets upset easily over the smallest thing.	SA	A	NS	D	SD	
	31,	My child's sleeping or eating schedule was much harder to establish than I expected.	SA	A	NS	D	SD.	·
	Fort	the next statement, choose your response from the choices "1" to "5" below.						
	32.	Thave found that getting my child to do something or stop doing something is:	1	- 2	3	4	5	
		1. much harder than I expected						
•		2. somewhat harder than I expected		•	• .			
		 about as naru as r expected somewhat easier than I expected 			· 			
		5. much easier than I expected						
					· .		· · ·	
	Fort	the next statement, choose your response from the choices "10+" to "1-3."			67	4 5	. 10	
	33.	Think carefully and count the number of things which your child does that bother you.	105	0-9	. 0-7	4-9	1-0	
	à.	For example: dawdles, refuses to listen, overactive, cries, interrupts, ngnts, whites, cic.	CA.		ME	'n	60	
	34. 97	There are some things my child does that really bounce me a lot.	-DA CA	A A	- MO	D D	en.	
	3ə.	my child durned out to be more of a problem than I had expected.	DA.	A.	GNL	и Б	- co	
	36.	My child makes more domands on me than most children.	SA	A	. NS	D.	5D	

PAR Psychological Assessment Resources, Inc. • 16204 N. Florida Avenue • Lutz, FL 33549 • 1.800.331.8378 • www.parinc.com

Copyright © 1995 by Psychological Assessment Resources, Inc. All rights reserved. May not be reproduced in whole or in part in any form or by any means without written permission of Fsychological Assessment Resources, Inc. This form is printed in blue ink on carbonless paper. Any other version is unauthorized. Reorder #RO-3095

I

Printed in the U.S.A.

ý

APPENDIX H: HASSLES SCALE (HS)

THE HASSLES SCALE

<u>Directions</u>: Hassles are irritants that can range from minor annoyances to fairly major pressures, problems, or difficulties. They can occur few or many times.

Listed in the center of the following pages are a number of ways in which a person can feel basaled. First, circle the basales that have happened to you <u>in the past month</u>. Then look at the numbers on the right of the items you circled. Indicate by circling a 1, 2, or 3 how SEVERE each of the <u>circled</u>. basales has been for you in the past month. If a basale did not occur in the last month do NOT circle it.

			SEVER	ITY			•			
	· · · 1	1.	Somewhat	severe						
	HASSLES	2.,	Moderate	ly seve	re					
		3.	Extreme1	y sever	6				•	
	· · · · ·			•		. ·	•		. '	
(1)	Misplacing or losing things		1	2	3					
(2)	Troublesome ngighbors		1	2	3					
(3)	Social obligations		1	2 .	3					
(4)	Inconsiderate smokars		1	2	3					
(5)	Troubling thoughts about your future ,		1	2	3					
(6)	Thoughts about death		1	2	3				• •	
(7)	Health of a family member		1	2	З					
(8)	Not enough money for clothing	•	1	2	3		·			
(9)	Not enough money for housing		. 1	2	3					
(10)	Concerns about owing money		1	2	3		•			
(11)	Concerns about getting credit		1	2	3					
(12)	Concerns about money for emergencies		1	2.	3	•				•
								•		

Kanner, Coyne, Scheefer, and Lazarus

			SEVERITY	2	•	
		1.	Somewhat se	evere		
	HASSLES	2.	Moderately	severe		
		э.	Extremely e	evere.		
(36)	Not enough money for food ,		1 2	. 3		
(37)	Too many interruptions	•	1 2	Э		
(38)	Unexpected company	•	1 2	3		5
(39)	Too much time on bands	•	1 2	3		
(40)	Having to wait	•	1 2	3		
(41)	Concerns about accidents		1 2	3	· ·	
(42)	Being lonely	• .	1 2	3		
(43)	Not enough money for health care	•	1 2	3		
(44)	Fear of confrontation ,	-	1 2	· 3		
(45)	Financial security	•	1 2	3		
(46)	Silly practical mistakes		1 2	ĩ		
(47)	Inability to express yourself		1 2	3	•	
(48)	Physical illness ,		1 2	3		
(49)	Stue effects of medication	-	I. 2	3		
(50)	Concerns about medical treatment		1 . 2	3		
(51)	Physical appearance		1 2	3		
(52)	Fear of rejection		J 2	3 ·		
(53)	Difficulties with getting pregnant		1 2	3		
(54)	Sexual problems that result from					
	physical problems		1 2	្ទ		
(55)	Sexual problems other than those			· .		
	resulting from physical problems		1 2	. 3		
(56)	Concerns about health in general		1 2	3		

λ.

	Hassle	s and Uplifts vs. Major Life Events				27				
	HASSL	35 SCALE				·				
				5	SEVER!TY					
			1.	Some	ewhat sev	vere				
		HASSLES	2.	Mode	erately s	severe	•			
		· · ·	3.	Exti	remely so	were				
					5		•			
	(57)	Not seeing enough people		2	4					
	(58)	Friends or relatives too far away		L	2	2				
	(59)	Preparing meals	•	1	2	.5				
	(60)	Wasting time		I	2	3				
	(61)	Auto maintenance		1	2	3				
	(62)	Filling out forms		1	2	3.				
	(63)	Neighbothood deterioration		1	2	3				
	(64)	Financing children's education		1	2	Ε				
	(65)	Problems with employees		T	2	3				
	(66)	Problems on job due to being a woman or man		1	2	Ē			•	
	(57)	Declining physical abilities		1	2	3				
	(68)	Being exploited		3.	2	3				
	(69)	Concerns about bodily functions		1	2	3 ·	:	•		:
•	(70)	Rising prices of compon goods		1	. 2	3		÷		
	(71)	Not getting enough rest		1	. 2	3				•
	(72)	Not getting enough sleep		1	2	· · 3				
	(73)	Problems with aging parents		1	2.	3				
	(74)	Problems with your children		1.	2	3				
	(75)	Problems with persons younger than yourself		1	2	3				
	(76)	Problems with your lover		บ่	2	3			·	
	(77)	Difficulties seeing or hearing] .	2	3				
	(78)	OverJoaded with family responsibilities		1	2	3	• •		 	
	(79)	Too many things to do		1	2	3				

Kanner, Coyne, Schaefer, and Lazarus

:

HASSI	LES SCALE					
			SEVERI	TY		
		1.	Somewhat	severe		
	HASSLES	2.	Moderatel	y séver	e	
		з.	Extremely	severe		•
(80)	Unchallenging work		1 2	ļ	3	
(81)	Concerns about meeting high standards		1 2	· · · ·	3	.:
(82)	Financial dealings with friends or acquaintances .		1 2		з.	•
(83)	Job dissatisfactions		1 2	ļ	3	•
(84)	Worries about decisions to change jobs		1 2		3	• •
(85)	Trouble with reading, writing, or					
	spalling abilities		1 2	L	3.	
(86)	Too many meetings		1 2	l.	3	
(87)	Problems with divorce or separation		1 2	!	з .	
(88)	Trouble with arithmetic skills		1 2	:	3	
(89)	Gossip		1 2	!	3	· · ·
(90)	Legal problems		1 2	2	з .	
(91)	Concerns about weight		1 2	2	3	
(92)	Not enough time to do the things you need to do		1 2	2	3	
(93)	Television		1 2	2 [°]	3	
(94)	Not enough personal energy		1 2	2	3	
(95)	Concerns about inner conflicts		4 2	2	Э	
(96)	Feel conflicted over what to do		1 3	5	3	
(97)	Regrets over past decisions		1 :	2	3	
(98)	Menstrual (pariod) problems		1	2 .	3	
(99)	The weather		ı i	2	3	
(100)	Nightmaras		1 3	2	3	
(10 1)	Concerns about getting abead		1	2.	÷3	

Hassles and Uplifts vs. Major Life Events

۰.

			SI	WER!	TTY.			•
		1,	Some	hat	sev	ere		:
	HASSLES	2.	Node	ratel	ly a	evere		
		3.	Extr	enely	7 ee	vere		
(102)	Rassles from boss or supervisor		1.	:	2	3		
(103)	Difficulties with friends		1	;	2	. 3	•	
(104)	Not enough time for family		l	:	2	3		
(105)	Transportation problems		3.	1	2	- 3		
(106)	Not enough money for transportation		1	:	2	3		
(107)	Not enough money for entertainment							
	and recreation		1	1	2	3 -		
(108)	Shopping		1	:	2	3.		
(109)	Prejudice and discrimination from others		L	;	2	3		
(110)	Property, investments or taxes	•	1 ·		2	3		
(111)	Not enough time for entertainment							
	and recreation		I		2	3		
(112)	Yardwork or outside home maintenance		1		2	3		
(113)	Concerns about news events		1		2	3		
(114)	Noise		1.		2	3		
(115)	Crime		1		2	3		
(116)	Traffic		1		2	3.		
(117)	Pollution		1		2	3	•	
	HAVE WE MISSED ANY OF YOUR HASSLES? IF 50, WRITE	•						
	THEN IN BELOW:							
(118)			1		2 ·	3		
	ONE MORE THING: HAS THERE BEEN A CRANGE IN YOUR							
	LIFE THAT AFFECTED HOW YOU ANSWERED THIS SCALE?							
	TF SG. TELL US WHAT IT WAS:					÷ .		

.

APPENDIX I: WAYS OF COPING QUESTIONNAIRE (WOC)

Appendix I: Ways Of Coping Questionnaire (WOC)

WAYS OF COPING (Revised)

Please read each item below and indicate, by using the following rating scale, to what extent you used it in the situation you have just described.

Not Used	Used S om cwhat	Used Quite A Bit	Used A great deal
0	1	2	3
1. Just cond	centrated on what I had to d	o next – the next step.	
2. I tried to	analyze the problem in or	ler to understand it better.	
3. Turned t	o work or substitute activity	y to take my mind off things	i.
4. I felt that	t time would make a differe	nce – the only thing to do w	vas to wait.
5. Bargaine	ed or compromised to get so	omething positive from the s	situation.
6. I did son	nething which I didn't think	would work, but at least I	was doing something.
7. Tried to	get the person responsible t	o change his or her mind.	
8. Talked to	o someone to find out more	about the situation.	
9. Criticize	d or lectured myself.		
10. Tried no	ot to burn my bridges, but le	eave things open somewhat.	
11. Hoped a	a miracle would happen.		
12. Went al	ong with fate; sometimes I	just have bad luck.	
13. Went or	as if nothing had happene	d.	
14. I tried to	keep my feelings to mysel	f.	
15. Looked	for the silver lining, so to s	peak; tried to look on the br	ight side of things.
16. Slept m	ore than usual.		
17. I expres	sed anger to the person(s) v	vho caused the problem.	
18. Accepte	d sympathy and understand	ling from someone.	

Not	Used	Used	Used
Used	Somewhat	Quite A Bit	A great deal
0	1	2	3

- 19. I told myself things that helped me to feel better.
- _____ 20. I was inspired to do something creative.
- _____21. Tried to forget the whole thing.
- 22. I got professional help.
- 23. Changed or grew as a person in a good way.
- 24. I waited to see what would happen before doing anything.
- 25. I apologized or did something to make up.
- 26. I made a plan of action and followed it.
 - 27. I accepted the next best thing to what I wanted.
- 28. I let my feelings out somehow.
- 29. Realized I brought the problem on myself.
- 30. I came out of the experience better than when I went in.
- 31. Talked to someone who could do something concrete about the problem.
- 32. Got away from it for a while; tried to rest or take a vacation.
- 33. Tried to make myself feel better by eating, drinking, smoking, using drugs or medication, etc.
- 34. Took a big chance or did something very risky.
- 35. I tried not to act too hastily or follow my first hunch.
- 36. Found new faith.
- 37. Maintained my pride and kept a stiff upper lip.
 - 38. Rediscovered what is important in life.

Not	Used	Used	Used
Used	Somewhat	Quite A Bit	A great deal
0	1	2	3

- 39. Changed something so things would turn out all right.
- 40. Avoided being with people in general.
- 41. Didn't let it get to me; refused to think too much about it.
- 42. I asked a relative or friend I respected for advice.
- 43. Kept others from knowing how bad things were.
- 44. Made light of the situation; refused to get too serious about it.
- 45. Talked to someone about how I was feeling.
- 46. Stood my ground and fought for what I wanted.
- 47. Took it out on other people.
- 48. Drew on my past experiences; I was in a similar situation before.
- 49. I knew what had to be done, so I doubled my efforts to make things work.
- 50. Refused to believe that it had happened.
- 51. I made a promise to myself that things would be different next time.
- 52. Came up with a couple of different solutions to the problem.
- 53. Accepted it, since nothing could be done.
- 54. I tried to keep my feelings from interfering with other things too much.
- 55. Wished that I could change what had happened or how I felt.
- 56. I changed something about myself.
- 57. I daydreamed or imagined a better time or place than the one I was in.
- 58. Wished that the situation would go away or somehow be over with.
- 59. Had fantasies or wishes about how things might turn out.

Not	Used	Used	Used
Used	Somewhat	Quite A Bit	A great deal
0	1	2	3
60. I prayed	L.		
61. I prepar	ed myself for the worst.		
62. I went of	wer in my mind what I wou	ld say or do.	
63. I though as a mod	nt about how a person I adm le1.	ire would handle this situa	tion and used that
64. I tried to	o see things from the other p	person's point of view.	
65. I remine	led myself how much wors	e things could be.	
66. I jogged	l or exercised.		

APPENDIX J: DIMENSIONS OF TEMPERAMENT- REVISED FOR CHILDREN

(DOTS-R CHILD)

Appendix J: Dimensions Of Temperament- Revised For Children (Dots-R Child)

HOW TO ANSWER: On the following pages are some statements about how children like your own may behave. Some of the statements may be true of your child's behavior, and others may not apply to him or her. For each statement, we would like you to indicate if the statement is usually true of your child, is more true than false of your child, is more false than true of your child, or is usually false of your child. There are no "right" or "wrong" answers because all children behave in different ways. All you have to do is answer what is true or false for your child as well as how important this behavior is to you.

For each statement, select $\underline{0}$ if the statement is <u>usually false</u> of your child, $\underline{1}$ if the statement is <u>more false than true</u> of your child, $\underline{2}$ if the statement is <u>more true than false</u> of your child, or $\underline{3}$ if the statement is <u>usually true</u> of your child.

Next, rate how important each behavior is to you. Select $\underline{0}$ if it is a behavior that it <u>not</u> <u>important to you at all</u>, $\underline{1}$ if it is a behavior that is <u>somewhat important to you</u>, or $\underline{2}$ if it is a behavior that is <u>very important to you</u>.

1 It takes my child a long time to get used to a ne	ew thing in the home.
0 = usually FALSE	0 = NOT important
1 = more FALSE than true	1 = SOMETIMES important
2 = more TRUE than false	2 = VERY important
3 = usually TRUE	1 I
2 My child can't stay still for long.	
0 = usually FALSE	0 = NOT important
1 = more FALSE than true	1 = SOMETIMES important
2 = more TRUE than false	2 = VERY important
3 = usually TRUE	_
3 My child laughs and smiles at a lot of things.	
0 = usually FALSE	0 = NOT important
1 = more FALSE than true	1 = SOMETIMES important
2 = more TRUE than false	2 = VERY important
3 = usually TRUE	_
4 My child wakes up at different times.	
0 = usually FALSE	0 = NOT important
1 = more FALSE than true	1 = SOMETIMES important
2 = more TRUE than false	2 = VERY important
3 = usually TRUE	-
5 Once my child is involved in a task, nothing ca	In distract him or her from it.
0 = usually FALSE	0 = NOT important
1 = more FALSE than true	1 = SOMETIMES important
2 = more TRUE than false	2 = VERY important
3 = usually TRUE	-
6 My child persists at a task until it's finished.	
0 = usually FALSE	0 = NOT important
1 = more FALSE than true	1 = SOMETIMES important
2 = more TRUE than false	2 = VERY important
3 = usually TRUE	-

7. ____ My child moves around a lot. 0 = usually FALSE0 = NOT important 1 = more FALSE than true 1 = SOMETIMES important 2 = more TRUE than false 2 = VERY important 3 = usually TRUE8. ____ My child can make him/herself at home anywhere. 0 = usually FALSE0 = NOT important 1 = more FALSE than true 1 = SOMETIMES important 2 = more TRUE than false 2 = VERY important 3 = usually TRUE9. ___ My child can always be distracted by something else, no matter what he or she may be doing. 0 = usually FALSE0 = NOT important 1 = more FALSE than true 1 = SOMETIMES important 2 = more TRUE than false 2 = VERY important 3 = usually TRUE 10. ____ My child stays with an activity for a long time. 0 = usually FALSE0 = NOT important 1 =more FALSE than true 1 = SOMETIMES important 2 = more TRUE than false 2 = VERY important 3 = usually TRUE11. ____ If my child has to stay in one place for a long time, he/she gets very restless. 0 = usually FALSE0 = NOT important 1 = SOMETIMES important 1 = more FALSE than true 2 = VERY important 2 = more TRUE than false 3 = usually TRUE 12. ___ My child usually moves toward new objects shown to him/her. 0 = usually FALSE0 = NOT important 1 = more FALSE than true1 = SOMETIMES important 2 = more TRUE than false 2 = VERY important 3 = usually TRUE13. ____ It takes my child a long time to adjust to new schedules. 0 = usually FALSE 0 = NOT important 1 =more FALSE than true 1 = SOMETIMES important 2 = more TRUE than false 2 = VERY important 3 = usually TRUE14. ____ My child does not laugh or smile at many things. 0 = usually FALSE0 = NOT important 1 = SOMETIMES important 1 = more FALSE than true2 = VERY important 2 = more TRUE than false 3 = usually TRUE15. ____ If my child is doing one thing, something else occurring won't get him/her to stop. 0 = usually FALSE0 = NOT important 1 = more FALSE than true 1 = SOMETIMES important 2 = more TRUE than false 2 = VERY important 3 = usually TRUE

16. ___ My child eats about the same amount for dinner whether he/she is home, visiting someone, or traveling. 0 = usually FALSE0 = NOT important 1 = SOMETIMES important 1 = more FALSE than true2 = more TRUE than false 2 = VERY important 3 = usually TRUE17. ___ My child's first reaction is to reject something new or unfamiliar to him/her. 0 = usually FALSE0 = NOT important 1 = more FALSE than true 1 = SOMETIMES important 2 = more TRUE than false 2 = VERY important 3 = usually TRUE18. ___ Changes in plans make my child restless. 0 = usually FALSE0 = NOT important 1 = more FALSE than true 1 = SOMETIMES important 2 = more TRUE than false 2 = VERY important 3 = usually TRUE 19. ____ My child often stays still for long periods of time. 0 = usually FALSE0 = NOT important 1 =more FALSE than true 1 = SOMETIMES important 2 = more TRUE than false 2 = VERY important 3 = usually TRUE20. ___ Things going on around my child can not take him/her away from what he/she is doing. 0 = usually FALSE0 = NOT important 1 = more FALSE than true1 = SOMETIMES important 2 = VERY important 2 = more TRUE than false 3 = usually TRUE 21. ____ My child takes a nap, rest, or break at the same time every day. 0 = usually FALSE0 = NOT important 1 = more FALSE than true1 = SOMETIMES important 2 = more TRUE than false 2 = VERY important 3 = usually TRUE22. ___ Once my child takes something up, he/she stays with it. 0 = usually FALSE0 = NOT important 1 =more FALSE than true 1 = SOMETIMES important 2 = more TRUE than false 2 = VERY important 3 = usually TRUE23. ___ Even when my child is supposed to be still, he/she gets very fidgety after a few minutes. 0 = usually FALSE0 = NOT important 1 = SOMETIMES important 1 = more FALSE than true2 = VERY important 2 = more TRUE than false 3 = usually TRUE24. ____ My child is hard to distract. 0 = usually FALSE0 = NOT important 1 = more FALSE than true 1 = SOMETIMES important 2 = more TRUE than false 2 = VERY important 3 = usually TRUE

25. ___ My child usually gets the same amount of sleep each night. 0 = usually FALSE0 = NOT important 1 = more FALSE than true1 = SOMETIMES important 2 = more TRUE than false 2 = VERY important 3 = usually TRUE26. ___ On meeting a new person my child tends to move toward him or her. 0 = usually FALSE 0 = NOT important 1 = more FALSE than true 1 = SOMETIMES important 2 = more TRUE than false 2 = VERY important 3 = usually TRUE27. ____ My child gets hungry about the same time each day. 0 = usually FALSE0 = NOT important 1 = more FALSE than true 1 = SOMETIMES important 2 = more TRUE than false 2 = VERY important 3 = usually TRUE28. ___ My child smiles often. 0 = usually FALSE0 = NOT important 1 = more FALSE than true 1 = SOMETIMES important 2 = more TRUE than false 2 = VERY important 3 = usually TRUE29. ____ My child never seems to stop moving. 0 = usually FALSE 0 = NOT important 1 = more FALSE than true 1 = SOMETIMES important 2 = more TRUE than false 2 = VERY important 3 = usually TRUE 30. ____ It takes my child no time at all to get used to new people. 0 = usually FALSE0 = NOT important 1 = more FALSE than true 1 = SOMETIMES important 2 = more TRUE than false 2 = VERY important 3 = usually TRUE31. ____ My child usually eats the same amount each day. 0 = usually FALSE0 = NOT important 1 = more FALSE than true 1 = SOMETIMES important 2 = more TRUE than false 2 = VERY important 3 = usually TRUE32. ____ My child moves a great deal in his/her sleep. 0 = usually FALSE0 = NOT important 1 = more FALSE than true 1 = SOMETIMES important 2 = more TRUE than false 2 = VERY important 3 = usually TRUE33. ___ My child seems to get sleepy just about the same time every night. 0 = usually FALSE0 = NOT important 1 = more FALSE than true1 = SOMETIMES important 2 = more TRUE than false 2 = VERY important 3 = usually TRUE

34 I do not find my child laughing often.	
0 = usually FALSE	0 = NOT important
1 = more FALSE than true	1 = SOMETIMES important
2 = more TRUE than false	2 = VERY important
3 = usually TRUE	
35 My child moves toward new situations.	
0 = usually FALSE	0 = NOT important
1 = more FALSE than true	1 = SOMETIMES important
2 = more TRUE than false	2 = VERY important
3 = usually TRUE	1 I
•	
36 When My child is away from home he/she still	wakes up at the same time each morning.
0 = usually FALSE	0 = NOT important
1 = more FALSE than true	1 = SOMETIMES important
2 = more TRUE than false	2 = VERY important
3 = usually TRUE	1 I
•	
37. My child eats about the same amount at breakf	ast from day to day.
0 = usually FALSE	0 = NOT important
1 = more FALSE than true	1 = SOMETIMES important
2 = more TRUE than false	2 = VERY important
3 = usually TRUE	
38. My child moves a lot in bed.	
0 = usually FALSE	0 = NOT important
1 = more FALSE than true	1 = SOMETIMES important
2 = more TRUE than false	2 = VERY important
3 = usually TRUE	
5	
39. My child feels full of pep and energy at the sar	ne time each day.
0 = usually FALSE	0 = NOT important
1 = more FALSE than true	1 = SOMETIMES important
2 = more TRUE than false	2 = VERY important
3 = usually TRUE	
40. My child has bowel movements at about the sa	me time each day.
0 = usually FALSE	0 = NOT important
1 = more FALSE than true	1 = SOMETIMES important
2 = more TRUE than false	2 = VERY important
3 = usually TRUE	
41. No matter when my child goes to sleep, he/she	wakes up at the same time the next morning.
0 = usually FALSE	0 = NOT important
1 = more FALSE than true	1 = SOMETIMES important
2 = more TRUE than false	2 = VERY important
3 = usually TRUE	2 (Eler important
42. In the morning, my child is still in the same pla	ace as he/she was when he/she fell asleen.
0 = usually FALSE	0 = NOT important
1 = more FALSE than true	1 = SOMETIMES important
2 = more TRUE than false	2 = VERY important
3 – usually TRUE	

43. ___ My child eats about the same amount at supper from day to day. 0 = usually FALSE0 = NOT important 1 = more FALSE than true 1 = SOMETIMES important 2 = more TRUE than false 2 = VERY important 3 = usually TRUE44. ___ When things are out of place, it takes my child a long time to get used to it. 0 = usually FALSE0 = NOT important 1 = more FALSE than true 1 = SOMETIMES important 2 = more TRUE than false 2 = VERY important 3 = usually TRUE45. ___ My child wakes up at the same time on weekends and holidays as on other days of the week. 0 = usually FALSE0 = NOT important 1 = more FALSE than true 1 = SOMETIMES important 2 = more TRUE than false 2 = VERY important 3 = usually TRUE 46. ___ My child doesn't move around much at all in his/her sleep. 0 = usually FALSE0 = NOT important 1 =more FALSE than true 1 = SOMETIMES important 2 = more TRUE than false 2 = VERY important 3 = usually TRUE47. ___ My child's appetite seems to stay the same day after day. 0 = usually FALSE0 = NOT important 1 = more FALSE than true 1 = SOMETIMES important 2 = VERY important 2 = more TRUE than false 3 = usually TRUE 48. ____ My child's mood is generally cheerful. 0 = usually FALSE0 = NOT important 1 = more FALSE than true 1 = SOMETIMES important 2 = more TRUE than false 2 = VERY important 3 = usually TRUE49. ____ My child resists changes in routine. 0 = usually FALSE0 = NOT important 1 = more FALSE than true 1 = SOMETIMES important 2 = more TRUE than false 2 = VERY important 3 = usually TRUE50. ___ My child laughs several times a day. 0 = usually FALSE0 = NOT important 1 = more FALSE than true 1 = SOMETIMES important 2 = more TRUE than false 2 = VERY important 3 = usually TRUE51. ___ My child's first response to anything new is to move his or her head toward it. 0 = usually FALSE0 = NOT important 1 = more FALSE than true 1 = SOMETIMES important 2 = more TRUE than false 2 = VERY important 3 = usually TRUE

52. ____ Generally, my child is happy.
0 = usually FALSE
1 = more FALSE than true
2 = more TRUE than false
3 = usually TRUE

0 = NOT important 1 = SOMETIMES important 2 = VERY important

53. ___ The number of times my child has a bowel movement on any day varies from day to day.0 = usually FALSE0 = NOT important1 = more FALSE than true1 = SOMETIMES important

3 = usually TRUE

2 = more TRUE than false

1 = SOMETIMES importa 2 = VERY important

54. _ _ My child never seems to be in the same place for long.0 = usually FALSE0 = NOT important1 = more FALSE than true1 = SOMETIMES important2 = more TRUE than false2 = VERY important3 = usually TRUE1

APPENDIX K: CHILD ABUSE POTENTIAL INVENTORY (CAP)

Appendix K: Child Abuse Potential Inventory (CAP)

CAP INVENTORY FORM VI

, Joel S. Milner, Ph.D Copyright 1977, 1982, 1984: Revised Epition 1986 ≢rinted in the Onited States of America

Name:	Date: 1D#:
Age: Gender: Male Female	Marital Status: Sin Mar Sep Div Wid
Race: Black White Hispanic Am. Indian	Number of children in home
Other (specify)	Highest grade completed

INSTRUCTIONS: The following questionnaire includes a series of statements which may be applied to yourself. Read each of the statements and determine if you **AGREE** or **DISAGREE** with the statement. If you agree with a statement, circle **A** for agree. If you disagree with a statement, circle **DA** for disagree. Be honest when giving your answers. Remember to read each statement; it is important not to skip any statement.

			0000	
1.	I never feel sorry for others	A	D٨	
2.	I enjoy having pets	Α·	DA	
З.	I have always been strong and healthy	A	DA	
4.	Hike most people 1	A	. DA	
5.	am a confused person	А	DA	
6.	I do not trust most people	А	DA	
7.	People expect too much from me	А	DA	
8.	Children should never be bad	A	: D/	
9.	I am often mixed up	А	DA	
0.	Spanking that only bruises a child is okay	Ä	DA	
1,	I always try to check on my child when it's crying	А	DA	
2.	I sometimes act without thinking	Α.	DA	
З.	You cannot depend on others	А	D/	
4.	I am a happy person	А	D/	
5.	I like to do things with my family	Ą	Ď٨	
6.	Teenage girls need to be protected	А	¹ .D∕	
7.	I am often angry inside	. A '	DA	
8.	Sometimes feel all alone in the world	A	DA	
9.	Everything in a home should always be in its place	Ά	Dź	
0.	I sometimes worry that I cannot meet the needs of a child	A	· D#	
1.	Knives are dangerous for children	A	D/	
2.	often feel rejected	.:A:	D٧	
З.	I am often lonely inside	А	Đ٨	
4.	Little boys should never learn sissy games	A	Dr	
25.	I often feel very frustrated	Α	D/	

0000

All in glus reserved. No period the bookiet racy baroproduced by any process, alcolomic or machanical, inducine producupying, sudio and/or visual recording, cuplication in an information and represent advances without the written dominant the copyright owner.

			· · · ·
26.	Children should never disobey	А	DA
27.	Llove all children	А	DA
28.	Sometimes I fear that I will lose control of myself	A ·	DA
29.	sometimes wish that my father would have loved me more	A	DA
30.	I have a child who is clumsy	A	DA
31.	I know what is the right and wrong way to act	А	DA
32.	My telephone number is unlisted	А	DA
33	The birth of a child will usually cause problems in a marriage	А	DA
3 <u>4</u>		A	DA
35.	I never worry about my health	A	DA
36.	I sometimes worry that I will not have enough to eat	A	DA
37	I have never wanted to hurt someone else	Α.	DA
38	am an unlucky person	A	DA
20	Lem usually a quiet person	A	DA
40.	Children are pests	A	DA
41	Things have usually gone against me in life	A	DA
42.	Picking up a baby whenever he cries spoils him	A	DA
43.	sometimes am very quiet	A	DA
44.	I sometimes lose my temper	А	DA
45.	I have a child who is bad	Α	DΑ
46.	I sometimes think of myself first	А	DA
47	sometimes feel worthless	A	DA
48	My parents did not really care about me	A	DA
10.	Tan comptimes very sad	A	DA
50.	Children are really little adults	A	DA
÷.,	the second state of the the second state of th	٨	5 .4
51.	I have a child who breaks things	A	DA
52.	Lotten teel worried	Α.	DA
53.	It is okay to let a child stay in dirty diapers for a while	A	DA
54.	A child should never talk back	A	DA
55.	Sometimes my behavior is childish	A	DA
56.	I am often easily upset	A	DA
57.	Sometimes I have bad thoughts	A	DA
58,	Everyone must think of himself first	А	DA:
59.	A crying child will never be happy	А	ĐA
60.	I have never hated another person	A	DA
61,	Children should not learn how to swim	А	DA
62.	l always do what is right	A	DA
63.	I am often worried inside	А	DA
64.	I have a child who is sick a lot	Α·	ĎA
65.	Sometimes I do not like the way I act	А	DA
66.	I sometimes fail to keep all of my promises	А	DA
67.	People have caused me a lot of pain	А	DA
68	Children should stay clean	A	DA
30.	I have a child who gets into trouble a lot	A	DA
60	THE REPORT OF A DESIGN AND THE DESIGN AND THE PROPERTY AND A DESIGN		
69. 70	I never det med at offers	Α.	DΑ

71	Lalways get along with others	А	DA
72	Loften think about what I have to do	A	DA
73	I find it hard to relax	A	DA
74	These days a person doesn't really know on whom one can count	A	DA
75	My life is hanny	A	DA
76.	l have a physical handicap	A	DA
77.	Children should have play clothes and good clothes	A	DA
78.	Other people do not understand how I fee!	А	DA
79	A five year old who wets his bed is bad	A	DA
80.	Children should be quiet and listen	A	DA
00.			
81.	I have several close friends in my neighborhood	А	DA
82.	The school is primarily responsible for educating the child	A	DA
83.	My family fights a lot	A	DA
84	I have headaches	A	DA
85	As a child I was abused	.A	DA
00.			
86.	Spanking is the best punishment	А	DA
87.	I do not like to be touched by others	A	DA
88	People who ask for hein are weak	A	DA
89	Children should be washed before bed	A	DA
90	t do not laugh very much	A	DA
•••	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		DA
91.	I have several close friends	A	DA
92	People should take care of their own needs	A	DA
93	l have fears no one knows about	A	DA
94	My family has problems getting along	A	DA
95	Life often seems useless to me	A	DA
96.	A child should be potty trained by the time he's one year old	A	DA
97.	A child in a mud puddle is a happy sight	A	•DA
98.	People do not understand me	A	DA
99.	often feel worthless	A	DA
100.	Other people have made my life unhappy	А	DA
10 1 .	I am always a kind person	·А.	· DA
102.	Sometimes I do not know why I act as I do	A	DA
103.	I have many personal problems	А	ĎA
104.	I have a child who often hurts himself	Α	DA
105.	l often feel very upset	· A	DĄ
106.	People sometimes take advantage of me	Α	DA
107.	My life is good	Α	DA
108.	A home should be spotless	А	DA
109.	I am easily upset by my problems	A	DA
110.	I never listen to gossip	А	DA
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		
111.	My parents did not understand me	A	DA
112.	Many things in life make me angry	A	DA
113.	My child has special problems	А	DA
114.	I do not like most children	A	· DA
115.	Children should be seen and not heard	· A	DA
— ·			`

116.	Most children are alike	A	DA
117.	It is important for children to read	А	DA
118.	I am often depressed	А	DA
119.	Children should occasionally be thoughtful of their parents	А	DA
120.	l am often upset	А	DA
121.	People don't get along with me	А	DA
122.	A good child keeps his toys and clothes neat and orderly	А	DA
23.	Children should always make their parents happy	A	DA
24.	It is natural for a child to sometimes talk back	A	DA
25.	l'am never unfair to others	А	DA
126.	Occasionally, I enjoy not having to take care of my child	A	DA
127.	Children should always be neat	A	DA
128.	I have a child who is slow	A	DA
129.	A parent must use punishment if he wants to control a child's behavior	A	- DA
130.	Children should never cause trouble	Ă	DA
131.	t usually punish my child when it is crying	А	DA
132.	A child needs very strict rules	А	DÀ
133.	Children should never go against their parents' orders	A	DA
134.	I often feel better than others	A	DA
35.	Children sometimes get on my nerves	A	DA
136.	As a child I was often afraid	А	DA
137.	Children should always be quiet and polite	A	DA
38.	Lam often upset and do not know why	Δ.	DA
39.	My daily work upsets me	A	DA
40.	I sometimes fear that my children will not love me	A	DA
141.	I have a good sex life	A	DA
42.	I have read articles and books on child rearing	Α.	DA
43.	i often feel verv alone	A	D'A
44.	People should not show anger	A	DA
45.	I often feel alone	А	DA
146.	I sometimes say bad words	А	DA
147.	Right now, I am deeply in love	А	DA
148.	My family has many problems	Α	DA
149.	I never do anything that is bad for my health	А	DA
150.	t am always happy with what I have	А	DA
151.	Other people have made my life hard	А	DA
152.	I laugh some almost every day	A	DA
153.	I sometimes worry that my needs will not be met	А	DA
154.	l often feel afraid	А	DA
155.	I sometimes act silly	А	DA
156.	A person should keep his business to himself	А	DA
157.	I never raise my voice in anger	A	DA
158.	As a child I was knocked around by my parents	А	DA
	Loomotimon think of munalf before others	•	DA
159.	I Sometimes traits of mysell before others	~	

.

. <u>-</u>

APPENDIX L: IRB APPROVAL LETTER



University of Central Florida Institutional Review Board Office of Research & Commercialization 12201 Research Parkway, Suite 501 Orlando, Florida 32826-3246 Telephone: 407-823-2901 or 407-882-2276 www.research.ucf.edu/compliance/irb.html

Approval of Exempt Human Research

From: UCF Institutional Review Board #1 FWA00000351, IRB00001138

To: Kimberly D. Renk and Co-PI: Amanda Lowell

Date: May 09, 2014

Dear Researcher:

On 5/9/2014, the IRB approved the following minor modifications to human participant research that is exempt from regulation:

Type of Review:	Exempt Determination
Modification Type:	An additional recruitment method will be used: Individuals recruited through Amazon Mechanical Turk will receive a \$2.00
	Amazon credit compensation. An updated protocol has been uploaded in iRIS and a revised consent document has been
	approved for use. In addition, a preschool flyer has been uploaded along with a facility approval form.
Project Title:	A Closer Look at the Interactions Among Parent and Child
	Temperament, Stress and Coping, Emotional and Behavioral
	Regulation, and Parenting Behaviors
Investigator:	Kimberly D Renk
IRB Number:	SBE-13-09617
Funding Agency: Grant Title:	
Research ID:	N/A

This determination applies only to the activities described in the IRB submission and does not apply should any changes be made. If changes are made and there are questions about whether these changes affect the exempt status of the human research, please contact the IRB. When you have completed your research, please submit a Study Closure request in iRIS so that IRB records will be accurate.

In the conduct of this research, you are responsible to follow the requirements of the Investigator Manual.

On behalf of Sophia Dziegielewski, Ph.D., L.C.S.W., UCF IRB Chair, this letter is signed by:

Signature applied by Joanne Muratori on 05/09/2014 03:25:55 PM EDT

Joanne muratori

IRB Coordinator

Page 1 of 1

REFERENCES

- Abidin, R. R. (2012). Parenting Stress Index, Fourth Edition: Professional manual. Odessa, FL:Psychological Assessment Resources, Inc.
- Aldao, A., & Nolen-Hoeksema, S. (2010). Specificity of cognitive emotion regulation strategies:
 A transdiagnostic examination. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, 48(10), 974-983.
 doi:10.1016/j.brat.2010.06.002
- Aldao, A., Nolen-Hoeksema, S., & Schweizer, S. (2010). Emotion-regulation strategies across psychopathology: A meta-analytic review. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 30(2), 217-237. doi:10.1016/j.cpr.2009.11.004
- Aldao, A., & Nolen-Hoeksema, S. (2012). When are adaptive strategies most predictive of psychopathology? *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, *121*(1), 276-281. doi:10.1037/a0023598
- Ammerman, R. T. (1990). Etiological models of child maltreatment: A behavioral perspective. *Behavior Modification*, *14*(3), 230-254. doi:10.1177/01454455900143002
- Amstadter, A. B., & Vernon, L. L. (2008). A preliminary examination of thought suppression, emotion regulation, and coping in a trauma-exposed sample. *Journal of Aggression, Maltreatment and Trauma*, *17*(3), 279-295. doi:10.1080/10926770802403236
- Bariola, E., Gullone, E., & Hughes, E. K. (2011). Child and adolescent emotion regulation: The role of parental emotion regulation and expression. *Clinical Child and Family Psychology Review*, *14*(2), 198-212. doi:10.1007/s10567-011-0092-5
- Baron, R. M., & Kenny, D. A. (1986). The moderator–mediator variable distinction in social psychological research: Conceptual, strategic, and statistical considerations. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 51(6), 1173-1182. doi:10.1037/0022-3514.51.6.1173

- Barton, K., & Baglio, C. (1993). The nature of stress in child-abusing families: A factor analytic study. *Psychological Reports*, *73*(3, Pt 1), 1047-1055. doi:10.2466/pr0.1993.73.3.1047
- Begle, A., Dumas, J. E., & Hanson, R. F. (2010). Predicting child abuse potential: An empirical investigation of two theoretical frameworks. *Journal of Clinical Child and Adolescent Psychology*, 39(2), 208-219. doi:10.1080/15374410903532650
- Belsky, J. (1980). Child maltreatment: An ecological integration. *American Psychologist*, 35(4), 320-335. doi:10.1037/0003-066X.35.4.320
- Belsky, J. (1993). Etiology of child maltreatment: A developmental ecological analysis. *Psychological Bulletin*, *114*(3), 413-434. doi:10.1037/0033-2909.114.3.413
- Berger, L. M. (2004). Income, family structure, and child maltreatment risk. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 26(8), 725-748. doi:10.1016/j.childyouth.2004.02.017
- Berking, M., Orth, U., Wupperman, P., Meier, L. L., & Caspar, F. (2008). Prospective effects of emotion-regulation skills on emotional adjustment. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 55(4), 485-494. doi:10.1037/a0013589
- Berking, M., Wupperman, P., Reichardt, A., Pejic, T., Dippel, A., & Znoj, H. (2008). Emotionregulation skills as a treatment target in psychotherapy. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, 46(11), 1230-1237. doi:10.1016/j.brat.2008.08.005
- Berking, M., & Znoj, H. (2008). Entwicklung und Validierung eines Fragebogens zur standardisierten Selbsteinscha tzung emotionaler Kompetenzen [Development and validation of a self-report measure for the assessment of emotion-regulation skills]. *Zeitschrift fu r Psychiatrie, Psychologie und Psychotherapie, 56,* 141–152.

- Billman, J., & McDevitt, S. C. (1980). Convergence of parent and observer ratings of temperament with observations of peer interaction in nursery school. *Child Development*, 51, 395-400.
- Black, D. A., Heyman, R. E., & Slep, A. (2001). Risk factors for child physical abuse. Aggression and Violent Behavior, 6(2-3), 121-188. doi:10.1016/S1359-1789(00)00021-5
- Bornstein, B. H., Kaplan, D. L., & Perry, A. R. (2007). Child abuse in the eyes of the beholder:
 Lay perceptions of child sexual and physical abuse. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, *31*(4), 375-391. doi:10.1016/j.chiabu.2006.09.007
- Braungart, J. M., Plomin, R., DeFries, J. C., & Fulker, D. W. (1992). Genetic influence on testerrated infant temperament as assessed by Bayley's Infant Behavior Record: Nonadoptive and adoptive siblings and twins. *Developmental Psychology*, 28(1), 40-47. doi:10.1037/0012-1649.28.1.40
- Bridges, L. J., Denham, S. A., & Ganiban, J. M. (2004). Definitional issues in emotion regulation research. *Child Development*, 75(2), 340-345. doi:10.1111/j.1467-8624.2004.00675.x
- Bronfenbrenner, U. (1977). Toward an experimental ecology of human development. *American Psychologist*, *32*(7), 513-531. doi:10.1037/0003-066X.32.7.513
- Bronfenbrenner, U. (1979) *The ecology of human development*. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Bugental, D. B., Blue, J., & Cruzcosa, M. (1989). Perceived control over caregiving outcomes:
 Implications for child abuse. *Developmental Psychology*, 25(4), 532-539.
 doi:10.1037/0012-1649.25.4.532

- Bugental, D. B., & Cortez, V. L. (1988). Physiological reactivity to responsive and unresponsive children as moderated by perceived control. *Child Development*, 59(3), 686-693. doi:10.2307/1130568
- Butler, E. A., Egloff, B., Wlhelm, F. H., Smith, N. C., Erickson, E. A., & Gross, J. J. (2003). The social consequences of expressive suppression. *Emotion*, 3(1), 48-67. doi:10.1037/1528-3542.3.1.48
- Butler, E. A., & Gross, J. J. (2004). Hiding feelings in social contexts: Out of sight is not out of mind. In P. Philippot, R. S. Feldman, P. Philippot, R. S. Feldman (Eds.), *The regulation of emotion* (pp. 101-126). Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates Publishers.
- Cantón-Cortés, D., & Cantón, J. (2010). Coping with child sexual abuse among college students and post-traumatic stress disorder: The role of continuity of abuse and relationship with the perpetrator. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, *34*(7), 496-506.
 doi:10.1016/j.chiabu.2009.11.004
- Cantos, A. L., Neale, J. M., O'Leary, K., & Gaines, R. W. (1997). Assessment of coping strategies of child abusing mothers. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 21(7), 631-636. doi:10.1016/S0145-2134(97)00022-7
- Casanueva, C., Goldman-Fraser, J., Ringeisen, H., Lederman, C., Katz, L., & Osofsky, J. D.
 (2010). Maternal perceptions of temperament among infants and toddlers investigated for maltreatment: Implications for services need and referral. *Journal of Family Violence*, 25(6), 557-574. doi:10.1007/s10896-010-9316-6
- Chess, S., & Thomas, A. (1996). *Temperament: Theory and practice*. New York: Brunner/Mazel, Inc.

- Cicchetti, D., & Toth, S. L. (1995). A developmental psychopathology perspective on child abuse and neglect. *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 34(5), 541-565. doi:10.1097/00004583-199505000-00008
- Cicchetti, D., & Rizley, R. (1981). Developmental perspectives on the etiology, intergenerational transmission, and sequelae of child maltreatment. *New Directions for Child & Adolescent Development*, *1981*(11), 31. doi:10.1002/cd.23219811104
- Cohen, J. (1988). *Statistical power analysis for the behavioral sciences (2nd ed.)*. Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum.
- Cohen, J. (1992). A power primer. Psychological Bulletin, 112, 155-159.
- Coplan, R. J., Reichel, M., & Rowan, K. (2009). Exploring the associations between maternal personality, child temperament, and parenting: A focus on emotions. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 46(2), 241-246. doi:10.1016/j.paid.2008.10.011
- Costa, T. P., & McCrae, R. R. (1992). Normal personality assessment in clinical practice: The NEO Personality Inventory. *Psychological Assessment*, 4(1), 5-13. doi: 10.1037/1040-3590.4.1.5
- Cyphers, L. H., Phillips, K., Fulker, D. W., & Mrazek, D. A. (1990). Twin temperament during the transition from infancy to early childhood. *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 29(3), 392-397. doi:10.1097/00004583-199005000-00010
- Dukewich, T. L., Borkowski, J. G., & Whitman, T. L. (1996). Adolescent mothers and child abuse potential: An evaluation of risk factors. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 20(11), 1031-1047. doi:10.1016/0145-2134(96)00093-2

Field, A. (2009). *Discovering statistics using SPSS* (3rd ed.). London: Sage.

- Flett, G. L., Druckman, T., Hewitt, P. L., & Wekerle, C. (2012). Perfectionism, coping, social support, and depression in maltreated adolescents. *Journal of Rational-Emotive & Cognitive Behavior Therapy*, 30(2), 118-131. doi:10.1007/s10942-011-0132-6
- Folkman, S., & Lazarus, R. S. (1985). If it changes it must be a process: Study of emotion and coping during three stages of a college examination. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 48(1), 150-170. doi:10.1037/0022-3514.48.1.150
- Folkman, S., Lazarus, R. S., Dunkel-Schetter, C., DeLongis, A., & Gruen, R. J. (1986).
 Dynamics of a stressful encounter: Cognitive appraisal, coping, and encounter outcomes. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *50*(5), 992-1003.
 doi:10.1037/0022-3514.50.5.992
- Fontaine, D., & Nolin, P. (2012). Personality disorders in a sample of parents accused of physical abuse or neglect. *Journal of Family Violence*, 27(1), 23-31. doi:10.1007/s10896-011-9403-3
- Frodi, A. M., & Lamb, M. E. (1980). Infants at risk for child abuse. *Infant Mental Health Journal*, 1(4), 240-247. doi:10.1002/1097-0355(198024)1:4<240::AID-IMHJ2280010407>3.0.CO;2-H
- Gaines, R., Sandgrund, A., Green, A. H., & Power, E. (1978). Etiological factors in child maltreatment: A multivariate study of abusing, neglecting, and normal mothers. *Journal* of Abnormal Psychology, 87(5), 531-540. doi:10.1037/0021-843X.87.5.531
- Ganiban, J. M., Saudino, K. J., Ulbricht, J., Neiderhiser, J. M., & Reiss, D. (2008). Stability and change in temperament during adolescence. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 95(1), 222-236. doi:10.1037/0022-3514.95.1.222
- Geisler, F. M., & Schröder-Abé, M. (In Press). Is emotion suppression beneficial or harmful? It depends on self-regulatory strength. *Motivation and Emotion, Online First Articles*. doi:10.1007/s11031-014-9467-5
- Gelfand, D. M., Teti, D. M., & Fox, C. R. (1992). Sources of parenting stress for depressed and nondepressed mothers of infants. *Journal of Clinical Child Psychology*, 21(3), 262-272. doi:10.1207/s15374424jccp2103_8
- Goldsmith, H., Buss, K. A., & Lemery, K. S. (1997). Toddler and childhood temperament:
 Expanded content, stronger genetic evidence, new evidence for the importance of
 environment. *Developmental Psychology*, *33*(6), 891-905. doi:10.1037/00121649.33.6.891
- Goldsmith, H. H., Lemery, K. S., Buss, K. A., & Campos, J. J. (1999). Genetic analyses of focal aspects of infant temperament. *Developmental Psychology*, 35(4), 972-985.
 doi:10.1037/0012-1649.35.4.972
- Gratz, K. L., & Roemer, L. (2004). Multidimensional assessment of emotion regulation and dysregulation: Development, factor structure, and initial validation of the difficulties in emotion regulation scale. *Journal of Psychopathology and Behavioral Assessment*, 26(1), 41-54. doi:10.1023/B:JOBA.0000007455.08539.94
- Gross, J. J. (1998). The emerging field of emotion regulation: An integrative review. *Review of General Psychology*, 2(3), 271-299. doi:10.1037/1089-2680.2.3.271
- Gross, J. J., & John, O. P. (2003). Individual differences in two emotion regulation processes: Implications for affect, relationships, and well-being. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 85(2), 348-362. doi:10.1037/0022-3514.85.2.348

- Gross, J. J., Richards, J. M., & John, O. P. (2006). Emotion regulation in everyday life. In D. K.
 Snyder, J. Simpson, & J. N. Hughes (Eds.), *Emotion regulation in couples and families: Pathways to dysfunction and health* (pp. 13-35). Washington, DC: American
 Psychological Association. doi:10.1037/11468-001
- Gross, J. J., & Thompson, R. A. (2007). Emotion regulation: Conceptual foundations. In J. J. Gross (Ed.), *Handbook of emotion regulation* (pp. 3-24). New York: Guilford Press.
- Haga, S. M., Kraft, P., & Corby, E. (2009). Emotion regulation: Antecedents and well-being outcomes of cognitive reappraisal and expressive suppression in cross-cultural samples. *Journal of Happiness Studies*, *10*(3), 271-291. doi:10.1007/s10902-007-9080-3
- Hager, A. D., & Runtz, M. G. (2012). Physical and psychological maltreatment in childhood and later health problems in women: An exploratory investigation of the roles of perceived stress and coping strategies. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, *36*(5), 393-403. doi:10.1016/j.chiabu.2012.02.002
- Harrington, D., Black, M. M., Starr, R. R., & Dubowitz, H. (1998). Child neglect: Relation to child temperament and family context. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*, 68(1), 108-116. doi:10.1037/h0080275
- Harris, D. R., Bisbee, C. T., & Evans, S. H. (1971). Further comments: Misuse of analysis of covariance. *Psychological Bulletin*, 75(3), 220-222. doi:10.1037/h0030416
- Heszen, I. (2012). Temperament and coping activity under stress of changing intensity over time. *European Psychologist*, *17*(4), 326-336. doi:10.1027/1016-9040/a000121
- Holden, E., & Banez, G. A. (1996). Child abuse potential and parenting stress within maltreating families. *Journal of Family Violence*, *11*(1), 1-12. doi:10.1007/BF02333337

- Holden, E., Willis, D. J., & Foltz, L. (1989). Child abuse potential and parenting stress:
 Relationships in maltreating parents. *Psychological Assessment: A Journal of Consulting* and Clinical Psychology, 1(1), 64-67. doi:10.1037/1040-3590.1.1.64
- Jonson-Reid, M., Kohl, P. L., & Drake, B. (2012). Child and adult outcomes of chronic child maltreatment. *Pediatrics*, *129*(5), 839-845. doi:10.1542/peds.2011-2529
- Kagan, J., Snidman, N., Zentner, M., & Peterson, E. (1999). Infant temperament and anxious symptoms in school age children. *Development and Psychopathology*, *11*(2), 209-224. doi:10.1017/S0954579499002023
- Kandler, C., Held, L., Kroll, C., Bergeler, A., Riemann, R., & Angleitner, A. (2012). Genetic links between temperamental traits of the regulative theory of temperament and the Big Five: A multitrait-multimethod twin study. *Journal of Individual Differences*, *33*(4), 197-204. doi:10.1027/1614-0001/a000068
- Kanner, A. D., Coyne, J. C., Schaefer, C., & Lazarus, R. S. (1981). Comparison of two modes of stress measurement: Daily hassles and uplifts versus major life events. *Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, 4(1), 1-39. doi:10.1007/BF00844845
- Kelley, M. L., Lawrence, H. R., Milletich, R. J., Hollis, B. F., & Henson, J. M. (In Press).
 Modeling risk for child abuse and harsh parenting in families with depressed and substance-abusing parents. *Child Abuse & Neglect, Online First Articles*.
 doi:10.1016/j.chiabu.2015.01.017
- Kendall-Tackett, K., Lyon, T., Taliaferro, G., & Little, L. (2005). Why child maltreatment researchers should include children's disability status in their maltreatment studies. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 29(2), 147-151. doi:10.1016/j.chiabu.2004.09.002

- Kim, J., & Cicchetti, D. (2010). Longitudinal pathways linking child maltreatment, emotion regulation, peer relations, and psychopathology. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 51(6), 706-716. doi:10.1111/j.1469-7610.2009.02202.x
- Latzman, R. D., Elkovitch, N., & Clark, L. (2009). Predicting parenting practices from maternal and adolescent sons' personality. *Journal of Research in Personality*, 43(5), 847-855. doi:10.1016/j.jrp.2009.05.004
- Lazarus, R. S., & Folkman, S. (1984). *Stress, appraisal, and coping*. New York: Springer Publishing Company
- Lazarus, R. S., & Folkman, S. (1987). Transactional theory and research on emotions and coping. *European Journal of Personality*, 1(3, Spec Issue), 141-169. doi:10.1002/per.2410010304
- Lee, E. H., Zhou, Q., Eisenberg, N., & Wang, Y. (2013). Bidirectional relations between temperament and parenting styles in Chinese children. *International Journal of Behavioral Development*, 37(1), 57-67.
- Leen-Feldner, E. W., Zvolensky, M. J., Feldner, M. T., & Lejuez, C. W. (2004). Behavioral inhibition: Relation to negative emotion regulation and reactivity. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 36(6), 1235-1247. doi:10.1016/S0191-8869(02)00113-7
- Lopez, C. M., Begle, A., Dumas, J. E., & de Arellano, M. A. (2012). Parental child abuse potential and subsequent coping competence in disadvantaged preschool children:
 Moderating effects of sex and ethnicity. *Child Abuse & Neglect, 36*(3), 226-235. doi:10.1016/j.chiabu.2011.10.012

- MacKenzie, M. J., Kotch, J. B., & Lee, L. (2011). Toward a cumulative ecological risk model for the etiology of child maltreatment. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 33(9), 1638-1647. doi:10.1016/j.childyouth.2011.04.018
- MacKinnon, D. P., Cheong, J., & Pirlott, A. G. (2012). Statistical mediation analysis. In H.
 Cooper, P. M. Camic, D. L. Long, A. T. Panter, D. Rindskopf, K. J. Sher (Eds.), APA handbook of research methods in psychology, Vol 2: Research designs: Quantitative, qualitative, neuropsychological, and biological (pp. 313-331). Washington, DC:
 American Psychological Association. doi:10.1037/13620-018
- MacKinnon, D. P., Fairchild, A. J., & Fritz, M. S. (2007). Mediation analysis. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 58, 593-614. doi:10.1146/annurev.psych.58.110405.085542
- Maikovich, A., Jaffee, S. R., Odgers, C. L., & Gallop, R. (2008). Effects of family violence on psychopathology symptoms in children previously exposed to maltreatment. *Child Development*, 79(5), 1498-1512. doi:10.1111/j.1467-8624.2008.01201.x
- Mäntymaa, M., Puura, K., Luoma, I., Salmelin, R. K., & Tamminen, T. (2006). Mother's early perception of her infant's difficult temperament, parenting stress and early mother-infant interaction. *Nordic Journal of Psychiatry*, 60(5), 379-386. doi:10.1080/08039480600937280
- Marmor, J. (1983). Systems thinking in psychiatry: Some theoretical and clinical applications. *The American Journal of Psychiatry*, *140*(7), 833-838.
- Mash, E. J., Johnston, C., & Kovitz, K. (1983). A comparison of the mother–child interactions of physically abused and non-abused children during play and task situations. *Journal of Clinical Child Psychology*, 12(3), 337-346. doi:10.1080/15374418309533154

- Merikangas, K. R., Swendsen, J. D., Preisig, M. A., & Chazan, R. Z. (1998). Psychopathology and temperament in parents and offspring: Results of a family study. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 51(1), 63-74. doi:10.1016/S0165-0327(98)00157-8
- Merrill, L. L., Thomsen, C. J., Sinclair, B. B., Gold, S. R., & Milner, J. S. (2001). Predicting the impact of child sexual abuse on women: The role of abuse severity, parental support, and coping strategies. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 69(6), 992-1006. doi:10.1037/0022-006X.69.6.992
- Middleton, M., & Renk, K. (2012). *Match between parent and child temperament: Implications* for parenting behaviors and young children's behavior problems. Manuscript in preparation.
- Milner, J. (1986). The Child Abuse Potential Inventory: Manual (2nd ed.). Webster, NC: Psytec.
- Milner, J. S. (1988). An ego-strength scale for the Child Abuse Potential Inventory. *Journal of Family Violence*, *3*(2), 151-162. doi:10.1007/BF00994032
- Milner, J. (1990). *An interpretive manual for the Child Abuse Potential Inventory*. Webster, NC: Psytec.
- Milner, J. S. (1994). Assessing physical child abuse risk: The Child Abuse Potential Inventory. *Clinical Psychology Review*, *14*(6), 547-583. doi:10.1016/0272-7358(94)90017-5
- Mullen, P. E., Martin, J. L., Anderson, J. C., Romans, S. E., & Herbison, G. P. (1996). The longterm impact of the physical, emotional, and sexual abuse of children: A community study. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 20(1), 7-21. doi:10.1016/0145-2134(95)00112-3
- Myers, R. (1990). *Classical and modern regression with applications* (2nd ed.). Boston, MA: Duxbury.

- O'Leary, P. J. (2009). Men who were sexually abused in childhood: Coping strategies and comparisons in psychological functioning. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, *33*(7), 471-479. doi:10.1016/j.chiabu.2009.02.004
- Oniszcenko, W., Zawadzki, B., Strelau, J., Riemann, R., Angleitner, A., & Spinath, F. M. (2003).
 Genetic and environmental determinants of temperament: A comparative study based on
 Polish and German samples. *European Journal of Personality*, *17*(3), 207-220.
 doi:10.1002/per.472
- Ostberg, M., & Hagekull, B. (2000). A structural modeling approach to the understanding of parenting stress. *Journal of Clinical Child Psychology*, *29*(4), 615-625. doi:10.1207/S15374424JCCP2904_13
- Palacio-Quitin, E. (2005). Risk factors of child neglect and physical abuse. In H. Grietens, W.
 Lahaye, W. Hellinckx, & L. Vandemeulebroecke (Eds.), *In the best interests of children and youth: International perspectives* (pp. 77-94). Leuven: Leuven University Press.
- Parke, R. D., & Collmer, C. W. (1975). Child abuse: An interdisciplinary analysis. In E. M.
 Hetherington, E. M. Hetherington (Eds.), *Review of child development research*. Oxford,
 England: U Chicago Press.
- Perepletchikova, F., Ansell, E., & Axelrod, S. (2012). Borderline personality disorder features and history of childhood maltreatment in mothers involved with child protective services. *Child Maltreatment*, *17*(2), 182-190. doi:10.1177/1077559512448471
- Robboy, J., & Anderson, K. G. (2011). Intergenerational child abuse and coping. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, *26*(17), 3526-3541. doi:10.1177/0886260511403758
- Robinson, L. R., Morris, A., Heller, S., Scheeringa, M. S., Boris, N. W., & Smyke, A. T. (2009). Relations between emotion regulation, parenting, and psychopathology in young

maltreated children in out of home care. *Journal of Child and Family Studies*, *18*(4), 421-434. doi:10.1007/s10826-008-9246-6

- Rodriguez, C. M. (2009). Coping style as a mediator between pregnancy desire and child abuse potential: A brief report. *Journal of Reproductive and Infant Psychology*, 27(1), 61-69. doi:10.1080/02646830802004917
- Rodriguez, C. M. (2010). Personal contextual characteristics and cognitions: Predicting child abuse potential and disciplinary style. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 25(2), 315-335. doi:10.1177/0886260509334391
- Rodriguez, C. M., & Green, A. J. (1997). Parenting stress and anger expression as predictors of child abuse potential. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 21, 367-377.
- Rosenberg, M. S., & Reppucci, N. (1983). Abusive mothers: Perceptions of their own and their children's behavior. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, *51*(5), 674-682. doi:10.1037/0022-006X.51.5.674
- Roth, S., & Cohen, L. J. (1986). Approach, avoidance, and coping with stress. *American Psychologist*, *41*(7), 813-819. doi:10.1037/0003-066X.41.7.813
- Rothbart, M. (1989). Temperament and development. In G. A. Kohnstamm, J. E. Bates, M. Rothbart, G. A. Kohnstamm, J. E. Bates, & M. Rothbart (Eds.), *Temperament in childhood* (pp. 187-247). Oxford England: John Wiley & Sons.
- Rothbart, M. K. (2007). Temperament, development, and personality. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, *16*(4), 207-212. doi:10.1111/j.1467-8721.2007.00505.x
- Rothbart, M. K., Posner, M. I., & Hershey, K. L. (1995). Temperament, attention, and developmental psychopathology. In D. Cicchetti & D. J. Cohen (Eds.), *Developmental*

psychopathology, Vol. 1: Theory and methods (pp. 315-340). Oxford England: John Wiley & Sons.

- Rothbart, M. K., & Sheese, B. E. (2007). Temperament and emotion regulation. In J. J. Gross(Ed.), *Handbook of emotion regulation* (pp. 331-350). New York: Guilford Press.
- Rothbart, M. K., Sheese, B. E., & Posner, M. I. (2014). Temperament and emotion regulation. InJ. J. Gross, J. J. Gross (Eds.), *Handbook of emotion regulation (2nd ed.)* (pp. 305-320).New York, NY: Guilford Press.
- Runtz, M. G., & Schallow, J. R. (1997). Social support and coping strategies as mediators of adult adjustment following childhood maltreatment. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 21(2), 211-226. doi:10.1016/S0145-2134(96)00147-0
- Rutter, M., Birch, H. G., Thomas, A., & Chess, S. (1964). Temperamental characteristics in infancy and the later development of behavioural disorders. *The British Journal of Psychiatry*, *110*(468), 651-661. doi:10.1192/bjp.110.468.651
- Saarni, C. (2006). Emotion regulation and personality development in childhood. In D. K.
 Mroczek & T. D. Little (Eds.), *Handbook of personality development* (pp. 245-262).
 Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates Publishers.
- Sameroff, A. J., & Fiese, B. H. (2000). Models of development and developmental risk. In C. R. Zeanah (Ed.), *Handbook of infant mental health (2nd ed.*; pp. 3-19). New York: Guilford Press.
- Saudino, K. J., McGuire, S., Reiss, D., Hetherington, E., & Plomin, R. (1995). Parent ratings of EAS temperaments in twins, full siblings, half siblings, and step siblings. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 68(4), 723-733. doi:10.1037/0022-3514.68.4.723

- Soto, J. A., Perez, C. R., Kim, Y., Lee, E. A., & Minnick, M. R. (2011). Is expressive suppression always associated with poorer psychological functioning? A cross-cultural comparison between European Americans and Hong Kong Chinese. *Emotion*, 11(6), 1450-1455. doi:10.1037/a0023340
- Spinetta, J. J. (1978). Parental personality factors in child abuse. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, *46*(6), 1409-1414. doi:10.1037/0022-006X.46.6.1409
- Springer, K. W., Sheridan, J., Kuo, D., & Carnes, M. (2007). Long-term physical and mental health consequences of childhood physical abuse: Results from a large population-based sample of men and women. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, *31*(5), 517-530. doi:10.1016/j.chiabu.2007.01.003
- Starling, S. P., Sirotnak, A. P., Heisler, K. W., & Barnes-Eley, M. L. (2007). Inflicted skeletal trauma: The relationship of perpetrators to their victims. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 31(9), 993-999. doi:10.1016/j.chiabu.2007.02.010
- Stith, S. M., Liu, T., Davies, L., Boykin, E. L., Alder, M. C., Harris, J. M., Som, A., McPherson, M., & Dees, J. G. (2009). Risk factors in child maltreatment: A meta-analytic review of the literature. *Aggression and Violent Behavior*, *14*(1), 13-29. doi:10.1016/j.avb.2006.03.006
- Straus, M. A., Hamby, S. L., Finkelhor, D., Moore, D. W., & Runyan, D. (1998). Identification of child maltreatment with the Parent-Child Conflict Tactics Scales: Development and psychometric data for a national sample of American parents. *Child Abuse & Neglect, 22,* 249-270.
- Strelau, J. (1983). A regulative theory of temperament. *Australian Journal of Psychology*, *35*(3), 305-317. doi:10.1080/00049538308258746

- Strelau, J. (2008). *Temperament as a regulator of behavior: After fifty years of research*. Clinton Corners, NY: Eliot Werner Publications, Inc.
- Sullivan, P. M., & Knutson, J. F. (2000). Maltreatment and disabilities: A population-based epidemiological study. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 24(10), 1257-1273. doi:10.1016/S0145-2134(00)00190-3
- Thomas, A., & Chess, S. (1977). *Temperament and development*. New York, NY: Brunner/Mazel, Inc.
- Thomas, A., & Chess, S. (1989). Temperament and personality. In G. A. Kohnstamm, J. E.
 Bates, M. Rothbart, G. A. Kohnstamm, J. E. Bates, & M. Rothbart (Eds.), *Temperament in childhood* (pp. 249-261). Oxford England: John Wiley & Sons.
- Thomas, A., Chess, S., & Birch, H. (1968). *Temperament and behavior disorders in children*. New York, NY: New York University Press.
- Thomas, A., Chess, S., Birch, H., & Hertzig, M. E. (1960). A longitudinal study of primary reaction patterns in children. *Comprehensive Psychiatry*, 1, 103-112. doi:10.1016/S0010-440X(60)80014-4
- Thompson, R. A. (1994). Emotion regulation: A theme in search of definition. *Monographs of the Society for Research in Child Development*, 59(2-3), 25-52, 250-283. doi:10.2307/1166137
- Thompson, R. A., Lewis, M. D., & Calkins, S. D. (2008). Reassessing emotion regulation. *Child Development Perspectives*, 2(3), 124-131. doi:10.1111/j.1750-8606.2008.00054.x
- Turner, H. A., Vanderminden, J., Finkelhor, D., Hamby, S., & Shattuck, A. (2011). Disability and victimization in a national sample of children and youth. *Child Maltreatment*, 16(4), 275-286. doi:10.1177/1077559511427178

- Ullman, S. E. (2007). Relationship to perpetrator, disclosure, social reactions, and PTSD symptoms in child sexual abuse survivors. *Journal of Child Sexual Abuse: Research, Treatment, & Program Innovations For Victims, Survivors, & Offenders, 16*(1), 19-36. doi:10.1300/J070v16n01_02
- U. S. Department of Health and Human Services, Administration on Children, Youth and Families, Children's Bureau. (1997). *Child maltreatment 1997*. Washington, DC: US Government Printing Office. Retrieved July 2012 from http://www.acf.hhs.gov/programs/cb/stats_research/index.htm#can
- U. S. Department of Health and Human Services, Administration on Children, Youth and Families, Children's Bureau. (1998). *Child maltreatment 1998*. Washington, DC: US Government Printing Office. Retrieved July 2012 from http://www.acf.hhs.gov/programs/cb/stats_research/index.htm#can
- U. S. Department of Health and Human Services, Administration on Children, Youth and Families, Children's Bureau. (1999). *Child maltreatment 1999*. Washington, DC: US Government Printing Office. Retrieved July 2012 from http://www.acf.hhs.gov/programs/cb/stats_research/index.htm#can
- U. S. Department of Health and Human Services, Administration on Children, Youth and Families, Children's Bureau. (2000). *Child maltreatment 2000*. Washington, DC: US Government Printing Office. Retrieved July 2012 from http://www.acf.hhs.gov/programs/cb/stats_research/index.htm#can
- U. S. Department of Health and Human Services, Administration on Children, Youth and Families, Children's Bureau. (2001). *Child maltreatment 2001*. Washington, DC: US

Government Printing Office. Retrieved July 2012 from http://www.acf.hhs.gov/programs/cb/stats_research/index.htm#can

- U. S. Department of Health and Human Services, Administration on Children, Youth and Families, Children's Bureau. (2002). *Child maltreatment 2002*. Washington, DC: US Government Printing Office. Retrieved July 2012 from http://www.acf.hhs.gov/programs/cb/stats_research/index.htm#can
- U. S. Department of Health and Human Services, Administration on Children, Youth and Families, Children's Bureau. (2003). *Child maltreatment 2003*. Washington, DC: US Government Printing Office. Retrieved July 2012 from http://www.acf.hhs.gov/programs/cb/stats_research/index.htm#can
- U. S. Department of Health and Human Services, Administration on Children, Youth and Families, Children's Bureau. (2004). *Child maltreatment 2004*. Washington, DC: US Government Printing Office. Retrieved July 2012 from http://www.acf.hhs.gov/programs/cb/stats_research/index.htm#can
- U. S. Department of Health and Human Services, Administration on Children, Youth and Families, Children's Bureau. (2005). *Child maltreatment 2005*. Washington, DC: US Government Printing Office. Retrieved July 2012 from http://www.acf.hhs.gov/programs/cb/stats_research/index.htm#can
- U. S. Department of Health and Human Services, Administration on Children, Youth and Families, Children's Bureau. (2006). *Child maltreatment 2006*. Washington, DC: US Government Printing Office. Retrieved July 2012 from http://www.acf.hhs.gov/programs/cb/stats_research/index.htm#can

- U. S. Department of Health and Human Services, Administration on Children, Youth and Families, Children's Bureau. (2007). *Child maltreatment 2007*. Washington, DC: US Government Printing Office. Retrieved July 2012 from http://www.acf.hhs.gov/programs/cb/stats_research/index.htm#can
- U. S. Department of Health and Human Services, Administration on Children, Youth and Families, Children's Bureau. (2008). *Child maltreatment 2008*. Washington, DC: US Government Printing Office. Retrieved July 2012 from http://www.acf.hhs.gov/programs/cb/stats_research/index.htm#can
- U. S. Department of Health and Human Services, Administration on Children, Youth and Families, Children's Bureau. (2009). *Child maltreatment 2009*. Washington, DC: US Government Printing Office. Retrieved July 2012 from http://www.acf.hhs.gov/programs/cb/stats_research/index.htm#can
- U. S. Department of Health and Human Services, Administration on Children, Youth and Families, Children's Bureau. (2011). *Child maltreatment 2010*. Washington, DC: US Government Printing Office. Retrieved July 2012 from http://www.acf.hhs.gov/programs/cb/stats_research/index.htm#can
- Whipple, E. E., & Webster-Stratton, C. (1991). The role of parental stress in physically abusive families. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, *15*(3), 279-291. doi:10.1016/0145-2134(91)90072-L
- Windle, M., & Lerner, R. M. (1986). Reassessing the dimensions of temperamental individuality across the life span: The revised dimensions of temperament survey (DOTS-R). *Journal of Adolescent Research*, *1*(2), 213–230.

- Wolfe, D. A., & Mosk, M. D. (1983). Behavioral comparisons of children from abusive and distressed families. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, *51*(5), 702-708. doi:10.1037/0022-006X.51.5.702
- Zawadzki, B., Strelau, J., Oniszcenko, W., Riemann, R., & Angleitner, A. (2001). Genetic and environmental influences on temperament: The Polish-German twin study, based on selfreport and peer-rating. *European Psychologist*, 6(4), 272-286. doi:10.1027//1016-9040.6.4.272